Isometric Muscle Function with Specific Respect to Oxygen Supply and Adaptive Force

Cumulative Dissertation

submitted to the Faculty of Human Sciences, University of Potsdam

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Dr. phil.)

presented by Silas Dech

> Potsdam 2022

Unless otherwise indicated, this work is licensed under a Creative Commons License Attribution 4.0 International.

This does not apply to quoted content and works based on other permissions. To view a copy of this licence visit:

https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0

Reviewers: 1. Prof. Dr. Frank Bittmann 2. Prof. Dr. Hans-Gerd Löhmannsröben

Date of disputation: December 8, 2022

Published online on the Publication Server of the University of Potsdam: https://doi.org/10.25932/publishup-57126 https://nbn-resolving.org/urn:nbn:de:kobv:517-opus4-571265 Thank you, my supervisors, colleagues, participants, family, friends and love for your important support!

Table of Contents

Page

Abstract				
Abbreviations				
Preface9				
1 Introduction10				
1.1 Isometric Muscle Action – Muscle Mechanics and Neuromuscular Control10				
1.2 Metabolism and Blood Flow of Isometric Muscle Actions				
1.3 Two Main Modalities of Isometric Muscle Action15				
2 Overview of the Research Program				
3 Part I: Oxygen and Blood Supply during Isometric Muscle Actions				
3.1 Behavior of Oxygen Saturation and Blood Filling in the Venous Capillary System				
of the Biceps Brachii Muscle during a Fatiguing Isometric Action.				
3.2 Muscle Oxygenation Level Might Trigger the Regulation of Capillary-venous				
Blood Filling during Fatiguing Isometric Muscle Actions				
3.3 Muscle Oxygenation and Time to Task Failure of Submaximal Holding and Pul-				
ling Isometric Muscle Actions and Influence of Intermittent Voluntary Muscle Twitches				
4 Part II: Adaptive Force – a Measure of a Neuromuscular Function				
4.1 Publication 4: Assessment of the Adaptive Force of Elbow Extensors in Healthy				
Subjects Quantified by a Novel Pneumatically Driven Measurement System with				
Considerations of Its Quality Criteria				
4.2 Assessment of the Adaptive Force by Use of a Manual Muscle Test				
5 Overall Discussion				
5.1 Recent Insights of Muscle Oxygenation under Isometry				
5.2 Fatigue Resistance of different Isometric Muscle Actions				
5.3 Isometric Voluntary Contraction vs. Isometric Adaptive Force				
5.4 Outlook – Clinical Assessment of the Isometric Adaptive Force				

	5.5	5 Limitations	11
6		Proposals for further Research	42
7		References	14
8		Scientific Publications	54
	8.1 Ca	Publication 1: Behavior of Oxygen Saturation and Blood Filling in the Venous	54
	8.2 Iar	2 Publication 2: Muscle Oxygenation Level Might Trigger the Regulation of Capil- y-venous Blood Filling during Fatiguing Isometric Muscle Actions	64
	8.3 Ho Mu	B Publication 3: Muscle Oxygenation and Time to Task Failure of Submaximal Adding and Pulling Isometric Muscle Actions and Influence of Intermittent Voluntary	36
	8.4 Su	Publication 4: Assessment of the Adaptive Force of Elbow Extensors in Healthy bjects Quantified by a Novel Pneumatically Driven Measurement System with	
	Co	onsiderations of Its Quality Criteria	98
A	ckn	owledgements12	26
S	tatu	Itory Declaration	27

Abstract

The cumulative dissertation consists of four original articles. These considered isometric muscle actions in healthy humans from a basic physiological view (oxygen and blood supply) as well as possibilities of their distinction. It includes a novel approach to measure a specific form of isometric holding function which has not been considered in motor science so far. This function is characterized by an adaptation to varying external forces with particular importance in daily activities and sports.

The first part of the research program analyzed how the biceps brachii muscle is supplied with oxygen and blood by adapting to a moderate constant load until task failure (publication 1). In this regard, regulative mechanisms were investigated in relation to the issue of presumably compressed capillaries due to high intramuscular pressures (publication 2).

Furthermore, it was examined if oxygenation and time to task failure (TTF) differs compared to another isometric muscle function (publication 3). This function is mainly of diagnostic interest by measuring the maximal voluntary isometric contraction (MVIC) as a gold standard. For that, a person pulls on or pushes against an insurmountable resistance. However, the underlying pulling or pushing form of isometric muscle action (PIMA) differs compared to the holding one (HIMA).

HIMAs have mainly been examined by using constant loads. In order to quantify the adaptability to varying external forces, a new approach was necessary and considered in the second part of the research program. A device was constructed based on a previously developed pneumatic measurement system. The device should have been able to measure the Adaptive Force (AF) of elbow extensor muscles. The AF determines the adaptability to increasing external forces under isometric (AFiso) and eccentric (AFecc) conditions. At first, it was questioned if these parameters can be reliably assessed by use of the new device (publication 4). Subsequently, the main research question was investigated: Is the maximal AFiso a specific and independent variable of muscle function in comparison to the MVIC? Furthermore, both research parts contained a sub-question of how results can be influenced.

Parameters of local oxygen saturation (SvO₂) and capillary blood filling (rHb) were non-invasively recorded by a spectrophotometer during maximal and submaximal HIMAs and PIMAs.

These were the main findings: Under load, SvO_2 and rHb always adjusted into a steady state after an initial decrease. Nevertheless, their behavior could roughly be categorized into two types. In type I, both parameters behaved nearly parallel to each other. In contrast, their progression over time was partly inverse in type II. The inverse behavior probably depends on the level of deoxygenation since rHb increased reliably at a suggested threshold of about 59% SvO₂. This triggered mechanism and the found homeostatic steady states seem to be in conflict with the concept of mechanically compressed capillaries and consequently with a restricted blood flow. Anatomical configuration of blood vessels might provide one hypothetical explanation of how blood flow might be maintained. HIMA and PIMA did not differ regarding oxygenation and allocation to the described types. The TTF tended to be longer during PIMA.

As a sub-question, oxygenation and TTF were compared between (HIMA) and intermittent voluntary muscle twitches during a weight holding task. TTF but not oxygenation differed significantly (Twitch > HIMA). A changed neuromuscular control might serve as a speculative explanation of how the results can be explained. This is supported by the finding that the TTF did not correlate significantly with the extent of deoxygenation irrespective of the performed task (HIMA, PIMA or Twitch).

Other neuromuscular aspects of muscle function were considered in second part of the research program. The new device mentioned above detected different force capacities within four trials at two days each. Among AF measurements, the functional counterpart of a concentric muscle action merging into an isometric one was analyzed in comparison to the MVIC.

Based on the results, it can be assumed that a prior concentric muscle action does not influence the MVIC. However, the results were inconsistent and possibly influenced by systematic errors. In contrast, maximal variables of the AF (AFiso_{max} and AFecc_{max}) could be measured in a reliable way which is indicated by a high test-retest reliability. Despite substantial correlations between force variables, the AFiso_{max} differed significantly from MVIC and AF_{max}, which was identical with AFecc_{max} in almost all cases. Moreover, AFiso_{max} revealed the highest variability between trials.

These results indicate that maximal force capacities should be assessed separately. The adaptive holding capacity of a muscle can be lower compared to a commonly determined MVIC. This is of relevance since muscles frequently need to respond adequately to external forces. If their response does not correspond to the external impact, the muscle is forced to lengthen. In this scenario, joints are not completely stabilized and an injury may occur. This outlined issue should be addressed in future research in the field of sport and health sciences.

At last, the dissertation presents another possibility to quantify the AFiso_{max} by use of a hand-held device applied in combination with a manual muscle test. This assessment delivers a more practical way for clinical purposes.

Abbreviations

AF	Adaptive Force
AFecc _{max}	maximal eccentric AF
AFiso _{max}	maximal isometric AF
AF _{max}	maximal AF
ATP	Adenosine Triphosphate
CV	Coefficient of Variation
EF	External Force
EMG	Electromyography
ICC	Intraclass Correlation Coefficient
IF	Internal Force
IMA	Isometric Muscle Action
HIMA	Holding Isometric Muscle Action
Μ	Mean
Max	Maximum
MMG	Mechanomyography
MTG	Mechanotendinography
MVIC	Maximal Voluntary Isometric Contraction
MVICpri-con	MVIC with a prior concentric contraction
PIMA	Pulling / Pushing Isomeric Muscle Action
pre-MVIC	MVIC at the beginning of measurement series
post-MVIC	MVIC at the end of measurement series
rHb	relative Hemoglobin amount
SD	Standard Deviation
SEM	Standard Error of Measurements (random error)
SvO ₂	local capillary-venous Oxygen Saturation
t ₁	measuring session at day 1
t ₂	measuring session at day 2
TTF	Time to task failure

Preface

According to the requirements of the Faculty of Human Sciences of the University of Potsdam, this cumulative dissertation contains a synopsis of the research program behind the presented joint publications. The research was conducted at the Division of Regulative Physiology and Prevention at the Department of Sport and Health Science of the University of Potsdam. The scientific articles are presented exactly as they have been published. The key points of every publication and an overall discussion is offered.

Some of the ideas and data presented here do not fit to conventional theories in the respective field. Based on studies with small sample sizes, truth claims are – of course – not demanded. However, the ideas are put up for discussion. In this regard, the words of my supervisor, Frank Bittmann, "we will accept what we have found" (translated freely by the author) can be complemented by a statement of Claude Bernard (1927), translated by Henry Copley Greene (1949), pp 40 – 41) [1]):

"...when we have put forward an idea or a theory in science, our object must not be to preserve it by seeking everything that may support it and setting aside everything that may weaken it. On the contrary, we ought to examine with the greatest care the facts which apparently would overthrow it, because real progress always consists in exchanging an old theory which includes fewer facts for a new one which includes more. Our ideas are only intellectual instruments which we use to break into phenomena; we must change them when they have served their purpose, as we change a blunt lancet that we have used long enough."

1 Introduction

Thinking about function of skeletal muscles, associations like "allowing movements" or "giving stability" might come into mind. Further reflections could point on the provision of heat, storage of energy or transportation of blood towards the heart (muscle pump). This little brainstorm shows that muscle functions are versatile. All in common, they have to work physiologically. Muscular work can be static or dynamic as a consequence of the relation between internal and external forces [2].

The internal force (IF) is a result of a person's neuromuscular system developing strength in interaction with an object (or another individual). The external force (EF) acts against the person. It can be gravity, inertia but also frictional resistance or generated force of another person. If one force overcomes the other during interaction, a dynamic movement occurs. The muscle shortens if the IF exceeds the EF and lengthens vice versa (IF < EF). A muscle action while shortening is also termed as concentric action and while lengthening as eccentric action, even if these terms do not fit perfectly (see [3]).

Balanced internal and external forces result into static muscular work. The type of muscle action is isometric whereby the overall muscle length does not change irrespective of the generated tension. Muscle actions can also be composed as during the known stretch-shortening cycle (eccentric – concentric) or a measurement of the Adaptive Force (isometric – eccentric) [4]. Another combination could be a concentric contraction running into an isometric one. This composed muscle action was also considered marginally in the research program. However, the isometric muscle action (IMA) is on main focus. Some background of what is known and unknown of this type of muscle action is given in the following.

1.1 Isometric Muscle Action – Muscle Mechanics and Neuromuscular Control

Despite research over more than a century, the IMA is linked to several unsolved mysteries. For instance, it is still unclear what exactly happens within the sarcomere during force generation [5] and how the specific motor process is controlled by the nervous system [6]. Regarding the former, sliding of filaments [7–9] explained by the famous, later called cross-bridge theory of muscle contraction [10–12] does not fit perfectly for IMA (and especially not for eccentrics [13]).

Repeated working strokes during cross-bridge leading to a continuous sliding of filaments and consequently global muscle shortening cannot serve as an explanation of maintained (submaximal) IMA. Sustained cross-bridges between actin and myosin filaments as seen during rigor mortis is traced to a lack of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) regeneration [5]. This universal energy carrier is necessary to detach an actomyosin connection and is also hydrolyzed to adenosine diphosphate and inorganic phosphate during an IMA [14]. Although energy cost is lower during maintaining a force compared to attaining it [15], ATP hydrolyzation would – in theory – lead to another cross-bridge cycle which might be incompatible with isometrically working muscles. Even maximally stimulated fixed-end myofibril bundles of rats and frogs have shown a plateau in length after an initial shortening [16]. In contrast, newer research presume that filament sliding is not necessarily associated with sarcomere shortening, i.e., global isometrics does not mean local isometrics [17–19]. Thus, compliant (elastic) elements of a sarcomere might lengthen while filaments slide under isometric conditions [16,19–23].

In this regard theory of functional unit half-sarcomere could also be of relevance [24]. It assumes that half-sarcomere lengths behave non-uniformly during activation and, therefore, each half sarcomere forms the smallest functional unit. This is supported, e.g., by in vitro video microscopy data of fixed-ends myofibrils of rabbits and guinea pigs activated by physiological calcium solution [24]. It was shown that after an initial shortening of all half-sarcomeres with different velocities during force rise, some shortened further on, others stood isometrically and again others lengthened during the force plateau. However, the half-sarcomeres shortened on average during whole activation time.

Other in vitro experiments found non-uniform but stable (half-)sarcomere lengths after an initial shortening under isometric conditions in myofibrils activated by physiological solutions [25–27]. The observations of initial (half-)sarcomere shortening during IMA might simply be compensated by lengthening of passive components like titin (sarcomeric stabilization) [20]. Moreover, it must be noticed that elasticity of fixations as well as dead (half-)sarcomeres which are unable to contract after dissection contribute to the overall shortening in such passively activated myofibrils [20,25,28,29]. This draws attention to the impeded transferability of in vitro studies to real life conditions [3,28]. However, a minimal invasive in vivo study also supports the complex and possible non-uniform length of (half-)sarcomeres by presenting length variations up to ~20% at a given overall muscle length [30].

Regardless of the inhomogeneity of (half-)sarcomeres, connected in series, each one must transmit the same force [29]. Until now, it is still unknown how the working stroke (swinging lever arm hypothesis) during the cross-bridge cycle is related to force generation [16]. A lever arm swing might be incompatible with sustained isometrically working muscles. Possibly, force generation is a different step in the cross-bridge cycle and separated from the lever arm swing [19]. The swing might only reduce strain in the compliant element of the myosin head after pre-tension [19]. Based on Huxley and Simmons (1971) [11], a speculative idea how (isometric) force is generated was proposed recently [31]. In simple terms, release of adenosine diphosphate and inorganic phosphate in activated weakly bound cross-bridges cause a working stroke and filament sliding. At the end of the stroke, force equals zero. If filaments are hindered to slide, e.g., by a high EF, the myosin head will remain in bent position (no working stroke). However, a compliant cross-bridge spring element is stretched causing the myosin lever arm to exert isometric force on actin. A schematic diagram can be found

in [31]. That idea needs to be tested in future and especially analyzed how many of the myosin heads are connected to actin in the respective state (weakly or strongly bound) as well as for how long [5].

It is also questionable how this approach can be brought together with the fact that muscles oscillate mechanically during isometric actions around 10 Hz to 15 Hz [32–38]. This underpins the idea that pure isometric conditions cannot exist at least on microscopic level. Oscillations have to be preceded by a coordinated activation of muscle fibers. In contrast, independent actions of single fibers would not result in an oscillation. It is currently unknown how myosin heads are coordinated within a single fiber [19]. What we know is that a release of calcium ions is triggered by nerve signals (action potentials) leading to further processes which are needed for binding of myosin to actin [5]. A simultaneous depolarization leads to an activation of the whole fiber [5]. During muscle actions, numerous muscle fibers innervated by several motor neurons working together. It is still unclear how this coordinated process really works.

Technical properties only allow electromyographic discharges of single motor units or fibers via intramuscular needle / wire electrode or collective signals of the whole muscle or muscle groups via surface electrodes [39,40], whereby conclusions on motor drive or motor unit recruitment are difficult to draw by interpreting surface EMG [41]. During recruitment, the motor units possibly attain the discharge frequency of previously active ones [40], inducing a kind of centrally driven synchronization [42,43]. It has already been questioned if neural control of muscle actions are independent of the type of voluntary contraction (concentric, isometric or eccentric) [44]. In this case, only the amount of muscle activation (IF) in relation to the load (EF) would result in the specific contraction type [44]. However, it was proposed that at least eccentric muscle actions are differently controlled compared to concentric and isometric ones (for review see [44–46]).

Although the recruitment order (size principle) of motor units seem to be similar between contraction types, the recruitment threshold was found to be higher for isometric compared to concentric or eccentric muscle actions with slow contraction velocities¹ [48,49]. Tax and colleagues (1987) even found dissimilar recruitment thresholds for different (quasi-) isometric tasks with very slow force rises (quasi isometric position task < isometric force task) [48]. Thus, IMAs might have different inputs received by motor neurons [45] and control strategies [34] in respect of the performed motor task. The possible distinction of IMAs will be addressed more in detail in chapter 1.3. Moreover, the recruitment strategies might be different even during activities of multifunctional muscles and, therefore, might be task specific [40]. This highlights important influencing factors of muscle control which are made much more complex by considering intermuscular synergies and interferences (e.g., cutaneous inputs [40]). However, these are out of the scope of the research program.

¹ The contraction velocity need to be controlled during comparisons since it highly influences motor unit recruitment as well as force thresholds [47].

The net neuromuscular output is the generated force, which is modulated by the number of recruited motor units (MU) as well as the firing rate (rate coding): the greater the MU recruitment and discharge frequency, the higher the force [40,47]. It is generally accepted that reaction forces during isokinetic eccentric actions are higher compared to isometric and concentric ones [50]. However, this was not a consistent finding as several studies did not reveal systematic differences [46]. For voluntary contractions, eccentric and isometric forces are comparable independently of the eccentric movement velocity, which was convincingly shown by the force-velocity relation (a diagram can be found ,e.g., in [51]). Moreover, if an individually optimal muscle length (joint angle) is used during isometrics, forces can even be higher than under eccentric conditions at least in the lower extremity [50]. The maximal voluntary isometric contraction (MVIC) can be used to related results of other measured forces or to normalized EMG signals [39].

To sum up, the muscle mechanics and neuromuscular control during IMA are not understood entirely. These are treated as a black box while focusing, i. a., on measurable neuromuscular force outputs. In this regard, a special but fairly unknown force is considered – the Adaptive Force (chapter 4). However, motor unit recruitment is not only influenced by force and speed of contraction but also by the availability of energy substrates and oxygen [47]. Some background of muscle metabolism blood flow is given in the following and to introduce the other central part of the research program – the oxygen and blood supply of IMAs.

1.2 Metabolism and Blood Flow of Isometric Muscle Actions

As stated in chapter 1.1, ATP is necessary to generate muscle actions by converting chemical potential energy into contractile work [31,52–54]. The need of ATP is not only limited to cross-bridging since calcium pump in sarcoplasmatic reticulum and membrane excitability also depend on it [55]. As ATP storage within muscle cells is small, it need to be refilled by other metabolic pathways to maintain homeostasis even during increased workloads [52,53]. During short intense exercises, metabolic processes can mainly run without oxygen by degradation of phosphocreatine or anaerobic glycolysis with accumulation of lactate [52]. Submaximal muscle actions over longer periods need to oxidize substrates such as carbohydrates to regenerate ATP (aerobic glycolysis) [52]. Detailed descriptions of underlying biochemical processes can be found elsewhere [53,55,56], although regulative mechanisms of metabolic homeostasis in muscles are still unknown [53].

With regard to energy turnover, the muscle fiber type plays an important role. Muscle fibers are classified according to their metabolic profile which can be specialized for slow oxidative actions (slow twitch, type I) or for fast and intense anaerobic ones (fast twitch or type IIb/x fibers) [52,57]. There is also an intermediate fiber type (fast oxidative, type IIa) [52]. Each motor unit consists of the same type of muscle fibers [52], whereby recruitment and firing rates not only depend on force and contraction velocity but also on the state of energy supply [58]. The energy turnover is about six-

times higher in fast twitch fibers compared to slow twitch ones [59]. However, this needs to be related to several other influencing factors as the performed muscle action, contraction velocity and intensity [54,60,61]. Isometric actions are less metabolically demanding than intermittent isometric actions but also less than eccentric and concentric actions (listed in ascending order) [62,63].

At low sustained voluntary isometric contractions (< 20% MVIC), slow twitch fibers mostly contribute to metabolic activity [64]. At 40% MVIC, a higher (anaerobic) ATP turnover in the soleus muscle (mainly slow twitch fibers) compared to the gastrocnemius (mainly fast twitch fibers) was found [65]. Studies with stimulated cat soleus and gastrocnemius muscles also indicated a dependence of energy pathway on the muscle fiber composition [66,67]. Additionally, differences in fiber type composition might partly explain found sex differences in metabolic responses to muscle actions [68].

Irrespective of the fiber type, the ratio of anaerobic to aerobic ATP production increases with the intensity during fatiguing isometric contractions of 10%, 25% and 40% MVIC (ratio: 0.4, 0.31 and 0.37, respectively) [69]. This is supported by findings of increased anaerobic parameters with rising intensities (~33%, ~72%,~98% MVIC) during IMA [70]. It is further stated that higher intensities or intensities above the so-called "critical force", to be more precise, cannot be performed with a metabolic steady state [71]. This is supported by the finding that intermittent isometric contractions at maximal and at a submaximal level substantially above the critical force (~55% MVIC) have shown similar metabolic perturbations especially at exhaustion [71]. If this holds true for sustained isometric contractions with comparable intensities as well needs to be examined in future research.

Although the primary energy pathway (anaerobic or aerobic) depend on exercise intensity and duration, both are activated simultaneously at the onset of exercise [54,55]. Thus, the oxidative pathway is always active also during sustained isometric muscle actions [69]. For that, oxygen need to be transported via hemoglobin within red blood cells. It releases oxygen to muscle tissue in the smallest vessels – the capillaries.

It is commonly accepted and written in physiological textbooks, e.g. [72–75], that blood supply is reduced or even completely stopped during an IMA. However, study results are inconclusive. For instance, in an early sophisticated experiment of Barcroft and Millen (1939), temperature differences were used to draw conclusion on muscle blood flow in response to sustained IMA up to ~30% of the maximal force capacity described for plantar flexor muscles of two subjects [76]. The results were compared to dynamic contractions and IMA with externally arrested blood flow. At estimated 20% and 30% MVIC, the rate of temperature rise was nearly equal during IMAs with and without externally arrested blood flow, leading to the conclusion of a probable arrested blood flow during an IMA even if a total standstill cannot be excluded [76]. However, other experiments which examined forearm blood flow during hand-grip exercises plethysmographically found increases during maximal and submaximal IMAs (up to at least 70% of MVIC) [77–79].

Thus, the behavior of blood supply during IMAs might be muscle specific despite of methodological differences in studies. Even muscles of the same muscle group (soleus vs. gastrocnemius) have shown differences in blood flow dynamics found in voluntary activated muscles of humans [80] and electrically stimulated cat muscles [66]. Further support of possible blood flow maintenance came from several studies which found dilated blood vessels during strongly electrically stimulated gastrocnemius muscles of dogs as cited by Barcroft and Millen (1939) [76].

By use of ultrasound Doppler, a better time resolution can be achieved compared to methods used in studies mentioned before [81]. Other methods which can be used to determine muscle blood flow are reviewed previously [82,83]. During IMA (10% to 75% MVIC) of the quadriceps muscle, blood flow velocities in femoral artery were found to decrease at the onset of contraction and even reached negative values representing a retrograde flow [81]. Subsequently, velocities increased and slowly rise above resting values for longer contraction times even at intensities above 50% MVIC [81]. These results indicate a possibly maintained blood flow during IMAs although post exercise velocities increased to a much greater extent [81].

Other indirect evidence of a restricted or occluded blood flow during IMA has come from performance parameters like isometric endurance times at ~33% and ~66% MVIC [84] of the elbow flexors or isometric force decline of forearm muscles [85] by comparing results under conditions of external blood flow occlusion.

Although studies mentioned above, did not examined microcirculation directly in muscle tissue, a frequently cited approach to explain results of a probably reduced muscle blood flow during contraction is the mechanical compression of vessels due to the high intramuscular pressure. Isometrically working muscles normally do not have phases of relaxation or reduced tension. Thus, the resulting constant high intramuscular pressure is thought to compress capillaries permanently and impede oxygen transport to tissue [80,86–89]. This issue is mainly considered in the first part of research program (chapter 3). It deals with the arising question of what happens with the muscle oxygenation in microcirculation during isometrics if the blood supply is possibly restricted or occluded (publication 1). The logical follow-up question of how the results that were found can be explained is addressed in publication 2.

Before focusing on the blood and oxygen supply during an IMA of humans in vivo, it is important to define the specific isometric motor task subjects have to perform. This is relevant for all studies dealing with isometry irrespective of the considered parameter. It was proposed that there might be at least two main forms of IMA [34]. The differentiation should briefly be introduced in the following.

1.3 Two Main Modalities of Isometric Muscle Action

Concentric (shortening) muscle actions are simply used to displace a submaximal load whereas eccentric (lengthening) ones can be performed either to control its displacement or to resist a

supramaximal load [40]. Isometric contractions also vary by the specific motor task. This can be exerting (internal) force by pulling on or pushing against an immovable resistance or holding a position by adapting to an external force and resist a muscle lengthening. The former is described as "force task" [90–93], "restrained task"[94], "force control" [95,96] and pulling or pushing isometric muscle action (PIMA) [34]. Due to the attempt to overcome the external force, it was also termed as "concentrically loaded isometric contraction" [97].

Pulling on or pushing against an immovable external resistance is rarely necessary in daily activities. However, most strength training and rehabilitation regimes or strength assessments use PIMAs [2,98–102]. If a muscle or muscle group performs a PIMA, a lot of other muscles have to work in an isometric holding manner aiming to stabilize the loaded joint or to maintain posture of respective body parts. Every time a person has to hold a position he or she attempts to adapt to an external force and avoid a provoked yielding. The isometric action is "loaded eccentrically" [97]. This is also termed "position task" [90–93], "postural task"[94], "position control" [95,96] or holding isometric muscle action (HIMA) [34]. The terms HIMA and PIMA are preferred in the following dealing with a potential objective distinction.

Several research groups examined if IMAs (mainly of arm or finger muscles) can be differentiated according to the performed specific motor task [34,35,90–92,94,97,103–105]. In this regard, EMG studies revealed conflicting results. As mentioned in chapter 1.1, recruitment thresholds of the biceps brachii muscle with very slow force rises might be higher during HIMA than PIMA [48]. Between tasks, motor unit discharge characteristics and extents of motor unit synchronization of first dorsal interosseus muscle seem to be not different at very low forces (< 5%) [94]. Regarding EMG amplitudes, Garner et al. (2008) did not found a difference at 20%, 30%, 40%, and 50% of the MVIC (soleus muscle) [106].

Another research group also found no task effects of EMG activity in elbow flexors at 20% MVIC [90]. However, at the last 40% of the contraction the average EMG of flexor muscles revealed higher amplitudes for PIMA compared to HIMA [90]. The study of Buchanan and Lloyd (1995) found significant differences in EMG amplitudes between force and position control of elbow flexor and extensor muscles but also indicated a possibly subject specific neural control strategy in respect of the task [96]. Spectral analyses revealed that the normalized EMG power in a frequency band of 10 - 29 Hz was found to be significantly higher for PIMA of elbow flexor muscles compared to HIMA [91]. The same frequency band as well as the band of 8 - 15 Hz showed a reversed behavior in power of mechanotendinography (MTG) of the triceps brachii muscle [34]. In the same study and comparable to EMG amplitudes at exhaustion, the mechanomyography (MMG) amplitudes seem to be higher during PIMA, too [34].

In contrast to EMG parameters, time to task failure (TTF) revealed more consistent results. It was found to be significantly longer during PIMA at least at low intensities (15%, 20% and 30% of the

MVIC) and if performed by elbow flexor muscles in a horizontal forearm position [90,91,105,107]. In contrast, no significant differences were found between both isometric tasks with vertically positioned forearm and at intensities of 45% and 60% [90,91]. Maluf et al. (2005) also reported longer TTFs during PIMA at 20% MVIC of the first dorsal interosseus muscle but similar ones at 60% [108]. Thus, differences between HIMA and PIMA might not be present at higher intensities. However, two studies revealed significantly shorter TTFs for HIMA vs. PIMA during 80% MVIC performed with the triceps brachii muscle in vertical position [34,35]. According to these results, further research is indicated especially with higher intensities (> 50% MVIC). This will be considered in the research program of this dissertation.

Some more parameters have been analyzed. On the one hand, significant differences have been found (mean arterial blood pressure (HIMA > PIMA) [90], glucose uptake in leg muscles of young men (HIMA > PIMA) [92]. On the other hand, differences have not been different considering IMAs of elbow flexor muscles (TTF and mean heart rate relative to rest with constant loads of 30 to 96% MVIC as well as MVIC values itself [103], tissue oxygenation index (TOI) and normalized total hemoglobin index (nTHI) at 20% and 60% of the MVIC [105]. According to the presented graphs of the latter study, the TOI at 60% seemed to decrease less during HIMA compared to PIMA. It could be reasonable to prove this appearance with a statistical difference test. Furthermore, TTF might be a highly promising variable to detect hypothesized differences.

Both, the oxygenation and TTF at 60% MVIC but also the maximal force output of HIMA and PIMA are compared within the research program. It was questioned if holding and pulling IMA differ regarding muscle oxygenation and / or time to task failure (publication 3) and if the maximal force capacity during a special form of HIMA could be differentiated from a conventional MVIC determined by PIMA (publication 4). The latter question will be elaborated in chapter 4. The presented results add data to the objective distinctness or non-distinctness of HIMA and PIMA. Based on previous research, it was already proposed that both IMA are distinguishable and that HIMA requires more complex control strategies [34,35,104]. The present work follows these hypotheses even if direct conclusions on neural control are not possible due to the used research methods.

At last, it should be noticed that holding a position while resisting an external load has the potential of joint movements [96]. Thus, alternating concentric and eccentric contractions are highly probable. Strictly speaking, the muscle action cannot be really isometric but quasi-isometric if there is only a small tolerance with degrees of freedom. However, it was argued that concentric contractions during a holding task might change the quasi-isometric character from HIMA to PIMA [34]. Additionally, it was examined if clearly visible intermittent muscle contractions (voluntary twitches) have an influence on muscle oxygenation and TTF. This could be indicative of the possibility of a switch from HIMA to PIMA and concurrently if such contractions could support the oxygenation by interrupting the quasi-IMA.

2 Overview of the Research Program

As briefly introduced, muscles can be activated differently in respect of the type of contraction or specific motor task and, therefore, take different functions. Besides enabling movements, maintaining a desired position by providing stability of joints is an essential muscle function with important relevance in daily activities or sports. During any kind of movement, some body parts always need to be stabilized. For that, the holding capacity of involved muscles plays a key role. Thus, it is important to take a deeper look at the holding muscle function with an underlying IMA. This is of special interest in the research program, which consists of two parts.

The first one mainly contains a description and possible explanation for the behavior of the capillary oxygen and blood supply during an HIMA, which is not yet entirely decoded by scientists (chapter 3). Potential differences to PIMA were considered as well. The main parameters of interest are the local capillary-venous oxygen saturation (SvO_2) and relative hemoglobin amount (rHb) which is an indicator of the capillary blood filling. This research part additionally considers the time to task failure (TTF) and the influence of intermittent voluntary muscle twitches. In this regard, neuromuscular aspects are already touched.

Nevertheless, neuromuscular considerations of the holding isometric muscle function are the main content of the second part of the research program (chapter 4). For that, the measurable forces as outputs of the neuromuscular system were compared. The common MVIC was used as output during a PIMA and the relatively unknown Adaptive Force (AF) was captured during a special form of HIMA by a newly developed prototype. As a prerequisite, the reliability of the AF assessed by the new device needed to be proven.

List of Research Questions and Hypotheses

The basic question was the following:

(1) How do the oxygen (SvO_2) and blood (rHb) supply behave in the capillary system of superficial muscle tissue during a fatiguing isometric holding action? (publication 1)

This first explorative study was not conducted to test a hypothesis since the behavior of SvO_2 and rHb should mainly be described. Subsequently, an explanation for the observed behavior, especially of the partly found increase in rHb, should be given by answering:

(2) How can the increase in rHb be explained? (publication 2)

It was hypothesized that the SvO_2 level triggers the behavior of rHb independently of the isometric task. In the next step, holding (HIMA) and pulling (PIMA) isometric muscle actions (IMA) should be compared to investigate potential differences:

(3) Do holding and pulling IMA differ regarding muscle oxygenation and / or time to task failure (TTF)? (publication 3)

To analyze this question, four oxygenation variables and the TTF were tested according to the findings of the previous publications. It was hypothesized that PIMA reveal longer TTFs than HIMA due to a higher oxygenation. A sub-question should additionally be answered:

(3.1) Do intermittent voluntary muscle twitches during weight holding have an influence on the muscle oxygenation and time to task failure? (publication 3)

By performing twitches, a support of the capillary blood flow and consequently oxygen supply and a longer TTF during the twitching task was hypothesized. This could also be in accordance with the proposed change in neuromuscular control (switch from HIMA to PIMA) as long as PIMA reveals a longer TTF than HIMA. Despite the TTF, a probably more sensitive quantification of the neuromuscular holding muscle function (Adaptive Force, AF) was considered in the last study. For that a pneumatic device was developed to quantify the AF and assessed regarding its quality criteria first:

(4) Can the pneumatic device measure the AF reliably? (publication 4)

This was tested by reliability statistics. Subsequently, the discriminant validity of the main variable of interest, the maximal isometric AF (AFiso_{max}), should be proven:

(4.1) Is the AFiso_{max} a specific and independent variable of muscle function in comparison to other maximal forces? (publication 4)

This was assumed and statistically tested by performing difference tests and correlations. As a last subsidiary question, it should be analyzed if the MVIC determined by PIMA can be influenced by a prior concentric phase. This specific task is understood as a counterpart to an AF-measurement which was conducted to examine the main research question in publication 4. The sub-question was:

(4.2) Does the MVIC with a prior concentric contraction (MVICpri-con) differ from the commonly determined MVIC with an underlying PIMA? (publication 4)

Here again, no hypothesis is given since this question has an explorative character which should not raise the claim to draw final conclusions.

3 Part I: Oxygen and Blood Supply during Isometric Muscle Actions

During exercise, metabolic need for oxygen increases in skeletal muscle [109]. Thus, muscular blood flow rises up to 20-fold on average to match the oxygen demand [110]. However, especially

strenuous concentric and isometric muscle actions might temporarily reduce muscular blood flow by compression of peripheral blood vessels [72].

In contrast to dynamic exercises, static ones like holding a weight, often have no relaxation phases with reduced muscle tension. Caused by constant high intramuscular pressures, muscle perfusion might be impeded over the whole IMA [72,80,86–89]. It is known that the intramuscular pressure rises proportionally to the MVIC [80,86–88,111]. The contraction intensity leading to an occlusion (occlusion threshold) is probably muscle and person-specific and ranges between 40% and 70% of MVIC [112]. Muscle fiber type composition might play a role to explain interindividual differences [89,113]. Furthermore, the occlusion threshold might also depend on individual training status [112].

Irrespective of the precise occlusion threshold, if arterial blood flow is restricted or even completely stopped due to IMAs, as stated previously [73–75,114], higher demands of oxygen and consequently blood cannot be supplied. As a consequence, local muscle fatigue might occur earlier [112] and muscle function would be impaired (reduction of motor unit recruitment) [41].

To analyze oxygen supply of muscle tissue, measurement of venous oxygen saturation is reasonable since arterial blood is nearly saturated. Barcroft and colleagues (1963) determined this by spectrophotometry of deep venous blood samples [77]. They have shown, that during an externally occluded brachial artery forearm deoxygenation was nearly complete during prolonged contractions. It decreased to ~6% (n = 4 measurements) at termination of strong contraction (maximal hand-squeezing of a bulb for one minute). A similar value has been found for moderate contractions after 4 - 5 min (n = 2: ~8%). Such values were only reached by one outlier (3%) out of ten subjects performing IMA of comparable intensity and contraction duration without external occlusion (27% and 34% on average, respectively) [77].

The reasons why isometrically working muscles with moderate to strong intensities seem not to desaturate blood completely despite theoretically compressed or occluded capillaries remain unclear [77]. A contamination of venous blood samples with highly saturated blood cannot be excluded but were thought to be unlikely [77]. As mentioned in chapter 1.2, the same experiment found an increasing blood flow with higher isometric contractions intensities but also an abrupt increase after the end of contraction [77].

All in all, the results indicate the importance of determining the oxygen saturation, preferably of microvessels. Furthermore, conclusions on oxygen supply by measuring of blood flow or intramuscular pressure are limited.

Newer studies based on non-invasive spectroscopy measurements examined microvascular oxygen saturation and hemoglobin amount (indicator of capillary blood filling) under fatiguing isometric conditions. Muscle oxygenation was found to level off into a steady state [105,115–118] or to decrease linearly [119,120]. However, none of the studies revealed a complete or nearly complete

desaturation. Further research is indicated since an entire understanding of the capillary oxygen and blood supply during IMAs is missing. The research gap should be filled by the first part of the research program regarding oxygenation and hemodynamic aspects of submaximal IMAs (60% MVIC). For that, the behavior of oxygen saturation and blood filling during HIMA of elbow flexors until exhaustion were examined in the first step (publication 1).

To measure the parameters of interest (SvO₂ and rHb), a valid and reliable light spectrophotometer (O2C, Oxygen To See; LEA© Medizintechnik GmbH, Gießen, Germany) was used [121–123]. The measuring method is comparable to the commonly utilized near infrared spectroscopy technique (NIRS). For short, white light (500 - 850 nm [124,125]) or near infrared light (700 to 900 nm [126], 650 - 1000 nm [127]) is sent to, e.g., muscle tissue [128,129] via special probes which also detect the different backscattered wavelengths. The source-detector separation determines the light penetration depth. The detected difference in wavelength mainly depends on the ratio of oxygenated and deoxygenated hemoglobin as well as myoglobin used to calculated the oxygen saturation (SvO₂). This measure can be interpreted as a kind of local mixed venous saturation before blood is reoxygenated.

However, SvO_2 has not to be confused with the systemic mixed venous oxygen saturation measured by pulmonary artery catheter. Values can be given in an absolute scale (measurement range: 0% - 100%) or in relation to the baseline value.

The amount of hemoglobin (rHb) can be determined by the amount of light absorbed by the tissue. It delivers an indication of the filling of vessels with blood. Without calibrating results with another method, e.g., quantifying milliliter per gram of tissue, only arbitrary units or ratios can be stated. It must further be noticed, that hemoglobin and myoglobin cannot be distinguished by spectrometric measurements [127]. Myoglobin is assumed to be constant during exercise and therefore, a change of total hem/myoglobin reflects a change of hemoglobin in microvessels [130]. Thus, myoglobin influences measurements during exercises less than at rest [131,132]. However, relative contributions remain controversial [127]. High amounts of hemoglobin as in arterial vessels would fully absorb the light virtually [133,134]. Thus, larger vessel have no significant influence on the recordings even arterial blood cannot be excluded completely [126,127,135–137].

The main difference between the O2C and NIRS devices is the size of included vessels during the measurement process (< 100 μ m [133] vs. < 1 mm diameter [126], respectively) due to the different used wave length. It is assumed that the main signal comes from capillaries due to their largest proportion of vascular volume in muscles [127]. Detailed descriptions of the techniques as well as limitations can be found in previous studies [124,125,127,135,136].

This first explorative study generated a hypothesis to explain the found results. It was tested as an intermediate step in the second study (publication 2). Subsequently, it was investigated if the behavior depends on the isometric modality (HIMA vs. PIMA). In this regard, several oxygenation variables

and TTF were tested for a possible objective distinction (publication 3). In addition, the influence of intermittent voluntary muscle twitches during weight holding on all variables were analyzed. These twitches are little concentric contractions which interrupt the static muscular work and, therefore, might support the blood and oxygen supply.

The neuromuscular control might also be altered because the task possibly includes a switch from adapting (to an EF \triangleq HIMA) to overcoming it (\triangleq PIMA). This could influence the muscle function and might alter the TTF. Other neuromuscular aspects of HIMA are the main issue of the second part of the research program. Its background is outlined in chapter 4.

3.1 Behavior of Oxygen Saturation and Blood Filling in the Venous Capillary System of the Biceps Brachii Muscle during a Fatiguing Isometric Action.

Background:

Dealing with the holding function of muscles with an underlying IMA, it is reasonable to consider the suggested (unphysiological) specialty of permanent compressed arterial vessels. If the blood flow of arterial vessels is restricted or even completely stopped, the working muscle cannot be supplied adequately with oxygen and blood. In order to develop a better understanding of muscle oxygenation and hemodynamics in microvasculature during IMA and to verify conflicting results of previous studies, the first study questioned (publication 1):

(1) How do the oxygen (SvO₂) and blood (rHb) supply behave in the capillary system during a fatiguing IMA?

Methods:

A fatiguing HIMA of 60% of the MVIC was performed by ten subjects (7 male and 3 female subjects) with their left biceps brachii muscle (mean age \pm SD = 28.6 \pm 11.68 years). For that, they had to hold a weight in a 90° elbow flexion for as long as possible in a standing position. A valid and reliable spectrophotometer (O2C; LEA Medizintechnik GmbH, Gießen, Germany) was used to calculate the local capillary-venous oxygen saturation of hemoglobin (SvO₂) in % and relative hemoglobin amount (rHb) in arbitrary units (AU) as an indicator of the local capillary-venous blood filling in superficial muscle tissue (light: 500 – 850 nm; light penetration depth: 12 mm). The measuring technique is comparable with the widely used near infrared spectroscopy (NIRS). However, parameters were only detected in the smallest vessels (> 100 µm in diameter).

Results:

Two different behaviors of SvO_2 and rHb were visible. In five of ten fatiguing measurements SvO_2 and rHb behaved nearly parallel to each other (type I). Both parameters decreased immediately after

the start of loading and leveled off into a steady state (coefficient of variation (CV): $1.19 \pm 0.75\%$). A positive rank correlation was found, $\rho = 0.725$, p <.001). In five other measurements a partial inversed behavior occurred (type II). The correlation was negative ($\rho = -0.522$, p <.001). In these measurements, rHb increased after an initial decrease and leveled off into a steady state at about 13% above baseline value. SvO₂ also leveled off into a steady state (CV = $2.11 \pm 1.59\%$) but on a lower level (-33.86 ± 17.35 percent points (pp)) compared to type I (-10.37 ± 2.59 pp). This difference was significant (p = 0.008). The durations from start of loading to leveling off as well as to end of the possible steady state were similar between both types (15.1 ± 1.6 s and 15.55 ± 3.23 s, respectively). As a consequence, the initial negative slopes (from start to leveling off into steady state) was less in type II (-3.31 ± 1.26 for SvO₂ pp s⁻¹ and -2.65 ± 0.88 AU s⁻¹ for rHb) compared to type I (-1.69 ± 0.92 pp s⁻¹ and -1.83 ± 0.47 AU s⁻¹, respectively). Both behavioral types were also found in twelve MVIC trials with an underlying PIMA in a subgroup of six subjects (type I: n = 8); type II: n = 4).

Discussion:

This study was one of the first which described the behavior of oxygen saturation in conjunction with blood filling mainly of the venous capillary system in superficial muscle tissue. Based on the results of the used methods, the behavior during a submaximal HIMA and maximal PIMA can roughly be differentiated into two types. Regardless of methodological differences, the described types fit to the results of most but not all previous studies and might explain inconsistencies. In a next step, it should be explained how type I or type II emerge. The behavioral type could possibly depend on the saturation level expressed by differences in the extent of deoxygenation. It is hypothesized that a boundary level triggers the increase in blood filling, which should be examined in the next study.

According to the occurred steady states of both examined parameters in all submaximal fatiguing measurements and measurements of other research groups, a balanced need and consumption of oxygen and blood is possible during IMAs at least in the superficial muscle tissue. This fact needs further explanation since high intramuscular pressures at submaximal intensities theoretically stop blood flow in capillaries.

3.2 Muscle Oxygenation Level Might Trigger the Regulation of Capillary-venous Blood Filling during Fatiguing Isometric Muscle Actions.

Background:

In the first study (publication 1), two behaviors of oxygen saturation (SvO₂) and blood filling (rHb) in venous capillaries have been described and objectively differentiated during fatiguing HIMAs and maximal PIMAs. In type I, both parameters showed a nearly parallel behavior and by contrast, their curve progression was partly inverse in type II, i. e., rHb started to increases at a reversal point (RP₁)

while SvO_2 decreased further on. Then, both parameters leveled off into a steady state, which was maintained until stop of loading. With stop of loading, SvO_2 started to increase again, but rHb decreased until a second reversal point (RP₂) and increased together with SvO_2 towards their baseline level. The cause of this special regulation in type II is unclear. Thus, ascertaining an explanation of its occurrence was the main focus of the second study (publication 2) with the following main research question:

(2) How can the increase in rHb be explained?

For that, a hypothesized trigger mechanism by a boundary oxygenation level (threshold) was analyzed with an extended data set of the first study. Fatiguing PIMA measurements were also examined to consider both isometric forms.

Methods:

In this study, both arms of twelve subjects were analyzed. All subjects (29.75 \pm 11.14 years) held a weight for as long as possible (fatiguing HIMA). In addition, a subgroup of six subjects pulled on an immovable resistance (fatiguing PIMA). All 44 fatiguing trials were performed at 60% of MVIC in a 90° elbow flexion. The above mentioned O2C device calculated SvO₂ and rHb by detecting backscattered wavelengths of priorly sent light into superficial muscle tissue. All trials were categorized visually to type I or II. As done in the first study, rank correlations between SvO₂ and rHb and maximal deoxygenation were calculated. Additionally, time to task failure (TTF) was compared between types. SvO₂-levels at the moment the two RPs in rHb, which occurred only in type II measurements, were used to examine the hypothesized boundary level. RP₁ indicates the first increase in rHb after the initial drop and RP₂ the second one after stop of loading. Additional information have been extracted: time periods in s from start until minimum of rHb before start of steady state. This variable corresponds to RP₁ in type II.

Results:

Regarding fatiguing trials, the rank correlations between SvO₂ and rHb were $\rho = 0.74 \pm 0.61$ in type I and $\rho = -0.81 \pm 0.52$ in type II. Types differed significantly in the extent of deoxygenation (type I: -12.21 ± 3.67 pp; type II: -24.45 ± 11.59 pp, p < 0.001, r = 0.58). During fatiguing HIMA, type I occurred in n = 7 and type II in n = 17 trials. During fatiguing PIMA, the allocation was similar (type I: n = 3; type II: n = 9). MVIC (PIMA) trials revealed n = 15 type I and n = 9 type II behaviors. The TTF was not significantly different between types (p = 0.886).

With regard to the main research question, SvO_2 -level at RP₁ was 58.75 ± 2.14% in type II fatiguing IMAs. In type I, the minimal occurred oxygenation level was 59%. Similar to RP₁, SvO_2 -level was at RP₂ was 58.91 ± 2.72%, p = 0.600. The same applies to MVIC measurements (at RP₁: 58.13 ±

1.66%; at RP₂: 57.82 \pm 1.25%, p = 0.652). Time period in s from start until minimum of rHb was 11.41 \pm 3.44 s in type I and 6.85 s \pm 3.39 s in type II (duration until RP₁).

Discussion:

The occurrence of RPs in rHb (type II) might be explained by the oxygenation level. A threshold possibly triggers the increase. Regardless of the isometric form of muscle action (HIMA or PIMA, fatiguing or MVIC), this threshold might lie around 59% and within a transition area. Consequently, the behavioral patterns might reflect a specific regulation which depends on the oxygen saturation level. If the saturation was above the threshold, SvO₂ and rHb behaved nearly parallel, and if it was below, the behavior was inverse. The triggered increase in rHb might serve as a protective regulation to impede a further or complete deoxygenation. Local factors like nitric oxide leading to vasodilation of arterioles and enhanced blood flow in capillaries might play a role in the regulative processes behind. Hypoxia could be the stimulus in a negative feedback control system. However, the suggested threshold should to be verified in future studies examining deeper regions of the muscle as well as younger and older persons of different training status.

Regardless of the existence of a threshold, it need to be discussed, how increases in the microvascular blood content (rHb) are possible despite high intramuscular pressures. As commonly thought and stated above, IMA at higher intensities ought to stop capillary blood flow. Due to homeostatic steady states in SvO_2 and rHb, a stopped outflow (venous stasis) is highly unlikely. The location of capillaries within muscle tissue might be an approach to explain, how blood flow could be maintained. Capillaries proceed mostly parallel to the muscle fibers and lie in the endomysium where three to four muscle fibers adjoin each other. Muscle fibers increase their circumference during contraction and increased tension. Instead of compression of the capillary, the fibers might compress each other and enhance the space in between. Thus, capillaries and also nerves might be unaffected even if higher intramuscular pressures arise. Furthermore, collagenous struts, as detected by other research groups, might prevent capillaries from collapsing.

Vasodilating processes by hypoxic induced release of NO might explain the increase in rHb if the blood flow is maintained during contraction. Another factor which could support capillary blood flow might be the transversal oscillations of 10 - 15 Hz during IMA. They might serve as a kind of pump in conjunction with the anatomical considerations mentioned before. However, the mechanisms are not completely clear yet and subsequent research is indicated.

Although the explanation of the two types has been on main focus in this study, some more findings should be highlighted. The behavioral type seem to be independent of the person or gender because both types could be found within subjects as well as males and females. In addition, types are probably independent of the TTF. These were similar, even though type II deoxygenated significantly more than type I. Thus, onset of fatigue might not be related to deoxygenation. This should be

examined in future studies. Moreover, comparisons between HIMA and PIMA were not considered here and should be addressed, i.a., in the next study.

3.3 Muscle Oxygenation and Time to Task Failure of Submaximal Holding and Pulling Isometric Muscle Actions and Influence of Intermittent Voluntary Muscle Twitches.

Background:

As discussed in the previous two studies (publication 1 and 2), the oxygenation and hemodynamic response of IMAs could be roughly categorized into two types, whereby the type might mainly depend on the saturation level. The focus of the third study was to compare several oxygenation variables between HIMA and PIMA. This was rarely considered before and should bring further insights of a potential distinction of two isometric forms. In the past, time to task failure (TTF) was found to be one of the most promising distinguishing parameters. Thus, it was analyzed together with oxygenation variables. That leads to the following main research question of the third study (publication 3):

(3) Do holding and pulling IMA differ regarding muscle oxygenation and / or time to task failure?

As a sub-question, the influence of intermittent voluntary muscle twitches during weight holding (Twitch) should be answered:

(3.1) Do twitches during weight holding have an influence on the muscle oxygenation and time to task failure?

A voluntary twitch is defined as a rapid but short auxotonic contraction leading to a little motion of the limb. The muscle length and tension is changed temporarily On the one hand, twitches might serve as a pump and, therefore, supporting capillary blood flow. On the other hand, neuromuscular control of the whole task might be changed. Under isometric conditions, pure responses to EFs are associated with HIMA and, by contrast, initiated actions are associated with PIMA. If a load is exceeded, the formerly weight holding task as a kind of reaction to an external load, changes: to initiating an action and lifting up the weight minimally. It is hypothesized that twitches during a weight holding task switch the isometric character from HIMA to PIMA.

Methods:

In total, twelve subjects performed two elbow flexion tasks in a random order. Half of the group did HIMA and PIMA (HP group) and the other half HIMA and Twitch (HT group). Due to discomfort or pain, two subjects and one arm each of two others had to be excluded (n = 36 measurements, n =

9 per task). The intensity during all trials was 60% of maximal torque which should be maintained until muscle failure. Both arms were examined in a random order. SvO_2 and rHb were measured by light spectrometry. Subsequently, maximal deoxygenation (max. SvO_2 decrease), slope of initial linear SvO_2 decrease (SvO_2 slope), SvO_2 level at global minimum of rHb (SvO_2 at rHb min), which corresponds to RP₁ in type II measurements, and time to leveling off into a steady state of SvO_2 (TSS) were extracted as oxygenation variables. TTF served as performance variable.

The second study (publication 2) also indicated that the TTF might be independent of the extent of deoxygenation. Thus, Pearson's correlations coefficients were calculated between TTF and max. SvO_2 decrease over all measurements independent of the task.

Results:

None of the oxygenation variables differed significantly within subjects between HIMA and PIMA as well as not between HIMA and Twitch.

The TTF was significantly shorter during HIMA ($42.63 \pm 7.64 \text{ s}$) compared to Twitch ($52.78 \pm 11.61 \text{ s}$, p = 0.043). HIMA ($44.80 \pm 18.06 \text{ s}$) was also shorter compared to PIMA 50.33 \pm 9.46 s but the differences did not reach statistical significance (p = 0.394). The result might be influenced by effects of fatigue caused by an unbalanced order of tasks (drop outs). Considering PIMA and Twitch together with a more balanced distribution of tasks the difference was significant again (p = 0.047). Regardless of the type of task, TTF and maximal deoxygenation did not correlate substantially (r = -0.13).

According to the categorization of trials, type I (n = 9) and type II (n = 27) behaviors were nearly equally distributed between HIMA and PIMA (type I: 4 vs. 3; type II: 5 vs. 6) and identically distributed between HIMA and Twitch (type I: 1 vs. 1; type II: 8 vs. 8).

Discussion:

Most of the analyzed oxygenation variables were considered for the first time in respect of a comparison between HIMA and PIMA. Based on the results of a small sample size, microvascular oxygen and blood supply seem to be similar between both isometric forms (HIMA and PIMA). The two previously described behaviors of SvO_2 and rHb (type I and II) occurred during all tasks with a nearly equal number of trials. Thus, the type is probably independent of the performed task. This is a plausible consequence by considering that none of the oxygenation variables were statistically different. It was already hypothesized the type depends on the level of deoxygenation or more precisely, the drop below a threshold of about 59% (publication 2).

According to the occurred steady states in SvO₂ and rHb as well as increases of rHb in most measurements, the oxygen and blood supply in the capillary system might be sufficient during IMAs

(HIMA and PIMA). Twitches as performed in the presented study did not further support the supply substantially. However, TTF was found to be longer during Twitch compared to HIMA even though the weight had minimally to be overcome several times. Possibly, increases in blood flow or changed metabolic processes might play a role by activation of muscle pump and vasodilation. Because oxygenation variables were equal and TTF did not corelate substantially with the extent of deoxygenation, a changed neuromuscular control might rather serve as an explanation.

A twitch interrupts the adaptation to the weight (HIMA) by minor concentric contractions. Possibly, the muscle action could switch to a PIMA afterwards. PIMA might be closer to a concentric contraction ("concentrically loaded") and HIMA, by contrast, to an eccentric one ("eccentrically loaded"), as postulated by our research group previously. Further research need to be done in order to fully understand the mechanisms of eccentric contractions, which might have different control strategies. Furthermore, HIMA tended to reveal shorter TTFs in comparison to PIMA in the presented study.

This study adds data to the conflicting results of previous research regarding a distinction between the two isometric forms. Methodological reasons might have result in inconsistencies. Holding tasks as performed in the present study and by most of other researchers do not exclude concentric contractions for compensation of a prior yielding. Pure HIMAs are not understood to allow such minor concentric muscle actions in order to prevent a hypothesized switch into PIMA. As a consequence, other research methods are required, e.g., by measuring the Adaptive Force as reaction to increasing external loads in conjunction with control or even prevention of concentric contractions. This will be addressed in the next study.

4 Part II: Adaptive Force – a Measure of a Neuromuscular Function

In great contrast to PIMA, during HIMA, the neuromuscular system needs to adapt adequately to the EF which can be constant or varying in size. To match the EF, the muscle tension and length must be continuously adapted. The resulting force is defined as Adaptive Force, inaugurated by the research group of Prof. Frank Bittmann, University of Potsdam. It reflects a special functionality of the neuromuscular system in sense of adapting adequately to EFs [138,139]. This requires strength and sensorimotor control to prevent a provoked muscle lengthening. High demands or the the motor control centers are expectable [34,91].

Many daily activities require an adequate adaptation to EF. Examples are maintaining posture during any kind of activity while sitting or standing, supporting body weight while walking, running or biking or carrying any kind of object like shopping bags. If the adaptation to external loads is not adequate, joints might not be stabilized appropriately and musculoskeletal complaints, injuries or damages could be the consequence [138,140,141]. Prior to the evaluation of such hypotheses, basic research

regarding the assessment and objectification of the AF is necessary and, therefore, the focus of the second part of the research program.

Previous research which compared HIMA and PIMA mainly used constant EF during HIMA. It could be worthwhile to consider the adaptation to varying EF or more precisely increasing EF, too. Possibly, it is more sensitive to detect differences from a PIMA. In the following, two opportunities are described to enable an increasing EF for scientific purposes.

From a methodological point of view, the assessment of the adaptation to constant EFs is easy to realize, e.g., by holding a weight. In contrast, the adaptation to varying or increasing EFs was rarely considered, yet [4,138,139,142]. This could be explained by limited possibilities to provide such EFs on a standardized way. In the past, a pneumatic measurement system enabling a standardized increasing EF was introduced [4,138,139].

However, some methodological limitations has been described, i. e., the stick-slip effect caused by the used non-frictionless cylinder, the not individualized pressure increase to the MVIC of the participants and absent recording of the limb position. Thus, new prototypes which eliminates these problems have been constructed. For the prototype of the lower extremity, the basic construction and setting of the SeBit system was used [138,139]. The measurement setting described in Schaefer and Bittmann (2017) served as a template for the upper extremity. The developed prototype is of only interest in the following [34].

In principle, a bellows cylinder (Zitec SP-2 B04, 2-fach) driven by compressed air (compressor: JUN-AIR 700367; Condor MDR 2 EN 60947-4-1; control unit: custom build, Seifert Drucklufttechnick GmbH, Lauter-Bernsbach, Germany) pushes against a lever and generates an increasing EF. The subject, whose elbow joint was placed on a table in rotational axis of the lever (arm-trunk-angle: ~80°), has to adapt to this increasing EF by activating elbow extensor muscles (generation of IF). The reaction force between lever and subject is measured by strain gauge (LMZ 2000 N, 3006, modified by Biovision, Wehrheim, Germany). If the IF meets the EF, vertical forearm is held in position. The measured force is termed isometric Adaptive Force (AFiso) with an underlying HIMA.

The new pneumatic system for determination of the AF of elbow extensor muscles (termed as device in the following) was tested on its quality criteria (publication 4). This includes the test-retest reliability of the maximal isometric AF (AFiso_{max}) and its discriminant validity from the conventional MVIC force (PIMA). To evaluate the maximal holding capacity the increasing EF needs to "break" the isometry. Hence, the subject is forced from an IMA to an eccentric one. Thus, the AF can be differentiated according to the underlying muscle action. If it is still isometric, it is termed AFiso and if it is eccentric, AFecc. The AFiso_{max} corresponds to the force at the moment of yielding (break off-point). The movement of the arm and lever is recorded by accelerometers (modified by

Biovision, Wehrheim, Germany). The break-off point can be determined by sophisticated algorithm². It was already proven on > 800 AF-measurements of the upper and lower extremity and fits optically with an accuracy of 99.53%. To control for a potential pushback of the lever with an underlying concentric muscle action, a strict limit of $\ge 0.3^{\circ}$ in direction of elbow extension is defined as task failure (no pure HIMA). A tolerance 2° of forearm yielding is given and still interpreted as IMA.

The $AFecc_{max}$ is the highest force during the eccentric phase which occurs always subsequently to this isometric one. Regardless of the muscle action, the highest force during an AF-measurement is termed as AF_{max} . Since isometric and eccentric muscle actions are combined during an AF-measurement, it was also described as composed muscle action [4].

4.1 Publication 4:

Assessment of the Adaptive Force of Elbow Extensors in Healthy Subjects Quantified by a Novel Pneumatically Driven Measurement System with Considerations of Its Quality Criteria.

Background:

While holding a constant weight it is difficult to perform a pure HIMA, i. e., an exclusive reaction to external loads as discussed in the third study (publication 3). The fourth study (publication 4) considers another assessment of HIMA by adapting to increasing forces instead of a constant one. Besides TTF, the neuromuscular holding function can be quantified by the Adaptive Force (AF) which might be more sensitive to detect differences from a PIMA because it not only requires strength but also sensorimotor control. AF quantifies the adaptation of the neuromuscular system to external forces with the aim to maintain a position without the influence of muscular strength endurance capacity (short measurement $\sim 3 - 4$ s).

To enable a standardized increasing external force, a pneumatic measurement system (SeBit) was refined and, in a first step, assessed regarding its quality criteria with the following research questions:

(4) Can the new pneumatic device measure the AF reliably?

Subsequently, the discriminant validity of the main variable of interest, the maximal isometric AF (AFiso_{max}), was analyzed by answering the question that follows:

² For further details and limitations, see descriptions in the original article (Publication 4).

(4.1) Is the AFiso_{max} a specific and independent variable of muscle function in comparison to other maximal forces?

During AF-measurements the muscle action is first of all isometric which merges into an eccentric one. The functional counterpart could be understood as a concentric contraction merging into an IMA. The influence on the MVIC was analyzed in a sub-question:

(4.2) Does the MVIC with a prior concentric contraction (MVICpri-con) differ from the commonly determined MVIC with an underlying PIMA?

Methods:

Nine male and four female healthy subjects participated in the experiment on two days (t_1 and t_2). On both days, their dominant elbow extensors were examined by determining pre-MVIC, MVICpricon, highest (AF_{max}) and maximal isometric AF (AFiso_{max}) as well as post-MVIC after all other measurements. The last measurements were conducted to examine possible effects of fatigue. Most variables correspond to the highest torque of each trial. Only AFiso_{max} was determined as the torque at the moment of giving way of the forearm within a 2°-tolerance. To ensure a pure HIMA and exclude a switch into PIMA, a pushback of the lever of 0.3° resulted in an exclusion of the trial (n = 1). The maximal eccentric AF (AFecc_{max}) was mainly identical to AF_{max} and, therefore, excluded from statistical analysis.

Arithmetic mean (M) and maximal (Max) torques of all force types were calculated out of four trials per day. Measurement series of MVICpri-con and AF were performed in a randomized order. For reliability analysis, a liberal alpha level of 10% was chosen. Due to homoscedastic data, standard error of measurements (SEMs) and additionally intraclass correlation coefficients (ICCs (3,1)) were calculated. Comparisons between forces types as absolute values and ratios to pre-MVIC were conducted with a conventional alpha error of 5%.

Results:

Regarding test-retest reliability, AF variables were not significantly different between t_1 and t_2 (p = 0.175 – 0.552). Mean differences were 0.31 – 1.98 Nm (0.61% – 5.47%). SEM reached from 1.29 to 5.68 Nm (2.53% – 15.70%) and ICCs (3,1) from 0.896 to 0.996.

In comparison of force types, AF_{max} did not differ significantly from pre-MVIC (p = 0.109 – 0.531). In contrast, $AF_{iso_{max}}$ was significantly lower (6.12 – 14.93 Nm) compared to AF_{max} and pre-MVIC (p ≤ 0.001 – 0.009). Normalized to pre-MVIC, $AF_{iso_{max}}$ was 70.01% – 76.88% and AF_{max} 94.64% – 101.55%. All differences between $\frac{AF_{iso_{max}}}{pre-MVIC}$ and $\frac{AF_{max}}{pre-MVIC}$ (M and Max, t₁ and t₂) were significant (p = 0.001).

Very high correlations between AF_{max} and pre-MVIC were found (r = 0.97 – 0.98). Values were lower but still high if AF_{max} or pre-MVIC were correlated with $AF_{iso_{max}}$ (r = 0.85 – 0.97).

AFiso_{max} had higher coefficients of variation between single trials (\geq 24.92%) compared to those of pre-MVIC and AF_{max} (CVs \leq 5.4%).

Considering the sub-question, MVICpri-con revealed significantly lower torques compared to pre-MVIC (p = 0.005 - 0.041) in exception of M torques at t₁. Post-MVIC was significantly lower than pre-MVIC on both days (p = 0.001 - 0.020).

Discussion:

By use of accelerometers for detecting movements of limb and lever, the new pneumatic device can determine AFiso_{max} easier compared to its predecessor version (SeBit). A reference curve is not necessary anymore. In addition, the stick-slip effect was eliminated by using a frictionless bellows cylinder. The individualizable pressure increase is another advantage of the system.

Limitations are the slightly flattened force increases due to lever drive during the eccentric phase and the partly sudden force increase. A smooth start should be provided by a motor-controlled valve to give especially strong subjects a better chance to adapt to the external force. At last, the algorithm for the detection of AFiso_{max} should be seen critically. For example, setting tolerance of 2° during yielding was necessary to deal with unavoidable slight elbow shifts. The algorithm seem to detect the breakoff point reliably. However, an influence on the variability of AFiso_{max} cannot be ruled out completely.

According to the test-retest data, the refined pneumatic device can reliably quantify the AF. The measurement errors should be taken into consideration for future studies. Higher random error of AFiso_{max} might be due to a higher biological variability.

 AF_{max} occurred mainly during an eccentric muscle action. The yielding was very slow (2.31 ± 0.50 °/s) which might explain why AF_{max} did not exceed pre-MVIC. For assessing maximal force, both variables could be used.

In contrast, AFiso_{max} could be differentiated from pre-MVIC even in healthy subjects. This finding supports the hypothesis of two isometric forms (HIMA vs. PIMA). Thus, it is suggested to assess the adaptive holding capacity separately from the pushing or pulling MVIC.

Due to high correlations to other maximal forces, $AFiso_{max}$ could be integrated into the conditional ability of strength (r² = 72.25 – 94.09%). It might depend on the maximal strength of a person but also the sensorimotor control in sense of adapting muscular length and tension to external forces. The higher complexity and higher neuromuscular demands within combined feedback and feedforward control mechanisms might explain why $AFiso_{max}$ was found to be lower and more variable compared to other muscular forces. Thus, a normalization to the MVIC or AF_{max} is reasonable. This might

serve as an indication of the functionality of the neuromuscular system. A high AFiso_{max} might prevent muscles from an inappropriate lengthening and, therefore, injuries. Some measurements revealed that the muscle gave way before 50% of the maximal pushing isometric force (pre-MVIC) was reached. The appropriate size or relation should be investigated in future by considering subjects with musculoskeletal complaints. It is hypothesized that the holding muscle function in sense of AF is more vulnerable to inhibitory factors compared to a simple MVIC-test and might be an explanatory approach for the cause of musculoskeletal complaints.

Regarding the influence of a concentric contraction prior to an IMA, inconsistent results were found. Interpretations should be handled with care because systematic differences of MVICpri-con were found between t_1 and t_2 despite of low SEMs and high ICCs. Furthermore, mostly lower values compared to pre-MVIC might rather be explained by effects of fatigue than neuromuscular factors. If only subjects were considered who performed MVICpri-con before AF-measurements, there was no significant difference to discover. Lower post-MVIC compared to pre-MVIC torques also express possible central or peripheral fatigue after potentially exhausting eccentric muscle actions during AF-measurements. However, further examinations with a separate study design are suggested.

The objectivity is a big advantage of the pneumatic system but practical use is limited. Further research should also focus on a practical assessment of the AF which can be easily used in clinical settings. A hand-held device could be applied in daily routines during a manual muscle test (MMT) since AF can manually be assessed by an MMT.

4.2 Assessment of the Adaptive Force by Use of a Manual Muscle Test

The special holding function of a muscle or muscle group (AF) can be assessed by the previously introduced pneumatic device. The standardized external force application is independent of the rater. However, the assessment requires high expenditure of time making clinical practice unfeasible. Another possibility to assess the AF is to measure forces and movements during an MMT [143,144]. The MMT should be outlined in the following since its principle is the basis of AF-measurements.

MMTs were firstly applied by Lovett and his colleagues with patients suffering from infantile paralysis as mentioned by Wright (1912) [145]. The test result was documented by numeric but subjective scores. Based on this idea several others, e.g., Lowman [146], Daniels, Williams and Worthingham [147], Medical Research Council [148], Janda [149], refined the method of testing and rating. However, during these MMTs the patient initiates the muscle action (\triangleq make test, comp. PIMA) and does not react and adapt to an external force (\triangleq break test, comp. HIMA). Thus, the holding function of a muscle is not tested. In order to deliver a quantification instead of subjective rating, Martin and Lovett described the spring balance test [150–152]. For that, a break test was performed. The measurement accuracy depends on exact readings of the spring balance scale at the moment when the limb gives way due to the pull of the examiner.

Based on Lovett's work, Kendall and Kendall described an MMTs which also tests the holding muscle function during a break test [153–155]. The alternative to perform a break test was also marginally mentioned by Daniels, Williams and Worthingham (1947) due to its simpler and quicker application especially with children [147]. In newer editions of this book, the break test became the dominant form of muscle testing [156]. Testing the holding function needs an external force like gravity or pressure (formerly termed as "resistance") [154]. "Pressure is used to denote the outside force applied by the examiner to determine the strength of the muscle holding in test position" (Kendall & Kendall, 1949, p. 7 [155]).

According to the descriptions in the international 5th edition of their book "Muscles Testing and Function with Posture and Pain" [157], which is used as gold standard, the examiner positions the patient in a way that the tested muscle is activated as isolated as possible from synergists. The respective muscle contracts in dependance of its function and testability partially or completely. Subsequently, the adjusted position should be held against gravity or additional EF applied by the examiner. The examiner assesses the muscle activity. Holding the position against gravity is rated as "sufficient" ("fair", or a numeric equivalence) activity. This rating is the most objective one. For assessments better than "sufficient", an EF of the examiner is necessary. The force rise needs to be "gradually" to give the patient a chance to adapt to the increasing force and consequently to hold the position. Such way of testing assesses the holding function of a muscle against an increasing EF. If the muscle can resist to an adequate force level or not is judged by experiences of the examiner. For description of the whole grading see [157]. The principle of such MMT is used by different healthcare professionals, especially Applied Kinesiologists [158,159], in daily practice. However, the subjectivity might be a hindrance for scientific purposes.

Henry O. Kendall designed one of the first analog hand-held devices already in 1941 to record forces during the MMT [157]. In the following, several other hand-held dynamometers were developed and used to assess intra- and intertester reliability of the applied EF of an MMTs in sense of break test [160–163] as well as validity of the MMT [164,165].

However, not only the maximal applied force but also the force rise during an MMT needs to be reliable within and between examiners. The reproducibility of force profiles during the MMT is an essential prerequisite for valid tests results which was tested [166]. Examiners with different MMT experiences (beginner, little experienced, experienced) showed dissimilar force profiles created against a fixed limb in order to exclude the influence of the patient [166]. Intra-individually, a low reproducibility was found even for some experienced testers [166]. However, some subjects of the beginner group showed a high reproducibility. These results indicate a need of standardization and practicing of the MMT. The training of force application should be conducted without a patient at first since the motor tasks gets more complex during such interaction. A suggestion for a standardized force profile during a MMT was proposed by Bittmann et al. (2020) [166].

During a break test, force measurements alone cannot give any information if the patient is able to hold a desired position against the examiners applied external force. Thus, it is not clear if the muscle action is isometric or merges into an eccentric one. It was shown that the reaction force between subject and examiner rises during yielding (eccentric phase) [144]. To capture AF, force as well as position or movement of a tested body part must be measured. Consequently, the moment of yield-ing (break off point) and the respective force (AFiso_{max}) can be determined. This might be the key variable in assessing the holding muscle function.

A prototype has been constructed to unify force and kinematic sensors within one hand-held device for a simultaneous recording of force and position of the tested body part [166]. By use of such devices it is possible to assess the AF in clinical settings and deliver a basis for advanced diagnostics but also for integrative research approaches, e.g., in medicine, psychology, health, sport and nutritional science as previously indicated by recent articles [167–169].

5 Overall Discussion

Isometric muscle function can differ visibly in respect of the performed task. The underlying muscle actions (HIMA and PIMA) have been partly distinguished by objective parameters. The presented four original articles, i.a., added data in this field of research and confirmed the hypothesis that HIMA and PIMA are differentiable. On the one hand, TTF tended to be shorter during HIMA compared to PIMA at moderate intensities. On the other hand, maximal forces differed between an exerted special form of HIMA (AFiso) and PIMA. Another research group has found that HIMA performed at constant loads (HIMA) was not significantly different from PIMA [103]. By combining these results, it is suggested to differentiate not only between HIMA and PIMA but also between a HIMA in sense of an adaptation to constant loads and an adaptation to varying or increasing loads (AFiso). However, more studies with greater sample sizes are indicated.

The found differences in TTF (HIMA < PIMA) and maximal force (AFiso < PIMA) might primarily be attributed to neuromuscular factors. Since differences on metabolic level cannot be excluded, oxy-genation might serve as an approach to explain results. Muscle function depends highly on energy supply and, therefore, oxygen delivery to muscle tissue. Thus, it is reasonable to discuss related insights first. Subsequently, the discussion focuses on neuromuscular aspects with regard to fatigue resistance and maximal generated force during different isometric muscle actions. At the end of the chapter, an outlook is given and limitations of the methods are discussed.

5.1 Recent Insights of Muscle Oxygenation under Isometry

An exclusively anaerobic energy supply is not very likely during fatiguing IMA of 60% MVIC and TTFs of about 30 s to 60 s achieved by subjects in the presented studies (publications 1 - 3).

Furthermore, anaerobic and aerobic metabolism is activated simultaneously during exercises (comp. chapter 1.2) [54,55].

The studies 1 - 3 revealed that an isometrically working biceps brachii muscle seems to be sufficiently supplied with oxygen and blood at least in the recorded superficial muscle tissue. During submaximal and even during maximal efforts, an increase in microcapillary blood content (rHb) partly occurred (type II behavior). This indicates a maintained blood supply for both submaximal and maximal IMAs. The heterogenous behavior of rHb can most likely be explained by the oxygen saturation level (publication 2). The suggested threshold of about 59% SvO₂ might trigger the blood regulation in order to prevent a further deoxygenation. Although such on-off mechanism is seldom seen in biological systems, presented data showed that this approach is comprehensible. It was further shown, that the modality of IMA probably does not play a role in the behavioral pattern (publication 3).

The findings of a sufficient oxygen and blood supply during short maximal and fatiguing submaximal IMA are partly in conflict with other opinions and studies which especially examined calf muscles. In those, blood flow was found to be decreased under conditions of isometry [76,80,113]. Regardless of methodological differences, the behavior might be specific to muscle and / or fiber type composition as already argued [77,78]. It was further stated that conflicting results between previous studies might partly be explained by differences in intramuscular pressure which is higher during shortening contractions compared to isometric ones [78]. However, the authors have been aware that it does not account for study designs including IMAs only [78].

Another approach might be that capillaries are not necessarily compressed during contraction as generally accepted (publication 2). This is in contrast to others who have argued that blood flow in muscle tissue is restricted in proportion to the intramuscular pressure [80,86-88,111]. Increasing tissue pressure is even correlated with a reduced nerve function in relation to compartment syndrome [170]. In contrast, it was suggested that nerves and capillaries might be protected from the arising intramuscular pressure by considering their geometrical configuration within muscle tissue as well as the oscillating character of muscle fibers during IMAs. The arguments are supported by histological data [171-173] and the described squeezing effect of intermittent contractions (skeletal-muscle pump) [75], with frequency of 10 - 15 Hz [32-38].

Increase of local muscular blood flow is thought to be centrally driven by higher cardiac output and redistribution of blood [174–177]. The latter is regulated by arterioles containing smoothed muscles for control. A homogenized and redistributed blood flow according to the longitudinal recruitment theory can serve as an understanding of the hemodynamic regulation of capillaries [175,177–180]. Bringing this together with the proposed 59%-threshold, SvO_2 -level or – in other words – a specific level of hypoxia might lead to a release of nitric oxide. NO is thought to be the primary stimulus of
vasodilation [181]. Sophisticated research designs with multiple methods are necessary in future to test if those suggestions hold true for IMA.

5.2 Fatigue Resistance of different Isometric Muscle Actions

The influence of energy metabolism on muscle function can especially be expressed by local muscle fatigue [47,52]. It might occur earlier if demanded oxygen supply is lacking during contraction [112]. However, oxygenation does not predict muscular endurance alone. The found low correlation of time to task failure (TTF) and the extent of deoxygenation suggest a possible independence of fatigue by the muscle oxygenation level as long as it does not reach zero. This is especially reasonable by considering the occurred steady state behavior of SvO₂.

Steady states indicate a balanced oxygen demand and supply. A rapidly increased oxygen consumption at the onset of muscular work probably leads to an initial decrease in SvO₂ and might be compensated by biological system. It is even reasonable that fluctuations in SvO₂ are not counteracted immediately to prevent frequent adjustments in vascular tone (blood flow regulation) [176]. Otherwise, a delay could be explained by slow regulation processes. Nevertheless, as long as oxygen saturation in muscle tissue is not critically low, muscle fatigue (TTF) might rather depend on other factors.

Muscle fatigue is a highly debated issue without scientific consensus. It is thought to occur either centrally (impaired α -motoneuron activation [182]) or peripherally (impaired intramuscular contractile function [52]). Several factors have been related to both forms [52,182,183], which should not all be discussed in detail here.

As reviewed by Westerblad and colleagues (2010) [52], Ca²⁺-sensitivity or -release rather explains peripheral fatigue than the occurrence of acidosis or reactive oxygen species. Isolated muscle fibers showed a decrease in cross-bridge force generation possibly depending on a decreased Ca²⁺-release during fatiguing stimulation [52]. It is argued that such regulation prevents a critical ATP concentration (danger of permanent rigor state) as soon as metabolic exhaustion emerges or inorganic phosphate concentration is too high [52].

It is controversial if central fatigue is involved during contractions especially during moderate to high intensities [52]. However, impairment of α -motoneurons could also be triggered by the high intramuscular pressure if the supplied muscle elicits a reflex inhibition or if intrafusal signaling support is deficient [41]. Furthermore, neuromuscular fatigue is, among other measurable changes, accompanied with the force (or work) generating capacity [183]. According to the found shorter TTFs during HIMA compared PIMA in the presented third study and previous ones [34,35,90,91,105,107,108], fatiguing factors might differ or be differentially modulated. A dissimilar neuromuscular control as potential reason was discussed as well [34], although some studies revealed no significant difference [90,91,108]. This hypothesis was based on the assumption that HIMA is closer related to eccentric muscle work and PIMA, by contrast, to concentric one [34]. The eccentric muscle action was associated with a more complex control strategy than concentric muscle actions [44–46,184]. This might explain the frequently found shorter TTF during HIMA on condition that the basic assumption is correct.

The assumption of a proximity of HIMA to eccentrics as well as of PIMA to concentrics was used regarding the sub-question on the influence of intermittent short and rapid muscle twitches during a weight holding task (Twitches) (publication 3). Pure weight holding is associated with HIMA and Twitches possibly with PIMA due to the concentric phases in between [34]. The comparison revealed a significantly longer TTF for Twitch compared to HIMA. This result would fit to a longer TTF during PIMA compared to HIMA – still under the assumption as mentioned above. It also indicates, that weight holding or position tasks might be influenced by concentric contractions. Such contractions probably occur to correct for position deviations in a freely moving system.

A reasonable criticism could be that HIMA is not a real isometric muscle action due to the quasistatic character. Thus, the termination "position hold" [48] or position task [90] is comprehensible. Sittig et al. (1987) proposed that PIMA is the (real) isometric contraction task and HIMA, by contrast, a movement task with zero velocity [185]. It could further be argued that there is no real isometry in working muscles [186], since slight oscillations with minimal shortenings and lengthenings occur [32–38]. Thus the term "homeometry" was proposed [186].

With regard to the oscillatory behavior, different MMG and EMG amplitudes at exhaustion have been discussed to explain a shorter TTF during HIMA (comp. chapter 1.3) [34]. The higher amplitudes during PIMA have been interpreted to support metabolic environment [34]. This line of arguments show that neuromuscular factors could be interrelated with metabolic ones and might suggest that there is not only one exclusive reason for longer TTFs during PIMA.

Despite little muscle oscillations as considered above, a control or prevention of switching into a significant concentric contraction during a holding task would be appropriate. Such a control was provided by use of the introduced measurement system for the detection of the Adaptive Force (publication 4). An AF measurement requires a special form of HIMA. For that, a person has to adapt to an increasing external force. This might be a more sensitive approach to detect differences between HIMA and PIMA compared to the usage of constant loads.

5.3 Isometric Voluntary Contraction vs. Isometric Adaptive Force

The measurement of isometric force endurance (e.g., by TTF) can be complemented by measuring the maximal isometric force capacity since both conditions are of relevance in daily activities. These often require an adaptation to external loads. If the maximal force capacity of a muscle is lower than

the external impact, respective joints are not stabilized adequately. Thus, not only the MVIC which is commonly accessed by PIMA, is relevant. The fourth study showed that under conditions of an externally applied force a muscle or a muscle group often starts to lengthen before the respective force level of the MVIC is reached. Thus, the load-bearing capacity during an adaptive holding (AFiso_{max}) might be lower compared to an initiating pushing or pulling one (MVIC). The latter does only require adjustments of tension and not of length which could be a key in the understanding of different control strategies.

Furthermore, AFiso_{max} also varies much more than the MVIC. This could be fateful in only one individual case. Such considerations could possibly serve as an approach to understand, why highly trained athletes get injured even during actually harmless strains (comp. non-contact traumata). That does not mean that an injury always follows to a low AFiso_{max}. However, the probability might increase especially if a low AFiso_{max} is a general condition.

A reduced AFiso_{max} despite a normal muscle function under PIMA conditions might be associated with a higher sensitivity to afferent signals during length regulation. This might be supported by studies which examined hand muscles. In comparison to a force control task, reflex responsiveness as well as stretch evoked stiffness increased to a greater extent with increasing force in position control particularly with unstable mechanical loads [95]. Moreover, long latency reflex responses to an evoked stretch seem to be greater during a position task (whereby external force was changed) than a force task (changed position) [93]. These findings indicate that the holding muscle function (inclusive of AFiso) might have such an increased sensibility to afferences. These could be, e.g., nociceptive signals or mental strains which affect the α -motoneuron pool during the force-length comparison via involvement of supraspinal pathways [166]. Such inhibitions would result in a control error and consequently muscle instabilities.

Based on the results of the fourth study it is suggested the $AFiso_{max}$ or its ratio to the MVIC or the AF_{max} should be quantified separately to or in addition to the MVIC since it could serve as an indicator of the functionality of the neuromuscular system and subsequently in the prediction of injuries or musculoskeletal complaints. As an advantage of using a ratio as normalization of AFiso_{max}, no reference values are necessary.

5.4 Outlook – Clinical Assessment of the Isometric Adaptive Force

Another possibility and more practical way to assess the neuromuscular holding function (AFiso_{max}) is by use of an MMT in sense of a break test. During this kind of MMT, the tested person (patient) has to adapt to the varying force applied by the examiner (tester). As long as the forces of the patient and tester are equal, the muscle action is isometric. Consequently, two different isometric modalities work against each other: PIMA by the tester and HIMA by the patient.

In contrast to Daniels et al. (1947) [147], Schmidt and Rogers (1982) have argued a make test is easier to perform compared to a break test and, therefore, it is more reliable [187]. A recent study of our research group showed that in individual cases, experienced testers could reveal insufficient reliable force profiles during a MMT against a fixed limb [166].

The reproducibility of force profiles is an essential prerequisite for valid tests results. Most experienced testers (n = 6 of 9) and surprisingly some beginners (n = 2 of 12) have fulfilled strict requirements of reliability [166]. Little experienced testers (n = 8) have not reached high reproducibility between their ten force profiles. The results indicate the need of practicing the MMT especially for beginners and little experienced testers. The introduced hand-held dynamometer can easily be used to control the force profiles [166]. Even some experienced testers might benefit through training of their sensorimotor skills. The training of force application should be conducted at first without a patient since the motor tasks gets more complex during such interaction. Furthermore, different styles of testing are expectable between examiners. In order to reach a higher acceptance of the MMT as a clinical tool in medicine and science, it has to be standardized. A suggestion for a standardization has been put up for discussion based on the average curves of two experienced testers.

During a real MMT the proposed force profile can only be achieved if the patient is able to maintain a stable isometric resistance. The maximal force level during the test can hardly be equal to the maximal force of the subject. It would always be lower unless the maximal holding capacity of the patient is broken by the applied force. The test could be rated as positive, i.e., patient gives way in a binary grading system. Measuring the exact force at the moment of giving way is a far better way of quantification. However, the applied force should also be high enough to detect a potential insufficient holding function of the tested muscle. An applied force close to the patient's maximum force avoids false negative test results. In this regard, the physical constitution of the patient needs to be taken into account. This points out the complexity of a real MMT and indicates more research based on the theory of the AF.

Future examinations could further address potential influencing factors on the Adaptive Force. The pneumatic device presented in the fourth study or the discussed hand-held device in conjunction with an MMT as a practical alternative can be used. Although parallel-test reliability remains, both devices are able to quantify AFiso reliably. In this regard complex biological links between muscle function and, e.g., emotions could be analyzed. Study approaches and first data were provided recently [167–169]. It could further be questioned if the holding muscle function is trainable. According to the presented high explained variance by other forces, AFiso is suggested to be integrated in the conditional ability of strength. Thus, it might be improvable by training as well. However, inhibitory afferences can – if present – not inevitably be resolved by training. Thus, the treatment of the cause of inhibiting factors must be on focus.

Nevertheless, there are musculoskeletal disorders with unknown causes. Adolescent idiopathic scoliosis serves as an example. The holding function of suffering patients is probably abnormal since bones are not aligned as usual (3D deformation). A training regime has been developed to train the holding function of scoliosis specific muscles by use of climbing exercises [188,189]. In an ongoing randomized controlled study, it is questioned if the special training regime has a compensatory effect on the spine. Results will be presented in near future.

5.5 Limitations

The first three studies had an explorative character. According to the low sample sizes, they should be seen as pilots. In contrast, the fourth study provided a power calculation. Multiple testing in the explorative studies was accepted [190,191]. Furthermore, the possibility of an increased type 1 error could be ruled out, because none of the oxygen variables showed a significant difference.

Oxygen saturation cannot be measured by a gold standard [192]. Regarding spectrophotometric measurements, the general main limitations must be noticed [126,127,135,136,193]: Although local capillary-venous blood mainly influences the recordings, arterial blood cannot be excluded completely [126,135–137]. Skin perfusion might confound signals in response to temperature rise during exercise but the influence is discussed controversially [127]. Furthermore, skin pigmentation and adipose tissue are relevant light absorbers [127].

In specific regard to the used probes with a source-detector separation of 14.5 mm, a maximal light penetration depth of 12 mm was reached. Thus, superficial muscle tissue was examined. Probably, the exact depth had varied between subjects. Subcutaneous fat levels were not determined. However, skin fold thickness on the anterior side of the upper arm was assumed to be low in the normal weighted participants. As indicated by pre-test, obvious thick layer of subcutaneous fat would not allow the sent light to reach into muscle tissue. All findings in regard of SvO₂ and rHb need to be interpreted by considering these limitations. Especially statements of deeper regions of the muscle should be reserved, where intramuscular pressure might be higher [86,194].

Furthermore, it should be noticed that elbow angles were visually assessed by the rater. Thus, TTFs and extents of twitches might have been influenced by that limitation. Since this is assumed to be a random error, the influence was expected to be low. Unbalanced orders of measurement series (HIMA vs. PIMA; HIMA vs. Twitch) caused by drop outs from the statistical analyses might have biased the results, especially the TTF due to effects of fatigue. Furthermore, it must be noticed that the human body is highly adaptable [195]. Effects of different training status but also gender or age were not analyzed within the research program and should be considered in future.

Regarding the fourth study, the Adaptive Force was rarely measured before and there seems to be no equivalence. Adequate measurement devices are not marketed, yet. Thus, a new one was introduced. Under theoretical static conditions, the force rise is fully standardized provided by the system. However, expansion of the bellows cylinder reduces the pressure within the system and force slope flattens as a consequence. According to the individual dynamics of each trial, force slopes slightly varied in between. This, was accepted to capture the AF which prescribes a subject controlled movement velocity by concept [138,139]. The force increase might have been too abrupt for some subjects. This issue was already solved for future measurements by interposing a motor-controlled valve. At last, the determination of AFiso_{max} might have been influenced by the limit values within the algorithm.

6 Proposals for further Research

According to the mentioned limitations, the presented studies do not provide complete evidence to draw final conclusions. However, the following proposals should be offered for scientific discourse:

- The behavior of local capillary-venous oxygen saturation (SvO₂) and relative hemoglobin amount (rHb) during maximal and submaximal isometric muscle actions should be differentiated into two types (publication 1).
- The type might depend on the level of deoxygenation. A threshold of about 59% is suggested which determines the increase in blood filling (publication 2).
- In contrast, the type is probably independent of the performed isometric task (HIMA or PIMA).
 In this regard, oxygen saturation might not serve as an objective parameter to distinguish the hypothesized two forms of isometry (publication 3).
- Muscle actions, even performed isometrically might not inevitably compress capillaries within muscle tissue as generally assumed. Thus, blood flow could be maintained and could even increase. (publication 2)
- As a consequence, oxygen demand of superficial muscle tissue might be supplied sufficiently during maximal and submaximal IMA (HIMA and PIMA) as indicated and shown by homeostatic steady states (publications 1 – 3).
- Intermittent voluntary muscle twitches do not substantially support the oxygen and blood supply during a weight holding task. However, the time to task failure (TTF) was found to be longer compared to weight holding alone. This might be caused by a changed neuromuscular control which remains highly speculative (publication 3).
- PIMAs could possibly be maintained longer compared to HIMAs not only at low but also at moderate intensities (publication 3).

- TTF is probably independent of the extent of deoxygenation as long as this is not critically low. (publication 3)
- It is hypothesized that a prior concentric contraction to an MVIC-test does not influence its result (publication 4).
- AF measures (AFiso_{max} and AF_{max}) can be assessed reliably by a pneumatic device (publication 4).
- AFiso_{max} could be integrated into the conditional ability of strength. However, its biological variability is higher compared to other maximal forces (publication 4).
- In relation to AF_{max} or MVIC, the AFiso_{max} could be a relevant parameter in assessing muscular function. It is understood as an indicator of the functionality of the neuromuscular system to adapt adequately to external forces (publication 4).
- If the adaptive holding capacity of a muscle is very low, related joints might be stabilized insufficiently and injuries or other musculoskeletal complaints might follow (publication 4).
- The clinical assessment of AFiso_{max} by use of a hand-held device during an MMT could be a practical alternative to the introduced pneumatic device. Reproducible force rises provided by the examiner are an essential prerequisite for valid test results (overall discussion).
- It is suggested to differ not only between holding and pulling or pushing isometric muscle actions but also between an adaptation to constant loads and to varying or increasing loads (overall discussion).

7 References

- 1. Bernard, C. *Introduction to the Study of Experimental Medicine*; Henry Schuman Inc.: New York, US, **1949**.
- 2. Schröter, W.; Harre, D.; Bauersfeld, M. Fundamentals and Methods of Strength Training. In *Harre, D. (Ed.). Principles of Sports Training Introduction to the theory and Methods of Training*; Sportverlag: Berlin, **1982**.
- 3. Faulkner, J.A. Terminology for Contractions of Muscles during Shortening, While Isometric, and during Lengthening. *J. Appl. Physiol.* **2003**, *95*, 455–459, doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00280.2003.
- 4. Schaefer, L.V.; Bittmann, F.N. Muscular Pre-Activation Can Boost the Maximal Explosive Eccentric Adaptive Force. *Front. Physiol.* **2019**, *10*, doi:10.3389/fphys.2019.00910.
- 5. Squire, J. Special Issue: The Actin-Myosin Interaction in Muscle: Background and Overview. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* **2019**, *20*, 5715, doi:10.3390/ijms20225715.
- 6. Enoka, R.M.; Farina, D. Force Steadiness: From Motor Units to Voluntary Actions. *Physiology* **2021**, 36, 114–130, doi:10.1152/physiol.00027.2020.
- 7. Huxley, H.; Hanson, J. Changes in the Cross-Striations of Muscle during Contraction and Stretch and Their Structural Interpretation. *Nature* **1954**, *173*, 973–976, doi:10.1038/173973a0.
- 8. Huxley, A.F.; Niedergerke, R. Structural Changes in Muscle During Contraction: Interference Microscopy of Living Muscle Fibres. *Nature* **1954**, *173*, 971–973, doi:10.1038/173971a0.
- 9. Huxley, A.F. Muscle Structure and Theories of Contraction. *Prog. Biophys. Biophys. Chem.* **1957**, *7*, 255–318, doi:10.1016/S0096-4174(18)30128-8.
- 10. Huxley, H.E. The Mechanism of Muscular Contraction. *Science* **1969**, *164*, 1356–1365, doi:10.1126/science.164.3886.1356.
- 11. Huxley, A.F.; Simmons, R.M. Proposed Mechanism of Force Generation in Striated Muscle. *Nature* **1971**, 233, 533–538, doi:10.1038/233533a0.
- 12. Rayment, I.; Holden, H.M.; Whittaker, M.; Yohn, C.B.; Lorenz, M.; Holmes, K.C.; Milligan, R.A. Structure of the Actin-Myosin Complex and Its Implications for Muscle Contraction. *Science* **1993**, *261*, 58– 65, doi:10.1126/science.8316858.
- 13. Herzog, W. Mechanisms of Enhanced Force Production in Lengthening (Eccentric) Muscle Contractions. *J. Appl. Physiol.* **2014**, *116*, 1407–1417, doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00069.2013.
- Curtin, N.A.; West, T.G.; Ferenczi, M.A.; He, Z.H.; Sun, Y.B.; Irving, M.; Woledge, R.C. Rate of Actomyosin ATP Hydrolysis Diminishes during Isometric Contraction. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* 2003, 538, 613– 626, doi:10.1007/978-1-4419-9029-7_54.
- Russ, D.W.; Elliott, M.A.; Vandenborne, K.; Walter, G.A.; Binder-Macleod, S.A. Metabolic Costs of Isometric Force Generation and Maintenance of Human Skeletal Muscle. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 2002, 282, E448–E457, doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00285.2001.
- 16. Mutungi, G.; Ranatunga, K.W. Sarcomere Length Changes during End-Held (Isometric) Contractions in Intact Mammalian (Rat) Fast and Slow Muscle Fibres. *J. Muscle. Res. Cell. Motil.* **2000**, *21*, 565–575, doi:10.1023/A:1026588408907.
- 17. Sugi, H.; Gomi, S. Cinematographic Studies on the A-Band Length Changes during Ca-Activated Contraction in Horseshoe Crab Muscle Myofibrils. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* **1984**, *170*, 107–118, doi:10.1007/978-1-4684-4703-3_10.
- 18. Mijailovich, S.M.; Fredberg, J.J.; Butler, J.P. On the Theory of Muscle Contraction: Filament Extensibility and the Development of Isometric Force and Stiffness. *Biophys. J.* **1996**, *71*, 1475–1484, doi:10.1016/S0006-3495(96)79348-7.
- Offer, G.; Ranatunga, K.W. Crossbridge and Filament Compliance in Muscle: Implications for Tension Generation and Lever Arm Swing. *J. Muscle. Res. Cell. Motil.* **2010**, *31*, 245–265, doi:10.1007/s10974-010-9232-7.
- 20. Telley, I.A.; Stehle, R.; Ranatunga, K.W.; Pfitzer, G.; Stüssi, E.; Denoth, J. Dynamic Behaviour of Half-Sarcomeres during and after Stretch in Activated Rabbit Psoas Myofibrils: Sarcomere Asymmetry but No 'Sarcomere Popping.' *J. Physiol.* **2006**, *573*, 173–185, doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2006.105809.
- 21. Pollack, G.H. The Cross-Bridge Theory. *Physiol. Rev.* **1983**, 63, 1049–1113, doi: 10.1152/physrev.1983.63.3.1049.

- 22. Katz, B. The Relation between Force and Speed in Muscular Contraction. *J. Physiol.* **1939**, *96*, 45–64, doi:10.1113/jphysiol.1939.sp003756.
- 23. Hill, A.V. The Heat of Shortening and the Dynamic Constants of Muscle. *Proc. Biol. Sci. Vol.* **1938**, *126*, 136–195, doi:10.1098/rspb.1938.0050.
- 24. Telley, I.A.; Denoth, J.; Stüssi, E.; Pfitzer, G.; Stehle, R. Half-Sarcomere Dynamics in Myofibrils during Activation and Relaxation Studied by Tracking Fluorescent Markers. *Biophys. J.* **2006**, *90*, 514–530, doi:10.1529/biophysj.105.070334.
- 25. Rassier, D.E.; Herzog, W.; Pollack, G.H. Dynamics of Individual Sarcomeres during and after Stretch in Activated Single Myofibrils. *Proc. Biol. Sci.* **2003**, 270, 1735–1740, doi:10.1098/rspb.2003.2418.
- 26. Joumaa, V.; Leonard, T. r; Herzog, W. Residual Force Enhancement in Myofibrils and Sarcomeres. *Proc. Biol. Sci.* **2008**, *275*, 1411–1419, doi:10.1098/rspb.2008.0142.
- 27. Leonard, T.R.; Herzog, W. Regulation of Muscle Force in the Absence of Actin-Myosin-Based Cross-Bridge Interaction. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell. Physiol.* **2010**, 299, C14–C20, doi:10.1152/ajpcell.00049.2010.
- 28. Stöcker, U.; Telley, I.A.; Denoth, J. Inhomogenität von Halb-Sarkomer-Längen beeinflusst die Krafterzeugung in Myofibrillen Welchen Einfluss hat die biologische Variabilität der Halb-Sarkomere auf das Verhalten von Myofibrillen? *Schweiz. Z. Sportmed. Sporttraum.* **2008**, *56*, 88–94.
- 29. Stoecker, U.; Telley, I.A.; Stüssi, E.; Denoth, J. A Multisegmental Cross-Bridge Kinetics Model of the Myofibril. *J. Theor. Biol.* **2009**, 259, 714–726, doi:10.1016/j.jtbi.2009.03.032.
- Llewellyn, M.E.; Barretto, R.P.J.; Delp, S.L.; Schnitzer, M.J. Minimally Invasive High-Speed Imaging of Sarcomere Contractile Dynamics in Mice and Humans. *Nature* 2008, 454, 784–788, doi:10.1038/nature07104.
- 31. Knupp, C.; Squire, J.M. Myosin Cross-Bridge Behaviour in Contracting Muscle—The T1 Curve of Huxley and Simmons (1971) Revisited. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* **2019**, *20*, 4892, doi:10.3390/ijms20194892.
- 32. McAuley, J.H.; Marsden, C.D. Physiological and Pathological Tremors and Rhythmic Central Motor Control. *Brain* **2000**, *123*, 1545–1567, doi:10.1093/brain/123.8.1545.
- 33. Yoshitake, Y.; Ue, H.; Miyazaki, M.; Moritani, T. Assessment of Lower-Back Muscle Fatigue Using Electromyography, Mechanomyography, and near-Infrared Spectroscopy. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* **2001**, *84*, 174–179, doi:10.1007/s004210170001.
- Schaefer, L.V.; Bittmann, F.N. Are There Two Forms of Isometric Muscle Action? Results of the Experimental Study Support a Distinction between a Holding and a Pushing Isometric Muscle Function. *BMC Sports Sci. Med. Rehabil.* 2017, 9, 11, doi:10.1186/s13102-017-0075-z.
- 35. Schaefer, L.V.; Bittmann, F.N. Paired Personal Interaction Reveals Objective Differences between Pushing and Holding Isometric Muscle Action. *PLOS One.* **2021**, *16*, e0238331, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0238331.
- Schaefer, L.V.; Torick, A.H.; Matuschek, H.; Holschneider, M.; Bittmann, F.N. Synchronization of Muscular Oscillations Between Two Subjects During Isometric Interaction. *Eur. J. Transl. Myol.* 2014, 24, 2237, doi:10.4081/ejtm.2014.2237.
- 37. Schaefer, L.V.; Bittmann, F.N. Coherent Behavior of Neuromuscular Oscillations between Isometrically Interacting Subjects: Experimental Study Utilizing Wavelet Coherence Analysis of Mechanomyographic and Mechanotendographic Signals. *Sci. Rep.* **2018**, *8*, 15456, doi:10.1038/s41598-018-33579-5.
- Schaefer, L.V.; Löffler, N.; Klein, J.; Bittmann, F.N. Mechanomyography and Acceleration Show Interlimb Asymmetries in Parkinson Patients without Tremor Compared to Controls during a Unilateral Motor Task. *Sci. Rep.* 2021, *11*, 2631, doi:10.1038/s41598-021-81672-z.
- 39. Merletti, R.; Parker, P.J. *Electromyography: Physiology, Engineering, and Non-Invasive Applications*; 1st ed.; John Wiley & Sons, Ltd: New Jersey, USA, **2004**; ISBN 0-471-67580-6.
- 40. Duchateau, J.; Enoka, R.M. Human Motor Unit Recordings: Origins and Insight into the Integrated Motor System. *Brain Res.* **2011**, *1409*, 42–61, doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2011.06.011.
- 41. Fallentin, N.; Jørgensen, K.; Simonsen, E.B. Motor Unit Recruitment during Prolonged Isometric Contractions. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* **1993**, *67*, 335–341, doi:10.1007/BF00357632.
- 42. Freund, H.J. Motor Unit and Muscle Activity in Voluntary Motor Control. *Physiol. Rev.* **1983**, *63*, 387–436, doi:10.1152/physrev.1983.63.2.387.
- 43. Farmer, S.F. Rhythmicity, Synchronization and Binding in Human and Primate Motor Systems. *J. Physiol.* **1998**, *509*, 3–14, doi:10.1111/j.1469-7793.1998.003bo.x.

- 44. Enoka, R.M. Eccentric Contractions Require Unique Activation Strategies by the Nervous System. *J. App. Physiol.* **1996**, *81*, 2339–2346, doi:10.1152/jappl.1996.81.6.2339.
- 45. Duchateau, J.; Enoka, R.M. Neural Control of Shortening and Lengthening Contractions: Influence of Task Constraints. *J. Physiol.* **2008**, *586*, 5853–5864, doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2008.160747.
- 46. Duchateau, J.; Enoka, R.M. Neural Control of Lengthening Contractions. *J. Exp. Biol.* **2016**, *219*, 197–204, doi:10.1242/jeb.123158.
- Moritani, T.; Stegeman, D.; Merletti, R. Basic Physiology and Biophysics of EMG Signal Generation. In *Electromyography: physiology, engineering, and non-invasive applications*; Merletti, R., Parker, P.J., Eds.; John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, **2004**; pp. 1–25 ISBN 978-0-471-67838-0.
- 48. Tax, A.A.M.; van der Gon, J.J.D.; Gielen, C.C.A.M.; van den Tempel, C.M.M. Differences in the Activation of m. Biceps Brachii in the Control of Slow Isotonic Movements and Isometric Contractions. *Exp. Brain. Res.* **1989**, *76*, 55–63, doi:10.1007/BF00253623.
- 49. Theeuwen, M.; Gielen, C.C.A.M.; Miller, L.E. The Relative Activation of Muscles during Isometric Contractions and Low-Velocity Movements against a Load. *Exp. Brain. Res.* **1994**, *101*, 493–505, doi:10.1007/BF00227342.
- Stotz, A.; Maghames, E.; Mason, J.; Groll, A.; Zech, A. Maximum Isometric Torque at Individually-Adjusted Joint Angles Exceeds Eccentric and Concentric Torque in Lower Extremity Joint Actions. *BMC Sports Sci. Med. Rehabil.* 2022, *14*, 13, doi:10.1186/s13102-022-00401-9.
- 51. Westing, S.H.; Seger, J.Y.; Thorstensson, A. Effects of Electrical Stimulation on Eccentric and Concentric Torque-Velocity Relationships during Knee Extension in Man. *Acta. Physiol. Scand.* **1990**, *140*, 17–22, doi:10.1111/j.1748-1716.1990.tb08971.x.
- 52. Westerblad, H.; Bruton, J.D.; Katz, A. Skeletal Muscle: Energy Metabolism, Fiber Types, Fatigue and Adaptability. *Exp. Cell Res.* **2010**, *316*, 3093–3099, doi:10.1016/j.yexcr.2010.05.019.
- 53. Glancy, B.; Balaban, R.S. Energy Metabolism Design of the Striated Muscle Cell. *Physiol. Rev.* **2021**, *101*, 1561–1607, doi:10.1152/physrev.00040.2020.
- 54. Barclay, C.J. Energy Demand and Supply in Human Skeletal Muscle. *J. Muscle Res. Cell Motil.* **2017**, *38*, 143–155, doi:10.1007/s10974-017-9467-7.
- 55. Hargreaves, M.; Spriet, L.L. Skeletal Muscle Energy Metabolism during Exercise. *Nat. Metab.* **2020**, *2*, 817–828, doi:10.1038/s42255-020-0251-4.
- 56. Barclay, C.J. Energetics of Contraction. Compr. Physiol.; 2015, 5, 961–995, doi:10.1002/cphy.c140038.
- 57. Hultman, E.; Greenhaff, P.L.; Ren, J.-M.; Söderlund, K. Energy Metabolism and Fatigue during Intense Muscle Contraction. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* **1991**, *19*, 347–353, doi:10.1042/bst0190347.
- 58. Moritani, T.; Sherman, W.M.; Shibata, M.; Matsumoto, T.; Shinohara, M. Oxygen Availability and Motor Unit Activity in Humans. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* **1992**, *64*, 552–556, doi:10.1007/BF00843767.
- 59. Bolstad, G.; Ersland, A. Energy Metabolism in Different Human Skeletal Muscles during Voluntary Isometric Contractions. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* **1978**, *38*, 171–179, doi:10.1007/BF00430075.
- 60. van der Zee, T.J.; Kuo, A.D. The High Energetic Cost of Rapid Force Development in Muscle. *J. Exp. Biol.* **2021**, 224, doi:10.1242/jeb.233965.
- 61. Sih, B.L.; Stuhmiller, J.H. The Metabolic Cost of Force Generation. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* **2003**, *35*, 623–629, doi:10.1249/01.MSS.0000058435.67376.49.
- Ryschon, T.W.; Fowler, M.D.; Wysong, R.E.; Anthony, A.; Balaban, R.S. Efficiency of Human Skeletal Muscle in Vivo: Comparison of Isometric, Concentric, and Eccentric Muscle Action. *J. Appl. Physiol.* **1997**, *83*, 867–874, doi:10.1152/jappl.1997.83.3.867.
- 63. Newham, D.J.; Jones, D.A.; Turner, D.L.; McIntyre, D. The Metabolic Costs of Different Types of Contractile Activity of the Human Adductor Pollicis Muscle. *J. Physiol.* **1995**, *488*, 815–819, doi:10.1113/jphysiol.1995.sp021013.
- 64. Gollnick, P.D.; Karlsson, J.; Piehl, K.; Saltin, B. Selective Glycogen Depletion in Skeletal Muscle Fibres of Man Following Sustained Contractions. *J. Physiol.* **1974**, *241*, 59–67, doi:10.1113/jphys-iol.1974.sp010640.
- Ratkevičius, A.; Mizuno, M.; Povilonis, E.; Quistorff, B. Energy Metabolism of the Gastrocnemius and Soleus Muscles during Isometric Voluntary and Electrically Induced Contractions in Man. *J. Physiol.* **1998**, 507, 593–602, doi:10.1111/j.1469-7793.1998.593bt.x.

- Petrofsky, J.S.; Phillips, C.A.; Sawka, M.N.; Hanpeter, D.; Stafford, D. Blood Flow and Metabolism during Isometric Contractions in Cat Skeletal Muscle. *J. Appl. Physiol.* **1981**, *50*, 493–502, doi:10.1152/jappl.1981.50.3.493.
- 67. Sawka, M.N.; Petrofsky, J.S.; Phillips, C.A. Energy Cost of Submaximal Isometric Contractions in Cat Fast and Slow Twitch Muscles. *Pflugers Arch.* **1981**, *390*, 164–168, doi:10.1007/BF00590201.
- 68. Russ, D.W.; Lanza, I.R.; Rothman, D.; Kent-Braun, J.A. Sex Differences in Glycolysis during Brief, Intense Isometric Contractions. *Muscle & Nerve* **2005**, *32*, 647–655, doi:10.1002/mus.20396.
- 69. Byström, S. Estimation of Aerobic and Anaerobic Metabolism in Isometric Forearm Exercise. *Ups. J. Med. Sci.* **1994**, 99, 51–62, doi:10.3109/03009739409179350.
- 70. Ahlborg, B.; Bergström, J.; Ekelund, L.G.; Guarnieri, G.; Harris, R.C.; Hultman, E.; Nordesjö, L.O. Muscle Metabolism during Isometric Exercise Performed at Constant Force. *J. App. Physiol.* **1972**, *33*, 224–228, doi:10.1152/jappl.1972.33.2.224.
- 71. Burnley, M.; Vanhatalo, A.; Fulford, J.; Jones, A.M. Similar Metabolic Perturbations during All-out and Constant Force Exhaustive Exercise in Humans: A 31P Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy Study. *Exp. Physiol.* **2010**, *95*, 798–807, doi:10.1113/expphysiol.2010.052688.
- 72. McArdle, W.D.; Katch, F.I.; Katch, V.L. *Exercise Physiology: Nutrition, Energy, and Human Performance*; 7th ed.; Lippincott Williams & Wilkins: Philadelphia, PA, USA, **2010**; ISBN 978-0-7817-9781-8.
- Boutellier, U. Sport- und Arbeitsphysiologie. In *Physiologie des Menschen: mit Pathophysiologie*; Schmidt, R.F., Lang, F., Heckmann, M., Eds.; Springer-Lehrbuch; Springer: Berlin, Heidelberg, **2011**; pp. 854–876 ISBN 978-3-642-01651-6.
- 74. Mairbäurl, H. Leistungsphysiologie. In *Physiologie*; Pape, H., Kurtz, A., Silbernagel, S., Eds.; Thieme: Stuttgart, **2019** ISBN 978-3-13-242391-6.
- 75. Principles of Physiology; Berne, R.M., Levy, M.N., Eds.; 2nd ed.; 1995; ISBN 978-0-8151-0523-7.
- 76. Barcroft, H.; Millen, J.L.E. The Blood Flow through Muscle during Sustained Contraction. *J. Physiol.* **1939**, *97*, 17–31, doi:10.1113/jphysiol.1939.sp003789.
- 77. Barcroft, H.; Greenwood, B.; Whelan, R.F. Blood Flow and Venous Oxygen Saturation during Sustained Contraction of the Forearm Muscles. *J. Physiol.* **1963**, *168*, 848–856, doi:10.1113/jphys-iol.1963.sp007226.
- 78. Humphreys, P.W.; Lind, A.R. The Blood Flow through Active and Inactive Muscles of the Forearm during Sustained Hand-Grip Contractions. *J. Physiol.* **1963**, *166*, 120–135, doi:10.1113/jphysiol.1963.sp007094.
- 79. Grant, R.T. Observations on the Blood Circulation in Voluntary Muscle in Man. *Clin Sci* **1938**, 3, 1937–1938.
- Sadamoto, T.; Bonde-Petersen, F.; Suzuki, Y. Skeletal Muscle Tension, Flow, Pressure, and EMG during Sustained Isometric Contractions in Humans. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol. Occup. Physiol.* 1983, *51*, 395– 408, doi:10.1007/BF00429076.
- Wesche, J. The Time Course and Magnitude of Blood Flow Changes in the Human Quadriceps Muscles Following Isometric Contraction. *J. Physiol.* **1986**, 377, 445–462, doi:10.1113/jphysiol.1986.sp016197.
- Casey, D.P.; Curry, T.B.; Joyner, M.J. Measuring Muscle Blood Flow a Key Link Between Systemic and Regional Metabolism. *Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care* 2008, *11*, 580–586, doi:10.1097/MCO.0b013e32830b5b34.
- 83. Tabrizchi, R.; Pugsley, M.K. Methods of Blood Flow Measurement in the Arterial Circulatory System. *Journal of Pharmacological and Toxicological Methods* **2000**, *44*, 375–384, doi:10.1016/S1056-8719(00)00123-4.
- 84. Start, K.B.; Holmes, R. Local Muscle Endurance with Open and Occluded Intramuscular Circulation. *Journal of Applied Physiology* **1963**, *18*, 804–807, doi:10.1152/jappl.1963.18.4.804.
- 85. Royce, J. Isometric Fatigue Curves in Human Muscle with Normal and Occluded Circulation. *Res. Q. Am. Assoc. Health Phys. Educ.* **1958**, *29*, 204–212, doi:10.1080/10671188.1958.10612983.
- 86. Sejersted, O.M.; Hargens, A.R.; Kardel, K.R.; Blom, P.; Jensen, O.; Hermansen, L. Intramuscular Fluid Pressure during Isometric Contraction of Human Skeletal Muscle. *J. App. Physiol.* **1984**, *56*, 287–295, doi:10.1152/jappl.1984.56.2.287.
- 87. Sjøgaard, G.; Savard, G.; Juel, C. Muscle Blood Flow during Isometric Activity and Its Relation to Muscle Fatigue. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol. Occup. Physiol.* **1988**, *57*, 327–335, doi:10.1007/BF00635992.

- 88. Jensen, B.R.; Jørgensen, K.; Hargens, A.R.; Nielsen, P.K.; Nicolaisen, T. Physiological Response to Submaximal Isometric Contractions of the Paravertebral Muscles: *Spine* **1999**, *24*, 2332–2338, doi:10.1097/00007632-199911150-00008.
- 89. Järvholm, U.; Styf, J.; Suurkula, M.; Herberts, P. Intramuscular Pressure and Muscle Blood Flow in Supraspinatus. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* **1988**, *58*, 219–224, doi:10.1007/BF00417252.
- 90. Rudroff, T.; Barry, B.K.; Stone, A.L.; Barry, C.J.; Enoka, R.M. Accessory Muscle Activity Contributes to the Variation in Time to Task Failure for Different Arm Postures and Loads. *J. Appl. Physiol.* **2007**, *102*, 1000–1006, doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00564.2006.
- Rudroff, T.; Justice, J.N.; Holmes, M.R.; Matthews, S.D.; Enoka, R.M. Muscle Activity and Time to Task Failure Differ with Load Compliance and Target Force for Elbow Flexor Muscles. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 2011, *110*, 125–136, doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00605.2010.
- 92. Rudroff, T.; Kalliokoski, K.K.; Block, D.E.; Gould, J.R.; Klingensmith, W.C.; Enoka, R.M. PET/CT Imaging of Age- and Task-Associated Differences in Muscle Activity during Fatiguing Contractions. *J. Appl. Physiol.* **2013**, *114*, 1211–1219, doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.01439.2012.
- 93. Doemges, F.; Rack, P.M. Changes in the Stretch Reflex of the Human First Dorsal Interosseous Muscle during Different Tasks. *J. Physiol.* **1992**, *447*, 563–573, doi:10.1113/jphysiol.1992.sp019018.
- Semmler, J.G.; Kornatz, K.W.; Dinenno, D.V.; Zhou, S.; Enoka, R.M. Motor Unit Synchronisation Is Enhanced during Slow Lengthening Contractions of a Hand Muscle. *J. Physiol.* 2002, 545, 681–695, doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2002.026948.
- 95. Akazawa, K.; Milner, T.E.; Stein, R.B. Modulation of Reflex EMG and Stiffness in Response to Stretch of Human Finger Muscle. *J. Neurophysiol.* **1983**, *49*, 16–27, doi:10.1152/jn.1983.49.1.16.
- 96. Buchanan, T.S.; Lloyd, D.G. Muscle Activity Is Different for Humans Performing Static Tasks Which Require Force Control and Position Control. *Neurosci. Lett.* **1995**, *194*, 61–64, doi:10.1016/0304-3940(95)11727-E.
- 97. Garner, J.C.; Blackburn, T.; Weimar, W.; Campbell, B. Comparison of Electromyographic Activity during Eccentrically versus Concentrically Loaded Isometric Contractions. *J. Electromyogr. Kinesiol.* **2008**, *18*, 466–471, doi:10.1016/j.jelekin.2006.11.006.
- Oranchuk, D.J.; Storey, A.G.; Nelson, A.R.; Cronin, J.B. Isometric Training and Long-Term Adaptations: Effects of Muscle Length, Intensity, and Intent: A Systematic Review. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 2019, 29, 484–503, doi:10.1111/sms.13375.
- 99. Marmon, A.R.; Pozzi, F.; Alnahdi, A.H.; Zeni, J.A. The Validity of Plantarflexor Strength Measures Obtained through Hand-held Dynamometry Measurements of Force. *Int. J. Sports Phys. Ther.* **2013**, *8*, 820–827.
- Machado Rodrigues, F.; Demeyer, H.; Hornikx, M.; Camillo, C.A.; Calik-Kutukcu, E.; Burtin, C.; Janssens, W.; Troosters, T.; Osadnik, C. Validity and Reliability of Strain Gauge Measurement of Volitional Quadriceps Force in Patients with COPD. *Chron. Respir. Dis.* 2017, *14*, 289–297, doi:10.1177/1479972316687210.
- 101. Schlumberger, A.; Schmidtbleicher, D. Grundlagen der Kraftdiagnostik in Prävention und Rehabilitation. *Man. Medizin* **2000**, *38*, 223–231, doi:10.1007/s003370070022.
- 102. Martin, H.J.; Yule, V.; Syddall, H.E.; Dennison, E.M.; Cooper, C.; Sayer, A.A. Is Hand-Held Dynamometry Useful for the Measurement of Quadriceps Strength in Older People? A Comparison with the Gold Standard Biodex Dynamometry. *Gerontology* **2006**, *52*, 154–159, doi:10.1159/000091824.
- 103. Kahn, J.F.; Kapitaniak, B.; Monod, H. Comparison of Two Modalities When Exerting Isometric Contractions. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* **1985**, *54*, 331–335, doi:10.1007/BF00426155.
- 104. Schaefer, L.V.; Bittmann, F.N. Case Study: Intra- and Interpersonal Coherence of Muscle and Brain Activity of Two Coupled Persons during Pushing and Holding Isometric Muscle Action. *Brain Sci.* **2022**, *12*, 703, doi:10.3390/brainsci12060703.
- Booghs, C.; Baudry, S.; Enoka, R.; Duchateau, J. Influence of Neural Adjustments and Muscle Oxygenation on Task Failure during Sustained Isometric Contractions with Elbow Flexor Muscles. *Exp. Physiol.* 2012, 97, 918–929, doi:10.1113/expphysiol. 2011.064303.
- Garner, J.C.; Blackburn, T.; Weimar, W.; Campbell, B. Comparison of Electromyographic Activity during Eccentrically versus Concentrically Loaded Isometric Contractions. *J. Electromyogr. Kinesiol.* 2008, 18, 466–471, doi:10.1016/j.jelekin.2006.11.006.

- Hunter, S.K.; Ryan, D.L.; Ortega, J.D.; Enoka, R.M. Task Differences With the Same Load Torque Alter the Endurance Time of Submaximal Fatiguing Contractions in Humans. *J. Neurophysiol.* 2002, *88*, 3087–3096, doi:10.1152/jn.00232.2002.
- Maluf, K.S.; Shinohara, M.; Stephenson, J.L.; Enoka, R.M. Muscle Activation and Time to Task Failure Differ with Load Type and Contraction Intensity for a Human Hand Muscle. *Exp. Brain Res.* 2005, 167, 165–177, doi:10.1007/s00221-005-0017-y.
- 109. Powers, S.; Howley, E. *Exercise Physiology: Theory and Application to Fitness and Performance*; 8th Edition.; McGraw-Hill Education, **2011**; ISBN 978-0-07-802253-1.
- 110. Sarelius, I.; Pohl, U. Control of Muscle Blood Flow during Exercise: Local Factors and Integrative Mechanisms. *Acta. Physiol.* **2010**, *199*, 349–365, doi:10.1111/j.1748-1716.2010.02129.x.
- 111. Aratow, M.; Ballard, R.E.; Crenshaw, A.G.; Styf, J.; Watenpaugh, D.E.; Kahan, N.J.; Hargens, A.R. Intramuscular Pressure and Electromyography as Indexes of Force during Isokinetic Exercise. *J. Appl. Physiol.* **1993**, *74*, 2634–2640, doi:10.1152/jappl.1993.74.6.2634.
- 112. Bergua, P.; Montero-Marin, J.; Gomez-Bruton, A.; Casajús, J.A. The Finger Flexors Occlusion Threshold in Sport-Climbers: An Exploratory Study on Its Indirect Approximation. *Eur. J. Sport Sci.* **2021**, *21*, 1234–1242, doi:10.1080/17461391.2020.1827047.
- 113. Petrofsky, J.S.; Hendershot, D.M. The Interrelationship between Blood Pressure, Intramuscular Pressure, and Isometric Endurance in Fast and Slow Twitch Skeletal Muscle in the Cat. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* **1984**, *53*, 106–111, doi:10.1007/BF00422571.
- 114. Spurway, N.C. Hiking Physiology and the "Quasi-Isometric" Concept. J. Sports Sci. 2007, 25, 1081– 1093, doi:10.1080/02640410601165270.
- Moalla, W.; Merzouk, A.; Costes, F.; Tabka, Z.; Ahmaidi, S. Muscle Oxygenation and EMG Activity during Isometric Exercise in Children. *J. Sports Sci.* 2006, *24*, 1195–1201, doi:10.1080/02640410500457893.
- Akima, H.; Ando, R. Oxygenation and Neuromuscular Activation of the Quadriceps Femoris Including the Vastus Intermedius during a Fatiguing Contraction. *Clin. Physiol. Funct. Imaging* 2017, 37, 750– 758, doi:doi:10.1111/cpf.12370.
- 117. Katayama, K.; Yoshitake, Y.; Watanabe, K.; Akima, H.; Ishida, K. Muscle Deoxygenation during Sustained and Intermittent Isometric Exercise in Hypoxia. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* **2010**, *42*, 1269–1278, doi:10.1249/MSS.0b013e3181cae12f.
- 118. Taelman, J.; Vanderhaegen, J.; Robijns, M.; Naulaers, G.; Spaepen, A.; Van Huffel, S. Estimation of Muscle Fatigue Using Surface Electromyography and Near-Infrared Spectroscopy. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* 2011, 701, 353–359, doi:10.1007/978-1-4419-7756-4_48.
- 119. Kell, R.T.; Bhambhani, Y. Relationship between Erector Spinae Muscle Oxygenation via in Vivo near Infrared Spectroscopy and Static Endurance Time in Healthy Males. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* **2008**, *102*, 243–250, doi:10.1007/s00421-007-0577-6.
- Fryer, S.; Stoner, L.; Scarrott, C.; Lucero, A.; Witter, T.; Love, R.; Dickson, T.; Draper, N. Forearm Oxygenation and Blood Flow Kinetics during a Sustained Contraction in Multiple Ability Groups of Rock Climbers. J. Sports Sci. 2015, 33, 518–526, doi:10.1080/02640414.2014.949828.
- 121. Beckert, S.; Witte, M.B.; Königsrainer, A.; Coerper, S. The Impact of the Micro-Lightguide O2C for the Quantification of Tissue Ischemia in Diabetic Foot Ulcers. *Diabetes Care* **2004**, *27*, 2863–2867, doi:10.2337/diacare.27.12.2863.
- 122. Jørgensen, L.P.; Schroeder, T.V. Micro-Lightguide Spectrophotometry for Tissue Perfusion in Ischemic Limbs. *J. Vasc. Surg.* **2012**, *56*, 746–752, doi:10.1016/j.jvs.2012.02.068.
- 123. Abel, G.; Allen, J.; Drinnan, M. A Pilot Study of a New Spectrophotometry Device to Measure Tissue Oxygen Saturation. *Physiol. Meas.* **2014**, *35*, 1769–1780, doi:10.1088/0967-3334/35/9/1769.
- 124. Frank, K.H.; Kessler, M.; Appelbaum, K.; Dummler, W. The Erlangen Micro-Lightguide Spectrophotometer EMPHO I. *Phys. Med. Biol.* **1989**, *34*, 1883–1900, doi:10.1088/0031-9155/34/12/011.
- Knobloch, K.; Kraemer, R.; Lichtenberg, A.; Jagodzinski, M.; Gosling, T.; Richter, M.; Krettek, C. Microcirculation of the Ankle after Cryo/Cuff Application in Healthy Volunteers. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 2006, 27, 250–255, doi:10.1055/s-2005-865623.
- 126. McCully, K.K.; Hamaoka, T. Near-Infrared Spectroscopy: What Can It Tell Us about Oxygen Saturation in Skeletal Muscle? *Exerc. Sport Sci. Rev.* **2000**, *28*, 123–127.

- 127. Jones, S.; Chiesa, S.T.; Chaturvedi, N.; Hughes, A.D. Recent Developments in Near-Infrared Spectroscopy (NIRS) for the Assessment of Local Skeletal Muscle Microvascular Function and Capacity to Utilise Oxygen. *Artery Res.* **2016**, *16*, 25–33, doi:10.1016/j.artres.2016.09.001.
- 128. Forst, T.; Hohberg, C.; Tarakci, E.; Forst, S.; Kann, P.; Pfützner, A. Reliability of Lightguide Spectrophotometry (O2C®) for the Investigation of Skin Tissue Microvascular Blood Flow and Tissue Oxygen Supply in Diabetic and Nondiabetic Subjects. *J. Diabetes Sci. Technol.* **2008**, *2*, 1151–1156, doi:10.1177/193229680800200625.
- 129. Joshi, D.; Shiwalkar, A.; Cross, M.R.; Sharma, S.K.; Vachhani, A.; Dutt, C. Continuous, Non-Invasive Measurement of the Haemodynamic Response to Submaximal Exercise in Patients with Diabetes Mellitus: Evidence of Impaired Cardiac Reserve and Peripheral Vascular Response. *Heart* 2010, *96*, 36–41, doi:10.1136/hrt.2009.177113.
- 130. Davis, M.L.; Barstow, T.J. Estimated Contribution of Hemoglobin and Myoglobin to near Infrared Spectroscopy. *Respir. Physiol. Neurobiol.* **2013**, *186*, 180–187, doi:10.1016/j.resp.2013.01.012.
- 131. Barstow, T.J. Understanding near Infrared Spectroscopy and Its Application to Skeletal Muscle Research. J. Appl. Physiol. **2019**, *126*, 1360–1376, doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00166.2018.
- 132. Grassi, B.; Quaresima, V. Near-Infrared Spectroscopy and Skeletal Muscle Oxidative Function in Vivo in Health and Disease: A Review from an Exercise Physiology Perspective. *J. Biomed. Opt.* **2016**, *21*, doi:10.1117/1.JBO.21.9.091313.
- 133. Gandjbakhche, A.H.; Bonner, R.F.; Arai, A.E.; Balaban, R.S. Visible-Light Photon Migration through Myocardium in Vivo. *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol.* **1999**, *277*, H698–H704, doi:10.1152/aj-pheart.1999.277.2.H698.
- 134. Mancini, D.M.; Bolinger, L.; Li, H.; Kendrick, K.; Chance, B.; Wilson, J.R. Validation of Near-Infrared Spectroscopy in Humans. *J. Appl. Physiol.* **1994**, 77, 2740–2747, doi:10.1152/jappl.1994.77.6.2740.
- 135. Ferrari, M.; Mottola, L.; Quaresima, V. Principles, Techniques, and Limitations of Near Infrared Spectroscopy. *Can. J. Appl. Physiol.* **2004**, 29, 463–487, doi:10.1139/h04-031.
- Pereira, M.I.R.; Gomes, P.S.C.; Bhambhani, Y.N. A Brief Review of the Use of Near Infrared Spectroscopy with Particular Interest in Resistance Exercise. *Sports Med.* 2007, 37, 615–624, doi:10.2165/00007256-200737070-00005.
- 137. Binzoni, T.; Cooper, C.E.; Wittekind, A.L.; Beneke, R.; Elwell, C.E.; Ville, D.V.D.; Leung, T.S. A New Method to Measure Local Oxygen Consumption in Human Skeletal Muscle during Dynamic Exercise Using Near-Infrared Spectroscopy. *Physiol. Meas.* **2010**, *31*, 1257–1269, doi:10.1088/0967-3334/31/9/014.
- 138. Hoff, M.; Schaefer, L.; Heinke, N.; Bittmann, F. Report on Adaptive Force, a Specific Neuromuscular Function. *Eur. J. Transl. Myol.* **2015**, *25*, 183–189, doi:10.4081/ejtm.2015.5183.
- 139. Schaefer, L.; Hoff, M.; Bittmann, F. Measuring System and Method of Determining the Adaptive Force. *Eur. J. Transl. Myol.* **2017**, 27, 6479, doi:10.4081/ejtm.2017.6479.
- 140. Schaefer, L.; Bittmann, F. Mechanotendography in Achillodynia Shows Reduced Oscillation Variability of Pre-Loaded Achilles Tendon: A Pilot Study. *Eur. J. Transl. Myol.* **2020**, *30*, 247–257, doi:10.4081/ejtm.2020.8983.
- 141. Bittmann, F.; Hoff, M.; Knöchel, M.; Heinke, N.; Stolle, A. Adaptive Kraft Bei Epikondylopathie Humeri Lateralis. *Dtsch. Z. Sportmed.* **2011**, 7–8, 246.
- 142. Oranchuk, D.J.; Nelson, A.R.; Storey, A.G.; Diewald, S.N.; Cronin, J.B. Short-Term Neuromuscular, Morphological, and Architectural Responses to Eccentric Quasi-Isometric Muscle Actions. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* **2021**, *121*, 141–158, doi:10.1007/s00421-020-04512-4.
- 143. Cuthbert, S.C.; Goodheart, G.J. On the Reliability and Validity of Manual Muscle Testing: A Literature Review. *Chiropr. Man. Therap.* **2007**, *15*, 4, doi:10.1186/1746-1340-15-4.
- 144. Bittmann, F.; Schaefer, L. Was Erfasst Der Manuelle Muskeltest Nach Goodheart? *JPAK* **2017**, *5*, 14–23.
- 145. Wright, W.G. Muscle Training in the Treatment of Infantile Paralysis. *Boston Med. Surg. J.* **1912**, *167*, 567–574, doi:10.1056/NEJM191210241671701.
- 146. Lowman, C.L. A Method of Recording Muscle Tests. *Am. J. Surg.* **1927**, *3*, 588–591, doi:10.1016/S0002-9610(27)91454-8.
- 147. Daniels, L.; Williams, M.; Worthingham, C. *Muscle Testing. Techniques of Manual Examination.*; Saunders: Philadelphia, PA, USA, **1947**; ISBN 0031-4005.

- 148. Committee, Medical Research Council (Great Britain) Nerve Injuries. *Aids to the Investigation of Peripheral Nerve Injuries*; HMSO, **1943**.
- 149. Janda, V. *Muscle Function Testing*; Butterworth: London Boston Durban Singapore Sydney Toronto Wellington, **1983**; ISBN 0-407-00201-4.
- 150. Lovett, R.W. *The Treatment of Infantile Paralysis*; P. Blackston's Son & Co.: Philadelphia, PA, USA, **1916**.
- 151. Martin, E.G.; Lovett, R.W. A Method of Testing Muscular Strength in Infantile Paralysis. *JAMA* **1915**, *LXV*, 1512–1513, doi:10.1001/jama.1915.02580180016006.
- 152. Lovett, R.W.; Martin, E.G. Certain Aspects of Infantile Paralysis: With a Description of a Method of Muscle Testing. *JAMA* **1916**, *66*, 729–733, doi:10.1001/jama.1916.02580360031009.
- 153. Kendall, H.O.; Kendall, F.P. Study and Treatment of Muscle Imbalance in Cases of Low Back and Sciatic Pain. *Phys. Ther.* **1936**, *16*, 175–183, doi:10.1093/ptj/16.5.175.
- 154. Kendall, H.O.; Kendall, F.P. *Care During the Recovery Period in Paralytic Poliomyelitis*; U.S. G.O.P: Washington, **1939**.
- 155. Kendall, H.O. *Muscles: Testing and Function. By Henry O. Kendall and Florence P. Kendall*; Kendall, F.P., Ed.; Williams & Wilkins: Baltimore, **1949**.
- 156. Hislop, H.; Avers, D.; Brown, M. Daniels and Worthingham's Muscle *Testing Techniques of Manual Examination and Performance Testing*; Elsevier Health Sciences, **2013**; ISBN 978-0-323-26637-6.
- 157. Kendall, F.P. *Muscles: Testing and Function with Posture and Pain*; Kendall, F.P., Ed.; 5th ed.; Lippincott Williams & Wilkins: Baltimore, MD, **2005**; ISBN 978-1-4511-0431-8.
- 158. Walther, D.S. *Applied Kinesiology: Synopsis*; 2nd Edition.; Systems DC: Pueblo, Colorado, USA, **2000**; ISBN 0-929721-03-9.
- 159. Frost, R. *Applied Kinesiology: A Training Manual and Reference Book of Basic Principles and Practice;* North Atlantic Books: Berkeley, Calif, **2002**; ISBN 978-1-55643-374-0.
- 160. Bohannon, R.W. Make Tests and Break Tests of Elbow Flexor Muscle Strength. *Phys. Thera.* **1988**, 68, 193–194, doi:10.1093/ptj/68.2.193.
- Rheault, W.; Beal, J.L.; Kubik, K.R.; Nowak, T.A.; Shepley, J.A. Intertester Reliability of the Hand-Held Dynamometer for Wrist Flexion and Extension. *Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil.* **1989**, *70*, 907–910, doi:10.5555/uri:pii:0003999389900555.
- 162. Stratford, P.W.; Balsor, B.E. A Comparison of Make and Break Tests Using a Hand-Held Dynamometer and the Kin-Com. *J. Orthop. Sports Phys. Ther.* **1994**, *19*, 28–32, doi:10.2519/jospt.1994.19.1.28.
- Perossa, D.R.; Dziak, M.; Vernon, H.T.; Hayashita, K. The Intra-Examiner Reliability of Manual Muscle Testing of the Hip and Shoulder with a Modified Sphygmomanometer: A Preliminary Study of Normal Subjects. J. Can. Chiropr. Assoc. 1998, 42, 73–82.
- Marino, M.; Nicholas, J.A.; Gleim, G.W.; Rosenthal, P.; Nicholas, S.J. The Efficacy of Manual Assessment of Muscle Strength Using a New Device. *Am. J. Sports Med.* **1982**, *10*, 360–364, doi:10.1177/036354658201000608.
- Bohannon, R.W. Measuring Knee Extensor Muscle Strength. Am. J. Phys. Med. Rehabil. 2001, 80, 13– 18.
- 166. Bittmann, F.N.; Dech, S.; Aehle, M.; Schaefer, L.V. Manual Muscle Testing Force Profiles and Their Reproducibility. *Diagnostics* **2020**, *10*, 996, doi:10.3390/diagnostics10120996.
- Schaefer, L.V.; Dech, S.; Aehle, M.; Bittmann, F.N. Disgusting Odours Affect the Characteristics of the Adaptive Force in Contrast to Neutral and Pleasant Odours. *Sci. Rep.* 2021, *11*, 16410, doi:10.1038/s41598-021-95759-0.
- 168. Schaefer, L.V.; Dech, S.; Bittmann, F.N. Adaptive Force and Emotionally Related Imaginations Preliminary Results Suggest a Reduction of the Maximal Holding Capacity as Reaction to Disgusting Food Imagination. *Heliyon* **2021**, 7, e07827, doi:10.1016/j.heliyon.2021.e07827.
- Schaefer, L.V.; Dech, S.; Wolff, L.L.; Bittmann, F.N. Influence of Emotionally Affective Imaginations on the Adaptive Force in Young Women: Unpleasant Imaginations Reduce the Holding Capacity of Muscles. *Preprint, Research Square* 2022, doi:doi: 10.21203/rs.3.rs-1281031/v2.
- Hargens, A.R.; Botte, M.J.; Swenson, M.R.; Gelberman, R.H.; Rhoades, C.E.; Akeson, W.H. Effects of Local Compression on Peroneal Nerve Function in Humans. *J. Orthop. Res.* **1993**, *11*, 818–827, doi:10.1002/jor.1100110607.

- 171. Plyley, M.; Groom, A. Geometrical Distribution of Capillaries in Mammalian Striated Muscle. *Am. J. Physiol.* **1975**, *228*, 1376–1383, doi:10.1152/ajplegacy.1975.228.5.1376.
- 172. Gartner, L.P. *Color Atlas and Text of Histology*; 7th ed.; Lippincott Williams & Wilkins: Philadelphia, PA, USA, **2017**; ISBN 978-1-4963-4673-5.
- 173. Brelje, T.C.; Sorenson, R.L. HistologyGuide.Com, University of Minnesota, MN, USA Available online: http://histologyguide.com/slideview/MHS-262-skeletal-muscle/04-slide-1.html (accessed on 30 July 2020).
- 174. Sakai, T.; Hosoyamada, Y. Are the Precapillary Sphincters and Metarterioles Universal Components of the Microcirculation? An Historical Review. *J. Physiol. Sci.* **2013**, *63*, 319–331, doi:10.1007/s12576-013-0274-7.
- 175. Segal, S.S. Regulation of Blood Flow in the Microcirculation. *Microcirculation* **2005**, *12*, 33–45, doi:10.1080/10739680590895028.
- 176. Golub, A.S.; Pittman, R.N. Bang-Bang Model for Regulation of Local Blood Flow. *Microcirculation* **2013**, *20*, 455–483, doi:10.1111/micc.12051.
- 177. Poole, D.C.; Pittman, R.N.; Musch, T.I.; Østergaard, L. August Krogh's Theory of Muscle Microvascular Control and Oxygen Delivery: A Paradigm Shift Based on New Data. J. Physiol. 2020, 598, 4473– 4507, doi:10.1113/JP279223.
- 178. Poole, D.C.; Copp, S.W.; Hirai, D.M.; Musch, T.I. Dynamics of Muscle Microcirculatory and Blood–Myocyte O2 Flux during Contractions. *Acta Physiol.* **2011**, *202*, 293–310, doi:10.1111/j.1748-1716.2010.02246.x.
- 179. Poole, D.C.; Copp, S.W.; Ferguson, S.K.; Musch, T.I. Skeletal Muscle Capillary Function: Contemporary Observations and Novel Hypotheses. *Exp. Physiol.* **2013**, *98*, 1645–1658, doi:10.1113/expphysiol.2013.073874.
- Angleys, H.; Østergaard, L. Krogh's Capillary Recruitment Hypothesis, 100 Years on: Is the Opening of Previously Closed Capillaries Necessary to Ensure Muscle Oxygenation during Exercise? *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ.* 2019, 318, H425–H447, doi:10.1152/ajpheart.00384.2019.
- 181. Dinenno, F.A. Skeletal Muscle Vasodilation during Systemic Hypoxia in Humans. *J. Appl. Physiol.* **2016**, *120*, 216–225, doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00256.2015.
- 182. Gandevia, S.C. Spinal and Supraspinal Factors in Human Muscle Fatigue. *Physiol. Rev.* **2001**, *81*, 1725–1789, doi:10.1152/physrev.2001.81.4.1725.
- 183. Bigland-Ritchie, B.; Woods, J.J. Changes in Muscle Contractile Properties and Neural Control during Human Muscular Fatigue. *Muscle & Nerve* **1984**, *7*, 691–699, doi:10.1002/mus.880070902.
- 184. Duchateau, J.; Baudry, S. Insights into the Neural Control of Eccentric Contractions. *J. Appl. Physiol.* **2014**, *116*, 1418–1425, doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00002.2013.
- Sittig, A.C.; van der Gon Denier, J.J.; Gielen, C.C.A.M. The Contribution of Afferent Information on Position and Velocity to the Control of Slow and Fast Human Forearm Movements. *Exp. Brain. Res.* **1987**, 67, 33–40, doi:10.1007/BF00269450.
- 186. Schaefer, L.V. Synchronisationsphänomene myotendinöser Oszillationen interagierender neuromuskulärer Systeme : mit Betrachtung einer Hypothese bezüglich unterschiedlicher Qualitäten isometrischer Muskelaktion, Universität Potsdam, 2014.
- 187. Smidt, G.L.; Rogers, M.W. Factors Contributing to the Regulation and Clinical Assessment of Muscular Strength. *Phys. Ther.* **1982**, *62*, 1283–1290, doi:10.1093/ptj/62.9.1283.
- 188. Dech, S. Therapeutisches Klettern Nach Dem Potsdamer Modell Bei Jugendlichen Mit Skoliose -Ein Trainingskonzept Mit Übungskatalog Und Vorbereitung Einer Randomisierten Kontrollierten Studie. Masterarbeit, Universität Potsdam, 2019.
- 189. Dech, S.; Kittel, R. Motivierendes Puzzleteil Therapeutisches Klettern Bei Skoliose. *physiopraxis* **2021**, *19*, 44–47, doi:10.1055/a-1368-2577.
- 190. Rothman, K.J. No Adjustments Are Needed for Multiple Comparisons. *Epidemiology* **1990**, *1*, 43–46.
- 191. O'Brien, P.C. The Appropriateness of Analysis of Variance and Multiple-Comparison Procedures. *Biometrics* **1983**, 39, 787–794.
- Feldmann, A.M.; Erlacher, D.; Pfister, S.; Lehmann, R. Muscle Oxygen Dynamics in Elite Climbers during Finger-Hang Tests at Varying Intensities. *Sci. Rep.* 2020, *10*, 3040, doi:10.1038/s41598-020-60029-y.

- Dech, S.; Bittmann, F.; Schaefer, L. Behavior of Oxygen Saturation and Blood Filling in the Venous Capillary System of the Biceps Brachii Muscle during a Fatiguing Isometric Action. *Eur. J. Transl. Myol.* 2020, 30, 79–87, doi:10.4081/ejtm.2019.8800.
- 194. Kirkebø, A.; Wisnes, A. Regional Tissue Fluid Pressure in Rat Calf Muscle during Sustained Contraction or Stretch. *Acta Physiol.* **1982**, *114*, 551–556, doi:10.1111/j.1748-1716.1982.tb07023.x.
- 195. Flück, M. Functional, Structural and Molecular Plasticity of Mammalian Skeletal Muscle in Response to Exercise Stimuli. *J. Exp. Biol.* **2006**, *209*, 2239–2248, doi:10.1242/jeb.02149.

8 Scientific Publications

In the following, articles and supplementary materials are presented exactly as they have been published.

8.1 Publication 1: Behavior of Oxygen Saturation and Blood Filling in the Venous Capillary System of the Biceps Brachii Muscle during a Fatiguing Isometric Action.

Copy right notice: The reprinted version of this article was originally published in the European Journal of Translational Myology, Volume 30, No. 1 (2020).

Citation:

Dech, S., Bittmann, F., & Schaefer, L. (2020). Behavior of oxygen saturation and blood filling in the venous capillary system of the biceps brachii muscle during a fatiguing isometric action. *European Journal of Translational Myology*, *30*(1), 79-87. https://doi.org/10.4081/ejtm.2019.8800

Behavior of oxygen saturation and blood filling in the venous capillary system of the biceps brachii muscle during a fatiguing isometric action

Silas Dech, Frank Bittmann, Laura Schaefer

Regulative Physiology and Prevention, Department of Sport and Health Sciences, University of Potsdam, Germany

This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Noncommercial License (CC BY-NC 4.0) which permits any noncommercial use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

Abstract

The objective of the study was to develop a better understanding of the capillary circulation in contracting muscles. Ten subjects were measured during a submaximal fatiguing isometric muscle action by use of the O2C spectrophotometer. In all measurements the capillary-venous oxygen saturation of hemoglobin (SvO₂) decreased immediately after the start of loading and leveled off into a steady state. However, two different patterns (type I and type II) emerged. They differed in the extent of deoxygenation (-10.37 ± 2.59 percent points (pp) vs. -33.86 ± 17.35 pp, p = .008) and the behavior of the relative hemoglobin amount (rHb). Type I revealed a positive rank correlation of SvO₂ and rHb ($\rho = 0.735$, p <.001), whereas a negative rank correlation ($\rho = -0.522$, p <.001) occurred in type II, since rHb decreased until a reversal point, then increased averagely 13% above the baseline value and leveled off into a steady state. The results reveal that a homeostasis of oxygen delivery and consumption during isometric muscle actions is possible. A rough distinction in two types of regulation is suggested.

Key Words: muscle oxygenation, hemoglobin amount, isometric muscle action, O2C spectrophotometer

Eur J Transl Myol 30 (1): xx1-xx9, 2020

Isometric muscle actions play an essential role in daily activities which include posture or static work. During that type of muscular activity the intramuscular pressure increases proportionally to the maximal voluntary isometric contraction (MVIC).¹⁻⁴ According to some authors, the resulted mechanical pressure might impede the blood flow within the muscle, which is essential for an adequate oxygen supply.^{1-3,5} The blood flow could already be restricted at intensities of 15% MVIC.² The comparison of studies which examine the relationship between muscle tension and blood flow is difficult because of an extensive range of methodologies and measurement techniques. Thus, it is still unclear which relative or absolute contraction intensity possibly causes a restriction or even a complete occlusion of the capillary vessels.⁶ But if the inflow is restricted or occluded the available oxygen ought to be depleted over time. As a result, the saturation might decrease to zero (complete deoxygenation).

Several studies examined the oxygen saturation of different muscles during sustained isometric contractions with various intensities and exercise durations. Most of them used the near infrared spectroscopy technique (NIRS), which primarily reflects the oxygen saturation of small veins (<1 mm diameter).⁷ The principle and other limitations are described elsewhere.⁷⁻⁹ Disregarding methodological inconsistencies, two different tendencies are described or shown graphically. On the one hand, the muscle oxygenation decreased and leveled off into a steady state after a certain time.¹⁰⁻¹⁷ This implies that the saturation stays nearly constant over time. On the other hand, it decreased continuously or in a phasic way with different decay rates until termination of the exercise.^{17,19,20-25}

According to Sadamoto and colleagues (1983)¹ a stopped outflow during isometric contractions due to a possible venous stasis should be considered, too. This could be verified by measuring the hemoglobin concentration as an indicator of the blood filling. In most cases, the total hemoglobin amount measured by the NIRS method decreased and behaved like the oxygen saturation.^{10,11,21,24,25,27} However, there are also research groups which found an increase after an initial decrease,^{17,20,28} or a direct increase after the start of load.17,18,29 Inter-19 and intra-individual differences were also found.¹⁷

Because of the inconsistencies mentioned above, the results should be verified by use of the diagnostic device O2C (Oxygen To See; LEA Medizintechnik GmbH, Gießen, Germany). In contrast to the NIRS technique, O2C is able to detect only very small vessels (<100 μ m diameter).³⁰ Thus, measurements mainly represent the capillary-venous oxygen saturation of hemoglobin (SvO₂) and the relative hemoglobin amount (rHb) per local tissue volume. The device is usually used for non-invasive determinations of oxygen supply in microcirculation of blood perfused tissues and commonly applied in surgery like organ or flap transplantations, monitoring processes of diabetic foot or arterial occlusive diseases.^{31,32}

This study questions how SvO_2 and rHb behave in muscle tissue during a fatiguing isometric action despite a potentially stopped blood flow.

Materials and Methods

Subjects

The left arm of seven male and three female healthy Caucasian volunteers (mean age \pm SD = 28.6 \pm 11.68 years) were examined. They included students, colleagues of the University of Potsdam and local acquaintances. The exclusion criteria were any kinds of chronic or acute health problems. The participants weighted 70.2 ±11.8 kg on average and were 176.3 ± 8.6 tall. Based the cm on BMI (22.44 ±2.19 $\frac{\text{kg}}{\text{m}^2}$) everyone was normal weighted. The study was conducted according to the declaration of Helsinki and local ethical permission was given. All subjects were informed in detail and gave their informed written consent to participate.



Measuring technique

The non-invasive O2C device was utilized to record SvO₂ in % and rHb in arbitrary units (AU). A calibration with another method measuring e.g. milliliter per gram of tissue is missing. However, for this study the curveshape is more important than a quantitative comparison. The sampling rate was 40 Hz. Preliminary studies revealed that the device is valid, reliable,³¹⁻³³ and also applicable to muscle tissue at rest,³⁴ or during exercise.³⁵ The principle of the measurement relies on a combination of laser Doppler technique and tissue spectrophotometry (laser light: near infrared, continuous wave, power >30 mW; white light: 500-850 nm, 1 nm resolution). In this study, only the spectrometry for a detection of SvO₂ and rHb is relevant, whereby white light is sent into the tissue and the detection of different backscattered oxygenated wavelengths of and deoxygenated hemoglobin is used for their calculation. A detailed description of the techniques can be found in previous studies.³⁶⁻³⁸ During all measurements the room light was dimmed to minimize light effects on the probe. We monitored the parameters in the muscle with a depth up to 12 mm. For this purpose, the measuring probe (LF3, separation: 16 mm) was directly stuck on the skin over the anterior side of the belly of the biceps brachii muscle and along its fibers by use of a double-sided adhesive film.

Setting and procedure

At the beginning the MVIC of each subject was determined. Six subjects pulled twice maximally on a fixed strain gauge (resting period: 2.53 ± 0.33 min). These two MVIC-tests were recorded by the O2C device (subgroup analysis). The other four subjects should hold the highest possible weight for 1 s within maximal 5 steps. In both versions the arm position was identically to the subsequent fatiguing trial. For this, everyone had once to hold a weight of 60% of the MVIC until fatigue. This intensity was chosen to generate a high intramuscular pressure in order to ensure theoretically a nearly full occlusion of capillaries. Furthermore, it provides a loading duration which might be long enough for a maximal deoxygenation and short enough to minimize an early stop because of reasons of motivation.

Figure 1 illustrates the measurement position. The participant stood upright habitually. The upper arm was adducted, the forearm was supinated and positioned horizontally (90° elbow flexion). A cuff was applied 2-3 cm proximal to the wrist crease. The rater hooked the respective weight onto the cuff (hereinafter referred to as loading). Subjects were instructed to maintain the elbow angle for as long as possible. The weight was taken off as soon as the angle of the elbow exceeded 90° for more than two seconds, assessed by the rater subjectively. The measuring record started 10 s before loading and was stopped after two minutes of recovery.

Eur J Transl Myol 30 (1): xx1-xx9, 2020



Data processing and statistical analysis

The graphs of the raw data of the fatiguing trials and MVIC-tests were initially viewed in NI DIAdemTM 2012. For further calculations all curves were smoothed (moving average, maximal smoothing width: 50). To describe and cluster the patterns of behavior of the parameters (SvO₂, rHb) the following variables were analyzed:

- i. coefficient of variations (CVs) of a possible steady state
- ii. the slopes from start of loading to leveling off into a possible steady state
- iii. the durations from start to the leveling off and to the end of the possible steady state
- iv. extents of alteration in relation to baseline values

Firstly, two intervals were defined in each curve. The boundaries of the first interval (I1) were set from start of loading to the following first local minimum (1st Min.), Figure 2 A, left panel. The boundaries of the second interval (I2) were set in two different versions depending on curve progression. If the 1st Min. is equivalent to a reversal point (RP), i.e. a direct continuous increase follows the first interval, the start of I2 was set at the first local maximum (1st Max.) after the continuous increase (Figure 2 B, right panel). If a RP does not exist, the latter boundary of I1 (1st Min.) corresponds to the start of I2 (Figure 2 A, left panel). In both versions, I2 ends at stop of loading.

To analyze i, arithmetic mean (M) and standard deviation (SD) of all data points within I2 were calculated. Subsequently, the CVs within one subject were computed $\left(\frac{SD}{M} \times 100\right)$. Furthermore, peak-to-peak amplitudes of

the parameters within I2 and their calculated means and SDs were extracted.

Variable ii was quantified by least square regression line within the I1 (r_1) and additionally, between I1 and I2 if a RP exists (r_2) . However, regression lines were calculated under exclusion of the leveling off phase. For this purpose, only data points according to the corresponding plateau of the first derivative were used for regression analysis.

For iii, M and SD are stated in seconds (s).

Concerning iv, baseline values were determined by averaging the initial 400 data points (10 s) in the unloaded measuring position. Alteration of parameters (extent of SvO_2 decrease (deoxygenation), extent of rHb decrease and increase, respectively) were obtained by calculating the differences from baseline values to the respective means of I2. They are presented in percent points (pp) for SvO_2 , AU for rHb and additionally in % for both.

The statistical analysis was made by use of IBM SPSS Statistics, Version 22. All variables were tested for normal distribution by the Shapiro-Wilk-test. Since the data were not normally distributed, analysis of differences in curve patterns concerning the extent of deoxygenation were made by the exact Mann-Whitney-U-test. Confidence Intervals were estimated with the bias-corrected, accelerated method (BCa 95% CI). Effect sizes were expressed by Cramer's phi (φ). Correlations of the parameters of each curve pattern were determined by Spearman's rank correlation coefficients.

Results

The mean MVIC of all subjects was 279 ± 68.57 N.

Eur J Transl Myol 30 (1): xx1-xx9, 2020

Based on curve shapes, the behavior of SvO₂ and rHb during isometric actions could be differentiated into two patterns termed type I and type II. Figure 2 A and B illustrate the different types using typical examples. They differ in the curve shape of rHb and in the extent of deoxygenation. Five subjects were assigned to each type. All 3 female subjects belonged to type I. The BMI in type I was 21.89 ±2.54 $\frac{\text{kg}}{\text{m}^2}$ and 23.00 ±1.88 $\frac{\text{kg}}{\text{m}^2}$ in type II.

Type I: behavior of oxygen saturation and blood filling during fatiguing trials

SvO₂ and rHb behaved nearly parallel to each other, as illustrated in Figure 2 A. At the start of loading both parameters decreased immediately and leveled off after averagely 15.1 ± 1.6 s. After the onset of recovery (after 49.72 ± 12.35 s on average) both parameters approached to or increased above the baseline value, respectively.

The average CV of I2 within subjects was $1.19 \pm 0.75\%$ in SvO₂ and $1.89 \pm 0.72\%$ in rHb. The peak-to-peak amplitude of I2 within subjects amounted averagely 2.45 ± 1.37 pp (min.-max.: 1.36-4.74) in SvO₂ and 3.39 ± 1.14 AU (min.-max. 1.72-4.75) in rHb.

The slopes (ii) amounted averagely $r_1 = -1.69 \pm 0.92$ for SvO₂ and $r_1 = -1.83 \pm 0.47$ for rHb.

SvO₂ decreased by an average of -10.37 ± 2.59 pp ($\triangleq -13.38 \pm 2.75\%$) and rHb decreased averagely -11.17 ± 6.3 AU ($\triangleq -18.22 \pm 9.03\%$) below its baseline value.

Type II: behavior of oxygen saturation and blood filling during a fatiguing trial

 SvO_2 and rHb showed a partial opposing behavior to each other, as illustrated in Figure 2 B. SvO_2 decreased immediately with an average slope of $r_1 = -3.31 \pm 1.26$ and leveled off after averagely 15.55 ± 3.23 s. At the onset of recovery (after 41.89 ± 14.10 s on average) it approached to or increased above its baseline value. On the contrary, rHb decreased immediately to a reversal point (RP) with an average slope of $r_1 = -2.65 \pm 0.88$. Directly after this turning point it increased with a slope of $r_2 = 4.81 \pm 1.55$ on average and leveled off at nearly the same time as SvO₂ did. During recovery rHb again decreased immediately to a second reversal point (RP 2) before it increased up to its baseline value or higher.

The average CV of I2 within one subject was 2.11 $\pm 1.59\%$ in SvO₂ and 1.41 $\pm 0.75\%$ in rHb. The peak-topeak amplitude of I2 within subjects in SvO₂ and rHb amounted averagely 2.67 ± 1.77 pp (min.-max.: 0.93-5.15) and 3.58 ± 1.80 AU (min.-max.: 1.75-5.44), respectively.

SvO₂ decreased averagely -30.86 ± 17.35 pp ($\triangleq -41.46 \pm 22.4\%$). The rHb increased 9.03 ± 10.48 AU ($\triangleq 13.28 \pm 15.66\%$) on average over its baseline value.

Behavior of oxygen saturation and blood filling during MVIC-tests

During the 12 recorded MVIC-tests out of a sub-group of six subjects SvO_2 generally decreased, followed by an immediate or a little delayed increase after stop of the test to the baseline value or higher, respectively. Nevertheless, the two patterns of behavior also occurred and were consistent within each subject. Figure 3 A and B show typical examples. Except for one subject, everyone was grouped in the same type as referred to the fatiguing trials.

Comparison of type I and type II

The curve shapes of SvO_2 of both types were similar to each other. However, 1. the extent of deoxygenation and 2. the behavior of rHb were different.

Concerning 1, arithmetic means and SDs of the extent of deoxygenation during loading of 60% of the MVIC are



Fig 3. Curve examples of the capillary-venous oxygen saturation of hemoglobin (SvO₂) and the relative hemoglobin amount (rHb) in type I (A) and in type II (B) during a MVIC-test. Start and stop of loading are indicated by vertical lines. All curves are smoothed (moving average, maximal smoothing width: 50)



Eur J Transl Myol 30 (1): xx1-xx9, 2020

Fig. 4 Means of the extent of deoxygenation during fatiguing trials at 60% of the maximal voluntary isometric contraction (MVIC) in type I (BCa 95%CI = -7.93 to -12.16) and type II (BCa 95%CI = -17.26 to -44.15) (A); and during MVIC-tests in type I (BCa 95%CI = -5.02 to -9.69) and type II (BCa 95%CI = -16.64 to -18.97) (B); Vertical lines express standard deviations.

shown in Figure 4 A and during the MVIC-tests in Figure 4 B with stated BCa 95% CIs. The rank sums of extents of deoxygenation differed significantly between the types in the fatiguing trials (U = -2.61, p = .008,



Fig 5. Differences of the raw data between the relative hemoglobin amount (rHb) in AU and the capillary-venous oxygen saturation of hemoglobin (SvO₂) in % of the fatiguing trials (n = 10). All curves are smoothed (moving average, maximal smoothing width: 50)

 $\phi=.37)$ as well as in the MVIC-tests (U = -2.72, p=0.004, $\phi=.79).$

Concerning 2, type I had a positive rank correlation of SvO_2 and rHb from start until stop of loading with $\rho = 0.725$, p < .001 on average. In contrast, SvO_2 and rHb in type II were negative correlated ($\rho = -0.522$, p < .001). To illustrate the different types, Figure 5 shows the differences between rHb and SvO_2 of all measurements.

Discussion

The authors suggest a distinction of two behavioral patterns (type I and type II) of oxygen saturation and blood filling of the venous microvessels during fatiguing isometric muscle actions. The crucial difference is the nearly parallel behavior of SvO_2 and rHb in type I expressed by a positive rank correlation and in contrast, the partial opposing behavior in type II with a reversed rank correlation.

A steady state of the considered parameters is characterized as an equilibrium of demand and supply with natural fluctuations. The presented within subject CVs of SvO₂ (0.31-4.33%) and rHb (0.5-2.88%) during the defined I2 seem to be low enough for a characterization as a relative equilibrium. Hence, I2 is interpreted as a steady state behavior found in every parameter of the fatiguing trials. Moreover, the peak-topeak amplitudes of values within I2 up to maximal 5.15 pp in SvO₂ and 5.44 AU in rHb are interpreted as biological variability. This implies, that a homeostatic

adjustment of the oxygen saturation and blood filling during isometric actions would be possible despite a high intramuscular pressure, which was detected by other research groups and inferred as a cause of flow restriction.^{1,3-5}

Measuring technique

In contrast to other research groups, we used the O2C device. The system unifies laser Doppler flowmetry and white light spectrophotometry. Both techniques combined in the device meet the quality criteria.³¹⁻³³ The advantage of the O2C device is the detection of SvO₂ and rHb of only very thin venous vessels. Blood vessels with a diameter greater than 100 μ m have no significant influence on the measurements. Because of the high hemoglobin amount, they would absorb the light virtually completely.³⁰ In contrast, caused by the greater wavelength of the released light (700 to 900 nm), the NIRS method includes the oxygen saturation of larger vessels (<1 mm diameter).⁷ The comparison with the inconclusive results from other studies has to be interpreted considering this fact.

Results of oxygen saturation in comparison with other studies

In the presented study SvO₂ decreased during the MVICtests, particularly in type II, less than during the fatiguing trials at 60% MVIC. This could be explained by the shorter loading duration but is still speculative because of the low sample size. The MVIC-tests lasted approximately 4 s compared to more than 40 s in the fatiguing trials. During such a short loading time a maximal deoxygenation might not be possible. The SvO₂ of the MVIC-tests also showed no steady state behavior but a decrease to a reversal point and an immediate or a little delayed increase during recovery. This is comparable with findings of Maguire, Weaver and Damon (2007).⁴² It might be necessary to sustain a load over a longer duration and consequently, submaximal intensities seem to be required in order to reach a steady state. Our results revealed durations between start of loading and leveling off into a steady state in both types of approximately 15 s. Studies which did not limit a loading duration and recorded muscle oxygenation until volitional fatigue are rare.^{11,17,18,25} In investigations with a shorter measuring time, it is not clear whether the saturation would level off into a steady state or would decrease further on.

Fryer *et al.* (2014) observed a significantly higher extent of oxygen consumption measured by NIRS in elite climbing athletes compared to controls, intermediate and advanced groups.²⁵ In conclusion, the extent of deoxygenation might depend on the fitness level. However, in their study the oxygen saturation neither decreased to zero nor leveled off into a minimal physiological steady state until volitional fatigue occurred. Kell & Bhambhani (2008) also registered a continuous decrease of the muscle oxygenation albeit only after a slight increase.¹⁸ The results of both studies mentioned above do not correspond to the findings of the presented study. We recorded an immediate decrease at the onset of loading and a leveling off into a steady state followed by an approach to or an increase above the baseline values when the loading was stopped. A steady state behavior was also found in studies with limited loading durations^{10,12,16} and during fatiguing isometric muscle actions.^{11,17} Irrespective of methodological differences it remains unclear, why a discrepancy relative to the two mentioned studies exists.

Felici et al. (2009) described a phasic decrease of the oxygen saturation of the biceps brachii muscle with two different decay rates until termination of the isometric action after 30 s of loading, regardless of the intensity (20-80% MVIC).²⁰ The initial phase had a fast and the second a slower decay rate, whereas the oxygen saturation in the slower phase proceeded very flat but still decreased.²⁰ This is comparable with the leveling off before adjusting a steady state as seen in the presented data. Because of the limited loading duration, it is unclear whether the oxygen saturation would also have been adjusted into a steady state in their study. In two of our fatiguing trials a long leveling off phase appeared. If in those trials only the first 30 s would be considered, the two different decay rates would be found, which were described by Felici and colleagues (2009).²⁰ That is in line with findings of Jensen et al. (1999), in which the oxygen saturation in paravertebral muscles remain relatively stable after 30 s during an isometric trunk extension at 20 % MVIC.4

Results of blood filling in comparison with other studies

Regarding the hemoglobin concentration, most studies have described and / or graphed a decrease and leveling off into a steady state, similar to to our findings in type I.10,11,21,24,25,27 Other research groups found an increase after an initial decrease,^{20,28} or a direct increase at the start of loading.^{17,29} This might fit to our findings in type II in the broadest sense. The study of Pereira and colleagues (2009) revealed the possibility of different behaviors in several subjects.¹⁹ Furthermore, Akima and Ando (2017) found different behaviors in different muscles of the same individual.¹⁷ The two distinct types of regulation suggested in the present study do not seem to be person-specific. Due to the small sample size, we cannot give any statements about influencing factors such as gender, although all three female subjects were assigned to type I. The suggestion to categorize two behavioral patterns cannot exclude hybrid or transitional forms of regulation.

Study limitations

Like the NIRS technique, the O2C device is not able to exclude arterial blood completely.^{7-9,43} The tissue penetration of the white light of 12 mm does not represent the whole muscle. A statement about deeper regions, in

which the pressure on the microvessels might be higher,^{2,44} cannot be given.

Caused by the pilot character of the study, some further limitations have to be considered in the interpretation of the results. It should be noticed, that no goniometer was used for the exact determination of the elbow angle. Consequently, termination of loading was assessed by the examiner subjectively as soon as the elbow angle exceeded 90° for more than two seconds. Another one is that the thickness of skin folds were not examined. Despite of this lack, the skin fold thickness on the anterior side of the upper arm is regularly low in normal weighted adults as participated here. Hence, low subcutaneous fat levels can be assumed. Moreover, in pretests different body types were compared. In a presence of an obvious thick subcutaneous fat layer, no change in the oxygenation during load occurred, i.e. the white light did not reach muscle tissue.

Anyhow, results of the present study are worth to be replicated in both young and aged persons. The latter, may have peculiar circulatory impairments that will ask for special adaptations.

Conclusion

Based on the results of the current and previous studies, an adjustment of the oxygen saturation and relative hemoglobin amount into a homeostatic steady state during a fatiguing isometric action occurs at least in the superficial muscle layers. Maybe the blood flow in microvessels is not fully restricted due to the intramuscular pressure. The authors suggest to roughly categorize the behavior of muscle oxygenation and blood filling in two types. For a possible explanation, a triggered increase of the blood filling by a threshold of the oxygenation level as a consequence of an intramuscular regulation is hypothesized. Further studies are necessary to understand the regulation mechanism.

List of acronyms

1st Max. - first local maximum
1st Min. - first local minimum
AU - arbitrary units
BMI - body mass index
CV - coefficient of variation
I1 - first interval
I2 - second interval
MVIC - maximal voluntary isometric contraction
NI DIAdemTM – National Instruments DIAdemTM
NIRS - near infrared spectroscopy technique
O2C - Oxygen To See; LEA Medizintechnik GmbH
rHb - relative hemoglobin amount
RP - reversal point
SvO₂ - capillary-venous oxygen saturation of hemoglobin

Authors contributions

LS and FB have designed the study. SD has analyzed the data, has searched references and has written the

manuscript. All authors were involved in the collection and interpretation of the data, revised the manuscript critically and done the final approval. They agree to be accountable for all aspects of the work.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Thomas Derfuß and the LEA Medizintechnik GmbH for giving technical support. Furthermore, we acknowledge the support of the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft and Open Access Publishing Fund of University of Potsdam.

Funding None.

Conflict of Interest

The authors declare no potential conflict of interests.

Ethical Publication Statement

We confirm that we have read the Journal's position on issues involved in ethical publication and affirm that this report is consistent with those guidelines.

Corresponding Author

Silas Dech, Human Science Faculty, University of Potsdam, Karl-Liebknecht-Str. 24-25, house 24, room 1.16, 14476 Potsdam, Germany. TeL: +49.331.977.2898. ORCID iD: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8914-8276 E-mail: dech@uni-potsdam.de

E-mails of co-authors

Frank Bittmann: bittmann@uni-potsdam.de ORCID iD: https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4514-8060 Laura Schaefer: lschaefe@uni-potsdam.de ORCID iD: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6289-6987

References

- Sadamoto T, Bonde-Petersen F, Suzuki Y. Skeletal muscle tension, flow, pressure, and EMG during sustained isometric contractions in humans. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol 1983;51:395-408.
- 2. Sejersted OM, Hargens AR, Kardel KR, et al. Intramuscular fluid pressure during isometric contraction of human skeletal muscle. J Appl Physiol 1984;56:287-95.
- Sjøgaard G, Savard G, Juel C. Muscle blood flow during isometric activity and its relation to muscle fatigue. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol 1988;57:327-35.
- 4. Jensen BR, Jørgensen K, Hargens AR, et al. Physiological response to submaximal isometric contractions of the paravertebral muscles. Spine 1999;24:2332-8.
- 5. Järvholm U, Styf J, Suurkula M, Herberts P. Intramuscular pressure and muscle blood flow in supraspinatus. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol 1988;8:219-24.
- 6. Wigmore DM, Damon BM, Pober DM, Kent-Braun JA. MRI measures of perfusion-related changes in

human skeletal muscle during progressive contractions. J App Physiol 2004;97:2385-94.

- 7. McCully KK, Hamaoka T. Near-Infrared Spectroscopy: What Can It Tell Us about Oxygen Saturation in Skeletal Muscle? Exerc Sport Sci Rev 2000;28:123-7.
- 8. Ferrari M, Mottola L, Quaresima V. Principles, techniques, and limitations of near infrared spectroscopy. Can J App Physiol 2004;29:463-87.
- 9. Pereira MI, Gomes PS, Bhambhani YN. A brief review of the use of near infrared spectroscopy with particular interest in resistance exercise. Sports Med, 2007;37:615-24.
- 10. Yoshitake Y, Ue H, Miyazaki M, Moritani T. Assessment of lower-back muscle fatigue using electromyography, mechanomyography, and near-infrared spectroscopy. Eur J App Physiol 2001;84:174-9.
- 11. Moalla W, Merzouk A, Costes F, et al. Muscle oxygenation and EMG activity during isometric exercise in children. J Sports Sci 2006;24:1195-201.
- 12. Maikala RV, Bhambhani, YN. Microvascularity of the lumbar erector spinae muscle during sustained prone trunk extension test. In: Liss P, Hansell P, Bruley DF, eds. Oxygen Transport to Tissue XXX. New York, NY USA: Springer Science+Business Media; 2009. pp. 67-73.
- 13. Katayama K, Yoshitake, Y, Watanabe K. Muscle deoxygenation during sustained and intermittent isometric exercise in hypoxia. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2010;42:1269-78.
- 14. Taelman J, Vanderhaegen J, Robijns M, et al. Estimation of muscle fatigue using surface electromyography and near-infrared spectroscopy. In: Liss P, Hansell P, Bruley DF, eds. Oxygen Transport to Tissue XXXII. New York, NY USA: Springer Science+Business Media 2011. pp. 353-9.
- 15 Booghs C, Baudry S, Enoka R, Duchateau J. Influence of neural adjustments and muscle oxygenation on task failure during sustained isometric contractions with elbow flexor muscles. Exp Physiol 2012, 97:918-29.
- McNeil CJ, Allen MD, Olympico E, et al. Blood flow and muscle oxygenation during low, moderate, and maximal sustained isometric contractions. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 2015;309:475-81.
- 17. Akima H, Ando R. Oxygenation and neuromuscular activation of the quadriceps femoris including the vastus intermedius during a fatiguing contraction. Clin Physiol Func Imaging 2017;37:750-8.
- Kell RT, BhambhaniY. Relationship between erector spinae muscle oxygenation via in vivo near infrared spectroscopy and static endurance time in healthy males. Eur J App Physiol 2008;102:243-50.
- 19. Pereira MI, Gomes PSC, Bhambhani YN. Acute effects of sustained isometric knee extension on

cerebral and muscle oxygenation responses. Clin Physiol Func Imaging 2009;29:300-8.

- 20. Felici F, Quaresima V, Fattorini L, et al. Biceps brachii myoelectric and oxygenation changes during static and sinusoidal isometric exercises. J Electromyogr Kinesiol 2009;19:1-11.
- Muthalib M, Millet GY, Quaresima V, Nosaka K. Reliability of near-infrared spectroscopy for measuring biceps brachii oxygenation during sustained and repeated isometric contractions. J Biomed Opt 2010;15:017008.
- 22. Muthalib M, Lee H, Millet GY, et al. The repeatedbout effect: influence on biceps brachii oxygenation and myoelectrical activity. J App Phy 2011;110:1390-99.
- 23. Muthalib M, Kerr G, Nosaka K, Perrey S. Local muscle metabolic demand induced by neuromuscular electrical stimulation and voluntary contractions at different force levels: a NIRS study. Eur J Transl Myol 2016;26:169-74.
- 24. Jones B, Dat M, Cooper CE. Underwater nearinfrared spectroscopy measurements of muscle oxygenation: laboratory validation and preliminary observations in swimmers and triathletes. J Biome Opt 2014, 19:127002.
- 25. Fryer S, Stoner L, Scarrott C. Forearm oxygenation and blood flow kinetics during a sustained contraction in multiple ability groups of rock climbers. Journal of sports sciences 2015;33:518-26.
- 26. Delcanho RE, Kim YJ, Clark GT. Haemodynamic changes induced by submaximal isometric contraction in painful and non-painful human masseter using near-infra-red spectroscopy. Arch Oral Bio1996;41:585-96.
- 27. Aizawa S, Tsukiyama Y, Koyano K, Clark GT. Reperfusion response changes induced by repeated, sustained contractions in normal human masseter muscle. Arch Oral Bio 2002;47 537-43.
- 28. Demura S, Nakada M. Relationships between force and muscle oxygenation kinetics during sustained static gripping using a progressive workload. J Physiol Anthropol 2009;28:109-14.
- 29. Usaj A. Differences in the oxygenation of the forearm muscle during isometric contraction in trained and untrained subjects. Cell Mol Biol Lett 2002;7:375-8.
- Gandjbakhche AH, Bonner RF, Arai AE, Balaban RS. Visible-light photon migration through myocardium in vivo. Am J Physiol 1999;277:698-704.
- 31. Beckert S, Witte MB, Königsrainer A, Coerper S. The impact of the Micro-Lightguide O2C for the quantification of tissue ischemia in diabetic foot ulcers. Diabetes Care 2004;27:2863-7.
- 32. Jørgensen LP, Schroeder TV. Micro-lightguide spectrophotometry for tissue perfusion in ischemic limbs. J Vasc Surg 2012;56:746-52.

Eur J Transl Myol 30 (1): xx1-xx9, 2020

- 33. Abel G, Allen J, Drinnan M. A pilot study of a new spectrophotometry device to measure tissue oxygen saturation. Physiol Meas, 2014;35:1769-80.
- 34. Forst T, Hohberg C, Tarakci E, et al. Reliability of lightguide spectrophotometry (O2C®) for the investigation of skin tissue microvascular blood flow and tissue oxygen supply in diabetic and nondiabetic subjects. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2008;2:1151-6.
- 35. Joshi D, Shiwalkar A, Cross MR, et al. Continuous, non-invasive measurement of the haemodynamic response to submaximal exercise in patients with diabetes mellitus: evidence of impaired cardiac reserve and peripheral vascular response. Heart 2010;96:36-41.
- 36. Frank KH, Kessler M, Appelbaum K, Dummler W. The Erlangen micro-lightguide spectrophotometer EMPHO I. Phys Med Biol 1989;34:1883-900.
- 37. Knobloch K, Lichtenberg A, Pichlmaier M, et al. Microcirculation of the sternum following harvesting of the left internal mammary artery. Thorac Cardiovasc Surg Rep 2003;51:255-9.
- 38. Knobloch K , Kraemer R, Lichtenberg A, et al. Microcirculation of the ankle after Cryo/Cuff application in healthy volunteers. Int J Sports Med 2006;27:250.
- 39. Monteiro AA, Svensson H, Bornmyr S, et al. Comparison of 133 Xe clearance and laser Doppler

flowmetry in assessment of blood flow changes in human masseter muscle induced by isometric contraction. Arch Oral Biol 1989;34:779-86.

- 40. McAuley JH, Marsden CD. Physiological and pathological tremors and rhythmic central motor control. Brain 2000;123:1545-67.
- 41. Beck T. Applications of Mechanomyography for Examining Muscle Function. Transworld Research Network 2010;37:95-107.
- 42. Maguire MA, Weaver TW, Damon BM. Delayed blood reoxygenation following maximum voluntary contraction. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2007;39:257-67.
- 43. Binzoni T, Cooper CE., Wittekind AL. A new method to measure local oxygen consumption in human skeletal muscle during dynamic exercise using near-infrared spectroscopy. Physiol Meas 2010;31:1257-69.
- 44. Kirkebø A, Wisnes A. Regional tissue fluid pressure in rat calf muscle during sustained contraction or stretch. Acta Physiol Scand 1982;114:551-6.

Submission: January, 06, 2020 Revision received: February 02, 2020 Acceptance: February 08, 2020

8.2 Publication 2: Muscle Oxygenation Level Might Trigger the Regulation of Capillary-venous Blood Filling during Fatiguing Isometric Muscle Actions.

Copy right notice: The reprinted version of this article was originally published in Diagnostics, Volume 11, No. 11 (2021) and belongs to the Special Issue "Translational Research on Muscle and Mobility Medicine".

Citation:

Dech, S.; Bittmann, F.N.; Schaefer, L.V. Muscle Oxygenation Level Might Trigger the Regulation of Capillary Venous Blood Filling during Fatiguing Isometric Muscle Actions. *Diagnostics* 2021, *11*, 1973. https://doi.org/10.3390/diagnostics11111973



Article



Muscle Oxygenation Level Might Trigger the Regulation of Capillary Venous Blood Filling during Fatiguing Isometric Muscle Actions

Silas Dech *^(D), Frank N. Bittmann ^(D) and Laura V. Schaefer ^(D)

Devision of Regulative Physiology and Prevention, Department of Sports and Health Sciences, University of Potsdam, 14476 Potsdam, Germany; bittmann@uni-potsdam.de (F.N.B.); lschaefe@uni-potsdam.de (L.V.S.)

* Correspondence: dech@uni-potsdam.de

Abstract: The regulation of oxygen and blood supply during isometric muscle actions is still unclear. Recently, two behavioral types of oxygen saturation (SvO₂) and relative hemoglobin amount (rHb) in venous microvessels were described during a fatiguing holding isometric muscle action (HIMA) (type I: nearly parallel behavior of SvO₂ and rHb; type II: partly inverse behavior). The study aimed to ascertain an explanation of these two regulative behaviors. Twelve subjects performed one fatiguing HIMA trial with each arm by weight holding at 60% of the maximal voluntary isometric contraction (MVIC) in a 90° elbow flexion. Six subjects additionally executed one fatiguing PIMA trial by pulling on an immovable resistance with 60% of the MVIC with each side and same position. Both regulative types mentioned were found during HIMA (I: n = 7, II: n = 17) and PIMA (I: n = 3, II: n = 9). During the fatiguing measurements, rHb decreased initially and started to increase in type II at an average SvO₂-level of 58.75 ± 2.14%. In type I, SvO₂ never reached that specific value during loading. This might indicate the existence of a threshold around 59% which seems to trigger the increase in rHb and could explain the two behavioral types. An approach is discussed to meet the apparent incompatibility of an increased capillary blood filling (rHb) despite high intramuscular pressures which were found by other research groups during isometric muscle actions.

Keywords: muscle oxygen saturation; hemoglobin amount; isometric muscle action; O2C spectrophotometer; capillary recruitment; blood flow; holding isometric muscle action (HIMA); pulling isometric muscle action (PIMA)

1. Introduction

During exercise, the demand for oxygen, nutrients and, therefore, blood increases in the muscular capillary system to transfer chemical energy into mechanical energy. During isometric muscle actions (IMAs), the regulation of blood filling of the microvessels is not entirely understood. In the past, a blood flow restriction or complete stop due to high intramuscular pressure have been discussed [1–5]. If the blood flow is restricted or stopped, the muscle ought to completely deoxygenate over time, i.e., the oxygen saturation decreases to zero. However, during IMAs maintained until muscle failure ("fatiguing measurements"), this assumption was not confirmed, at least in the examined superficial muscle layer [6–13]. On the one hand, the oxygen saturation showed an immediate decrease at the onset of loading [6-10] or short increase [11], followed by a leveling off into a steady state until fatigue [6–11]. These studies revealed that a homeostasis of oxygen delivery and consumption during IMAs is basically possible. On the other hand, a continuous decrease in the oxygen saturation with [12] or without [13] a previous slight increase has been described. However, it never decreased to zero until fatigue-related termination of the exercise. Other studies have limited the duration of muscle action [14-21] and, therefore, nothing can be said about the further progress of oxygen saturation. Nevertheless, steady states were also found in studies with limited loading durations [19-21].



Citation: Dech, S.; Bittmann, F.N.; Schaefer, L.V. Muscle Oxygenation Level Might Trigger the Regulation of Capillary Venous Blood Filling during Fatiguing Isometric Muscle Actions. *Diagnostics* **2021**, *11*, 1973. https://doi.org/10.3390/ diagnostics11111973

Academic Editor: Philip M. Gallagher

Received: 29 July 2021 Accepted: 19 October 2021 Published: 23 October 2021

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2021 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). Recently, our research group suggested to categorize the behavior of capillary venous oxygen saturation of hemoglobin (SvO₂) and relative hemoglobin amount (rHb), as an indicator of the blood filling, roughly into two patterns (type I and type II) [6]. The crucial difference was the behavior of rHb. In type I, it ran nearly parallel to SvO₂ (it only decreased and leveled off into a steady state), whereas in type II, it increased after reaching a reversal point (RP₁). Subsequent to a leveling off into a steady state, rHb decreased in type II after termination of loading until a second reversal point (RP₂) before returning to baseline level or higher. This behavior indicates a partial opposing behavior of both parameters [6]. The main objective of the present study was to clarify why rHb increases in type II. To investigate this, a closer look was taken at the course of rHb with regard to the behavior of SvO₂ over time and in comparison of both types. A triggered regulatory mechanism by a boundary oxygenation level (threshold) was already hypothesized [6]. This should bring new insights into the regulative behavior of the microcirculation in the superficial muscle tissue during IMAs.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Subjects

Twelve Caucasian subjects (9 males, 3 females, mean age \pm standard deviation (SD) = 29.75 \pm 11.14 years) participated. Nobody had any health problems, to meet the one and only inclusion criterion. They weighed averagely 72.00 \pm 11.03 kg and were 1.78 \pm 0.08 m tall (BMI: 22.61 \pm 1.93 $\frac{\text{kg}}{\text{m}^2}$). Except for two left-handed subjects, everybody was right-handed. The study was conducted according to the declaration of Helsinki and was approved by the ethics committee of the University of Potsdam, Germany (approval No. 28-2017, 2 February 2018). All subjects were informed in detail and gave their written consent to participate.

2.2. Measuring Technique

To examine SvO₂ and rHb of microvessels in the superficial muscle layers of the biceps brachii muscle, the O2C spectrophotometer was used (Oxygen To See; LEA© Medizintechnik GmbH, Gießen, Germany). The device operates with a combination of the laser Doppler technique and tissue spectrometry (laser light: near infrared, continuous wave, power > 30 mW; white light: 500–800 nm, 1 nm resolution). Previous studies have given a detailed description [22,23]. For a detection of SvO₂ and rHb, only the spectrometry is relevant. The sent white light is backscattered in different wavelengths in dependence of the ratio of oxygenated and deoxygenated hemoglobin. The detected wavelengths are used for the calculation of SvO₂ in %. The amount of light absorbed by the tissue is used for determining rHb in arbitrary units (AU). The specifications of the used flat probe (LF3, separation: 16 mm) allows for a light penetration depth of 12 mm. It was placed over the most prominent part of the biceps brachii muscle belly along its fibers. A double-sided adhesive film was used for fixation. The room light was dimmed to minimize light effects on the probe. The sampling rate was 40 Hz. The O2C device is valid and reliable [24–26] and is applicable to muscle tissue at rest [27] and during exercise [28].

2.3. Setting and Procedure

In the previous study, the differentiation of type I and type II was based on fatiguing measurements during a holding isometric muscle action of the left arm (HIMA) [6]. These measurements were also considered in the present study. The data set has been extended by measurements of the right arm of the same persons and two more subjects. Additionally, a fatiguing pulling isometric muscle action (PIMA) was performed by a subgroup (n = 6). The nomenclature of HIMA and PIMA was chosen according to Schaefer and Bittmann [29]. HIMA refers to an isometric muscle action while resisting an external force and was termed as "position task" [30–32] or "eccentrically loaded isometric contraction" [33] by other research groups. PIMA characterizes an isometric muscle action while force is developed against an immovable resistance in a pushing or pulling manner. This is also named

"force task" [30–32] or "concentrically loaded isometric contraction" [33]. Both isometric tasks were performed in the present study since there are indications that these differ in various parameters [10,29–32,34–36]. However, there are also studies which did not find a difference between HIMA and PIMA [33,37,38].

All subjects performed a fatiguing HIMA trial, once with the right arm and once with the left arm. A subgroup of n = 6 additionally performed a fatiguing PIMA trial with each side. The settings are illustrated in Figure 1a,b. During all measurements, a cuff was applied 2–3 cm proximal to the wrist crease. The upper arm was in contact with the thorax, the elbow joint was flexed in 90° and the forearm was maximally supinated to emphasize the activity of the biceps brachii muscle. The intensity of every fatiguing trial was 60% of the individual maximal voluntary isometric contraction (MVIC). This intensity was chosen because it might be theoretically high enough to restrict the blood flow due to the intramuscular pressure [2]. Moreover, the loading times should be long enough to test for muscular endurance [39]. During HIMA, every subject had to hold a respective weight of 60% of the MVIC for as long as possible while standing. The weight was taken off as soon as the elbow angle exceeded 90° for 2 s, assessed by the rater subjectively. During PIMA, the participants sat upright and had to pull on a strain gauge which was connected to an immovable resistance. For maintaining the target force for as long as possible, subjects had visual feedback on a monitor. As soon as the force remained below the target force for 2 s, the rater prompted the subject to stop the task. The rest between every measurement was at least 3 min. The order of the arms performing the IMA was randomized. In addition, the order of tasks (HIMA or PIMA) of the subgroup was also randomized to minimize the effect of fatigue. The parameters (SvO₂ and rHb) were recorded 10 s before every task in the measurements position and until 2 min of rest after loading.



Figure 1. Measurement position and set up during a holding isometric muscle action (HIMA) (**a**), reprinted from Dech et al. (2020) [6] with permission, and during a pulling isometric muscle action (PIMA) (**b**).

To determine the MVIC, a HIMA or PIMA was performed in dependance of the fatiguing tasks (only HIMA or PIMA additionally). The arm and cuff positions were identical as already described. For the participants who only performed fatiguing HIMA trials, the MVIC was determined by the highest possible weight which could be held for 1 s in an upright standing position (Figure 1a). The weights were added progressively within

maximal five steps and sufficient rest in between. For that, the rater hooked the respective weight onto the cuff and took it off after 1 s or if the elbow angle exceeded 90°. Because of the short duration, these measurements were not recorded by the O2C device.

The participants of the subgroup, who additionally performed fatiguing PIMA trials, sat in an upright position and pulled twice as strong as possible on a fixed strain gauge to record the maximum force (Figure 1b). These subjects were introduced to increase the force within 3 s to their maximum and hold it for at least 1 s. The rest between both trials was >2 min. These MVIC-tests were recorded by the O2C device.

The highest force value measured by the strain gauge (subgroup, maximal PIMA) or highest weight which could be held for 1 s (maximal HIMA), respectively, was determined as the MVIC.

2.4. Data Processing and Statistical Analysis

All curves were smoothed by using the software in NI DIAdemTM 2017 (moving average, maximal smoothing width on one side: 50 points). With respect to the research question, the curves were categorized visually into type I or type II as described by Dech et al. (2020) [6]: type I: parallel behavior of SvO_2 and rHb (Figure 2a); type II: partly inverse behavior of both parameters due to an increase in rHb after RP₁ and decrease after stop of loading until RP₂ (Figure 2b). The number of type I and type II measurements during fatiguing HIMA and PIMA trials as well as MVIC-tests were counted. Possible differences between HIMA and PIMA will not be considered here. This would be beyond the scope of the present study, i.e., to find a possible explanation of the two types. It will be presented within a more sophisticated study design (article in preparation). Without differentiation of HIMA and PIMA, the following variables were determined:

- (2) Time to task failure (TTF), defined as the time period in s from start to end of loading.
- (3) SvO₂ levels at the moment of RP_1 and RP_2 (only in type II, Figure 2b), presented as Ms and 1.96-fold standard deviations (1.96SDs) in %.
- (4) Time period in s from start until the minimum of rHb before start of its plateau (steady state). This corresponds to RP₁ in type II.

IBM SPSS Statistics 26 was used for the statistical analysis. MVICs were compared between left and right arm as well as dominant and non-dominant arm. Differences of SvO₂ baseline and deoxygenation levels (1) as well as TTFs (2) were compared between type I and type II. SvO₂ levels at the moment of RP₁ and RP₂ (3) were analyzed to collect information about the main research question (existence of a threshold). In this regard, it was tested if differences exist between RP₁ and RP₂. All data were normally distributed (Shapiro–Wilk test, p > 0.05), except for three variables (fatiguing measurements: SvO₂ baseline level of type I, SvO₂ deoxygenation of type II; MVIC-tests: SvO₂ level at RP₂). Regarding normal distributed variables, analyses of differences were made by parametric tests (*t*-tests, variance homogeneity). Comparisons including one of the three not normally distributed variables were made by Mann–Whitney U test (independent samples) or exact Wilcoxon signed-rank test (dependent samples). Effect sizes are given for significant results (Pearson's *r*):

$$=\frac{Z}{\sqrt{N}} \text{ or } r = \sqrt{\frac{t^2}{t^2 + df}}.$$
 (1)

An alpha error of 5% was chosen for all tests.

r



Figure 2. Curve examples of the capillary venous oxygen saturation of hemoglobin (SvO₂; red) and the relative hemoglobin amount (rHb, blue) in type I (**a**) with left arm and in type II (**b**) with the right arm of the same male left-hander (26 yrs, 1.85 m, 86 kg) during two fatiguing pulling isometric muscle actions at 60% of the MVIC of the biceps brachii muscle. Start and stop of loading are indicated by vertical lines. The first local minimum (1st Min.) was set exemplarily in (**a**) and the first local maximum (1st Max.) as well as reversal points (RP₁, RP₂) in (**b**). All curves were smoothed (moving average, maximal smoothing width: 50).

Furthermore, correlations of SvO₂ and rHb from start to the end of loading were determined by Spearman's rank correlation coefficients (ρ) for every fatiguing measurement. Before calculating M ± SD for each type, Fisher's *Z*-transformation was applied:

$$Z = \frac{1}{2} \times \ln\left(\frac{1+\rho}{1-\rho}\right) \tag{2}$$

M \pm SD are presented after back transformation in ρ :

$$\rho = \frac{e^{2Z} - 1}{e^{2Z} + 1} \tag{3}$$

3. Results

The averaged MVICs of all subjects did not differ significantly between the right (70.02 \pm 23.83 Nm) and the left arm (69.31 \pm 21.69 Nm, t(11) = 0.80, p = 0.442). This result did not change after correction for the lateral preference (dominant vs. non-dominant arm: t(11) = 0.57, p = 0.581).

3.1. Categorization of Measurements into Type I or II

Figure 2a,b illustrate the two behavioral patterns (type I and II) within the same subject during a fatiguing PIMA trial of the left and right arm. Based on the curve shapes, the visual categorization of all fatiguing measurements (HIMA and PIMA) as well as MVIC-tests (PIMA only) into type I (n = 25) and type II (n = 35) are given in Table 1. No measurement of the right arm during the fatiguing PIMA was assigned to type I. The categorization was not consistent within individuals because both types occurred in different trials in three female and three male subjects as shown exemplarily in Figure 2. During fatiguing HIMA trials of this subject, the behaviors were reversed for the left (type II) and right arm (type I).

	HIMA			PIMA			
Task	Fatiguing		Fatiguing		MVIC-Test		
arm	left	right	left	right	left	right	
type I (<i>n</i> = 25)	5	2	3	0	8	7	
	7		3		15		
type II (<i>n</i> = 35)	7	10	3	6	4	5	
	17		9		9		
total (<i>n</i> = 60)	12	12	6	6	12	12	
	24		12		24		

Table 1. Number (*n*) of type I and type II behaviors of the capillary venous oxygen saturation and blood filling separated by task and arm of twelve subjects.

3.2. Comparisons between Behavioral Types

Before the start of the fatiguing measurements, absolute SvO₂ values in type I at baseline differed significantly (M \pm SD = 78.04 \pm 4.50%, *n* = 10) from type II (73.28 \pm 5.97%, *n* = 26; *U* = -2.60, *p* = 0.008, *r* = 0.43). Before MVIC-tests, the difference between type I (71.37 \pm 4.92%, *n* = 15) and type II (68.51 \pm 4.34, *n* = 9) baseline values was not significant (*t*(22) = 1.44, *p* = 0.165).

During the fatiguing measurements of type I, SvO₂ and rHb behaved nearly parallel to each other (Figure 2a) with a positive average rank correlation of $\rho = 0.74 \pm 0.61$ (range: 0.19–0.99), p < 0.001. The minimum of rHb before leveling off into a steady state was reached after 11.41 \pm 3.44 s on average. Subsequently to the end of loading, SvO₂ approached to or increased above baseline value. In contrast, rHb decreased in type II until RP₁ within averagely 6.85 s \pm 3.39 s and approached to or increased above baseline value (Figure 2b). Consequently, the average rank correlation was negative ($\rho = -0.81 \pm 0.52$ (range: -0.97--0.18), p < 0.001). During recovery, rHb decreased until RP₂ before increasing again to the baseline value or higher. In type II, the hemoglobin deoxygenated significantly more (-24.45 ± 11.59 pp $= -18.25 \pm 9.35\%$, n = 26) than that of type I (-12.21 ± 3.67 pp $= -9.60 \pm 3.09\%$, n = 10; U = -3.46, p < 0.001, r = 0.58). The TTF did not differ significantly between type I (45.88 ± 10.26 s) and type II ($45.25 \ s \pm 12.40$ s); t(34) = 0.15, p = 0.886. All individual values of the presented variables during the fatiguing measurements can be found in the supplementary material (Tables S1 and S2).

During the MVIC-tests, the curve progresses of SvO₂ and rHb were similar to the fatiguing measurements in respect to the regulative behavior (type I or type II). SvO₂ also decreased significantly more in type II (-16.93 ± 3.41 pp $= -24.58 \pm 4.12\%$, n = 9) compared to type I (-8.59 ± 3.55 pp $= -11.93 \pm 4.64\%$, n = 15; t(22) = 5.66, p < 0.001, r = 0.77). However, SvO₂ decreased until stop of the test or somewhat further before approaching to baseline value. Thus, no steady state was seen. Individual values of the MVIC-tests can be found in the supplementary material (Tables S3 and S4).

3.3. Oxygenation Level at Reversal Points

According to the categorization of measurements, RPs of rHb exist only in type II. The SvO₂ values at RP₁ and RP₂ of all type II fatiguing measurements are shown in Figure 3. The respective Ms and 1.96SDs are given. The SvO₂ values between RP₁ and RP₂ differed not significantly (t(25) = -0.53, p = 0.600), whereby RP₂ showed nearly the same Ms (58.91 ± 2.72%) as RP₁ (58.75 ± 2.14%). During the MVIC-tests, SvO₂ at RP₁ was averagely 58.13 ± 1.66 pp and 57.82 ± 1.25 pp at RP₂. Values were not significantly different ($z_{exact} = -0.53$, p = 0.652, n = 9). Figure 4 shows M, 1.96SDs and individual values.



Figure 3. Capillary venous oxygen saturation of hemoglobin (SvO₂ in %) of 36 fatiguing measurements of twelve subjects. Type I minimum values (red crosses, n = 10) sorted by oxygenation level. Type II SvO₂ values at the first reversal points of the relative hemoglobin amount (RP₁, n = 26, black, sorted by oxygenation level) and respective SvO₂ values at RP₂ (grey) as well as minimum values (red crosses). In some measurements, RP₁ and RP₂ are nearly identical (only grey dots). The horizontal lines express the arithmetic means of SvO₂ values at RP₁ (black, hidden) and RP₂ (grey) of all 26 type II measurements. Dashed lines show the respective upper and lower 1.96-fold standard deviations.



Figure 4. Capillary venous oxygen saturation of hemoglobin (SvO₂ in %) of 24 MVIC-tests of six subjects. Type I minimum values (red crosses, n = 15) sorted by oxygenation level. Type II SvO₂ values at the first reversal points of the relative hemoglobin amount (RP₁, n = 9, black, sorted by oxygenation level) and respective SvO₂ values at RP₂ (grey) as well as minimum values (red crosses). The horizontal lines express the arithmetic means of SvO₂ values at RP₁ (black) and RP₂ (grey) of all nine type II measurements. Dashed lines show the respective upper and lower 1.96-fold standard deviations.

4. Discussion

Recently, our research group reported the occurrence of two regulative behaviors of oxygen saturation and blood filling in the venous microvessels (type I and type II) during a fatiguing HIMA at 60% of the MVIC and during an MVIC-test (PIMA) [6]. Type I showed a parallel behavior between SvO₂ and rHb. In contrast, the main characteristic of the type II behavior is an increase in rHb while SvO₂ decreases further on. The measurements of the presented study could also be clearly assigned to one of each type by visual inspection.

Regarding the categorization of measurements in Table 1, type I and type II occurred during both isometric tasks. The finding that PIMA measurements of the right arm were only assigned to type II, is assumed to be due to the small sample size. This should be verified in future examinations. Furthermore, person and gender might not play a role because both types occurred within individuals and in males as well as in females.

During the fatiguing measurements at 60% of the MVIC, more type II than type I behaviors occurred. In contrast, during the MVIC-tests it was revers. The occurrence of more type I than type II behaviors in MVIC-tests might be a result of the loading duration. Our research group already argued that a maximal deoxygenation during short lasting MVIC-test (~4 s) might not be possible [6]. In fatiguing trials, the TTF was similar even though the hemoglobin in type II measurements deoxygenated more than these in type I. This result might indicate an independence of the behavioral types from the TTF during similar submaximal intensities and, therefore, possibly from the endurance capacity of the involved muscle. Thus, the onset of fatigue might not be explained by the level of deoxygenation. This is in accordance with Booghs et al. (2012) [10]. However, in the present study, the elbow angle was only controlled subjectively. Consequently, TTFs should be interpreted with care.

The main finding of the study was that during fatiguing measurements, rHb started to increase only in type II at an average SvO_2 -level of $58.75 \pm 2.14\%$. In contrast, the SvO_2 of type I measurements never reached that specific value during loading. This might be an indication of a SvO_2 -threshold around 59%, which seems to trigger the increase in rHb. Thus, dropping below the proposed threshold or not could explain the behavioral type. In the following, the discussion focuses on this potentially triggered regulation of microvascular blood filling and on the possible underlying physiological mechanisms behind it. Lastly, it is discussed how an increase in blood filling might be plausible during IMA, which are generally known for impeding capillary blood flow.

4.1. Triggered Regulation of the Capillary Venous Blood Filling

The two behaviors (type I and type II) might reflect a specific kind of regulation in dependance of the oxygen saturation level. An increase in the capillary venous blood filling (rHb) started at an average SvO₂-level of 58.75%. The variation of that specific oxygenation level was very low (1.96SD = 4.16 pp), maybe indicating a specific and reproducible interpersonal threshold around 59%. A similar SvO₂ level was found at RP₂ (M = 58.91%, 1.96SD = 5.35 pp). RP₂ occurred after stop of loading which might indicate an independence of such behavior from the muscular tension. In type I measurements, SvO₂ partly reached but never decreased below 59%. Hence, the oxygenation level seems to determine the behavioral pattern (type I or type II). Reaching a SvO₂-threshold of ~59% might trigger an increase in rHb. It is suggested that this threshold lies within a transition area (± 1.96 SD = $\sim 55 - \sim 63$ %, Figure 3) which has to be passed to cause an increase in rHb in 95% of all cases. The hypothesized trigger mechanism might impede a further or complete deoxygenation and, therefore, might play an important role in regulating the blood filling of microvessels. According to these findings, the behavior of SvO₂ and rHb might be parallel at saturation levels greater than ~59% and inverse until the saturation levels off into a steady state below that threshold. Consequently, rHb behaves parallel again but on a higher level. As SvO_2 increases again after a stop in the loading but remains below ~59%, the behavior of both parameters is inverse and changes to a parallel one after exceeding the threshold again (Figure 2).

Other research groups also described or showed the progression over time of oxygen saturation, mostly expressed as tissue oxygenation index (TOI), as well as total hemoglobin (tHb), blood volume (BV) or total hemoglobin index (THI), measured by NIRS during fatiguing IMA [7–10,12,13,16,18,40,41]. This technique is comparable with the white light spectrometry used by the O2C device. Methodological differences have been discussed previously [6]. Most importantly, the O2C device detects microvessels < 100 μ m in diameter and the NIRS technique vessels < 1 mm. Other studies have focused mainly on group
level analyses [7,9,10,16,18] and/or presented only oxygenation data normalized to resting values [9,16,40,41]. This complicates a comparison with our approach, based on an analysis of rHb in relation to absolute SvO_2 values of individual measurements. Booghs et al. (2012) [10], who analyzed the normalized THI of the biceps brachii muscle during a fatiguing isometric action at 60% of the MVIC, found a return of group mean THI towards the baseline values within the first 25% of the TTF. During this time period, the TOI dropped below 60%. Because of few presented time points (25%, 50%, 75% of TTF and immediately prior to failure) of the averaged data, it is not clear at which saturation level the normalized THI started to increase. In the study of Felici et al. (2009) [16], the grand average rest value of the TOI during a fatiguing IMA at 60% of the MVIC of the biceps brachii muscle was $69.5\% \pm 6.3\%$. According to their graphs, the tHb started to increase after the TOI dropped approximately 5–10 pp [16]. Although, these are only normalized mean values of seven subjects, this result might roughly fit our suggested threshold. Akima and Ando (2017) also presented graphical data [8]. The tHb of the quadriceps femoris muscle (all parts) increased on group level after the oxygen saturation reached about 60% [8]. Jones et al. (2014) [18] reported the mean values of the tissue saturation index (TSI) of the quadriceps femoris muscle during an IMA at 50% of the MVIC. These ranged from 58.5% to 59% [18], and these were partly below our proposed threshold (59%) but within the suggested transition area (~55–~63%). It might explain why they did not find an increase in the averaged tHb since type I measurements also reached the transition area in our data. In the study of Katayama et al. (2002), the TOI of the vastus lateralis muscle also did not decrease below the 59%-threshold on average during an IMA at 60% of the MVIC [9]. Their presented mean curve of tHb did not change significantly [9]. If some of their measurements showed only a decrease (type I) and others showed an increase above baseline values (type II behavior) (data not presented), changes in the mean tHb would level out. This might explain the insignificance. In a shown representative time course of original NIRS signals, the TOI decreased below 40% without an increase in the tHb [9]. This individual example does not support the presumed threshold. Furthermore, Moalla et al. (2006) examined the vastus lateralis muscle of healthy male children during an IMA of 50% of the MVIC [7]. They did not find an average increase in the BV, despite a drop of the average oxygen saturation below 20%. The reasons for the different findings could be very diverse, including, e.g., the used measurement technique, the examined muscles, the chosen intensity, fitness level and age of the participants. Because of the partly inconclusive results of heterogeneous studies, further research is necessary to validate the suggested ~59%-threshold in different muscles, fiber types and deeper regions as well as in younger and older persons. Moreover, in the presented study, only SvO_2 and rHb and their possible dependance (trigger mechanism) were considered. Other variables such as "local increases in blood flow, temperature, carbon dioxide, acidity, adenosine, magnesium and potassium ions, and nitric oxide (NO) production" as listed by McArdle Katch and Katch (2010 [42], p. 334) could also be potential triggers in the regulation of blood filling. In addition, hydrogen ions, inorganic phosphate, prostaglandins and cytokines could be added to the list of potential substances [43]. In particular, the role of the radical NO will be addressed in the next subsection. However, the potential mediators might work synergistically instead of as one molecule alone [43].

4.2. Possible Physiological Explanation of the Regulative Response in Type II

As shown in the results and discussed before, in type II measurements, rHb initially decreased but increased after SvO₂ reached 58.75% \pm 2.14% on average. How could this increase in rHb be explained? One reason might be a stopped outflow due to a venous stasis [1]. However, this does not occur directly with the start of muscle action (initial decrease in type II). Furthermore, it would not be a general phenomenon at 60% of the MVIC, because in type I measurements rHb did not increase despite the same load intensity. In addition, different studies have shown that the oxygen saturation [6–10] and blood filling [7,44] decreased with a leveling off into a steady state during fatiguing IMAs. A venous stasis is not compatible with steady states if a complete anaerobic energy supply

is excluded during fatiguing exercises. The steady states of SvO_2 and rHb found in the presented data (type I and type II of fatiguing measurements) and other research groups imply a balanced delivery and consumption of oxygen and blood. Another reason for the increase in rHb could be a rise of cardiac output [12]. That is thought to be unlikely because only a small muscle group was activated in our study (arm flexors). Furthermore, the increase in rHb would be gradual instead of sudden as seen in the presented data. Thus, the increase found in rHb in type II could rather be the consequence of a redistribution of blood or red blood cells to the active motor units and/or of the increased blood flow in microcirculation [12,45–48]. This applies at least to the superficial muscle layer, where the intramuscular pressure is the lowest [2]. An accumulation of blood could be achieved by a local capillary recruitment [49]. Two recruitment theories have been described [50]. Both mechanisms behind the theories would expand the capillary O_2 -exchange area and have already been considered in analytical oxygen extraction models [50,51]. The older one hypothesized an opening of previously closed capillaries (binary recruitment) [50,52]. Despite a general acceptance in physiological and histological textbooks, the existence of precapillary sphincters as possible effectors is controversially discussed [43,48,53]. The scientific basis is limited to findings in the mesentery and could not be replicated in studies examining skeletal muscle tissue [53]. Furthermore, experimental and theoretical works challenge the hypothesis of closed capillaries during rest (for an overview see Poole et al., 2011 and 2020 [46,48]). In contrast, in the continuous or longitudinal recruitment theory a redistributed and homogenized blood flow of already perfused capillaries is hypothesized [46–48,50,54]. This approach considers the vasomotion of arterioles, the vessels with smoothed muscles, which regulate the blood flow. This stays in scientific consensus [53,54]. The arterioles also control the perfusion rate of the capillaries separately for red blood cells and plasma [43,48,54].

Thus, the increase in rHb could be the result of a vasodilation of arterioles. It is known that a vasodilation of blood vessels is initiated to maintain tissue oxygen consumption if systemic hypoxia arises [45,55–57]. In the regulation of the local vascular tone during exercise, the hypoxic induced release of NO seems to be the primary stimulus [56]. However, this concept remains controversial [55]. NO is inducted, e.g., by the neurohormone oxytocin [58], and it is regulated by β -adrenergic receptor mechanism during low-intensity exercises [56,57]. During higher intensities, vasodilation in skeletal muscle is clearly independent of this mechanism [56]. Thus, local dilatory mechanisms might be involved, but these are still not certainly identified [56,57]. In addition to systemic hypoxia, a local reduction in oxygen also stimulates vasodilation leading to a restoration of blood flow even though the compensatory response is not perfect [57]. The mechanisms behind this might be similar to systemic hypoxia [45,57]. Several pathways were suggested to explain the release of the vasodilatory NO. Adenosine or ATP release with activation of endothelial NO synthase, nitrate reduction by reaction of nitrate and deoxygenated hemoglobin as well as S-nitrosylated hemoglobin dependent bioactivity were discussed [55–57]. Further research is necessary to examine if such physiological mechanisms also apply to exercises including IMAs.

The blood filling in microvasculature might be embedded in complex regulatory processes to prevent a further deoxygenation of muscle tissue. A decreased oxygen saturation of hemoglobin is correlated with a local reduction in vascular resistance [45] and, therefore, vasodilation [59]. Thus, a SvO₂ decrease (hypoxia) during muscle actions is assumed to be the stimulus in a negative feedback control system [45]. In this regard, SvO₂ seems to be the controlled variable. The control of SvO₂ might aim to achieve a homeostasis (reference condition) expressed as SvO₂ steady states. The effector is the vascular smooth muscle in arterioles [45] which alters rHb via vasodilation or vasoconstriction. Thus, rHb would be the manipulated variable in such a loop regulation model. In contrast to the stimulus and effector, the sensor detecting SvO₂-level (hypoxia) and the signals/activators regulating the vascular tone are not clear yet [43,45]. SvO₂ or correlatives might be measured by sensors located in the endothelium, vascular smooth muscle cells, and red blood cells [56] or more precise in the hemoglobin [45]. The suggested threshold of ~59% might be associated with a tipping point during accumulation of activators (metabolic messengers or rather endothelia factors as NO) leading to a vasodilation. This, in turn, leads to an increase in the rHb which is associated with an increase in oxygen delivery to meet the greater oxygen demand and preventing a further decrease in SvO₂. Consequently, a steady state in SvO₂ and rHb can be provided. According to the "bang-bang-theory" or "on/off-theory", there might be an insensitive "dead-band" to the error signal (hypoxia) which enables a hysteresis of the blood filling [43]. This is necessary to prevent frequent adjustments in the vascular tone [43], and could explain the delay of blood support relative to the decrease in tissue saturation. The ~59%-threshold could refer to the lower boundary of the "dead-band". In comparison to regulations of other homeostatic systems, such an on/off behavior is normally not seen.

During muscle actions, the role of glucose should be considered in conjunction with oxygen [43]. Thus, the delayed vasodilation or initial vasoconstriction (decrease in rHb) could also be explained by an activated anaerobic glycolysis accompanied by an increasing lactate and superoxide production by membrane NAD(P)H-oxidase (Nox) at the beginning [43]. The superoxide (O_2^-) blocks NO signals until mitochondria start their work (recycling the NADH to NAD⁺ and resulting decrease in superoxide) [43]. In this regard, it could be reasonable that the start of mitochondrial activity plays a role in the variability of the suggested threshold (transition area). Regardless of the interpretation of the presented data, it remains questionable how the rHb can increase during IMA at all.

4.3. Increased Capillary Perfusion during Isometric Muscle Actions

Isometric muscle actions at 60% of the MVIC, as performed in the present study, should lead to high intramuscular pressures resulting in a blood flow restriction or complete stop [1–5]. However, the present data and other experimental data showed that the blood filling can increase (type II behavior), even during MVIC-tests [6,8,16,41,60]. Although the MVIC-test of our presented data mainly showed type I behaviors without an increase in rHb (n = 15), there were also measurements which showed an increase (type II behavior, n = 9) even during maximal intensities of muscular work. A stopped outflow (venous stasis) as an explanation for the increase in blood filling seems to be unlikely, as already discussed in the section above. Thus, capillary blood flow in superficial muscle tissue is probably maintained during IMAs even at high intensities. A vasodilatory process as discussed in the previous section could be the primary mechanism to explain the increase in microvascular blood filling. To meet the apparent incompatibility, anatomical considerations regarding the location of the capillaries in muscle tissue could be an approach. To our best knowledge, this was not considered before. Most of the capillaries proceed parallel to the muscle fibers within the endomysium [61]. In a cross-sectional view, capillaries, not to be confused with nuclei [62], are primarily located in the endomysium where three or four muscle fibers adjoin each other [63,64] (Figure 5, taken from Brelje and Sorenson [65]). If muscle fibers contract or tense during a muscle action, their circumference will increase. According to the geometrical configuration [62,64], a widening of the triangular spaces in between seems to be reasonable. Thus, the whole blood filling capacity of capillaries would be available despite a greater muscular tension. Even negative pressure differences might arise thereby. Under the described anatomical circumstances, the intramuscular pressure could be higher than the capillary pressure. Moreover, Poole and colleagues argued that muscle capillaries do not collapse easily under conditions of increased muscle or reduced intraluminal pressure. They explain this by the presence of collagen struts [46,48]. Furthermore, nerve fibers are also located in the endomysium [64,65], and they might be protected from the muscular compression due to their anatomical position, too.



Figure 5. Cross-section of a striated human muscle. Capillaries are located in the endomysium where several muscle fibers adjoin. Cave: Nuclei (blue) are easily confused with capillaries (modified according to Sorenson and Brelje, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, MN, USA, with kind permission [65]).

In conjunction with the anatomical considerations, the muscular blood flow during IMA might be supported by oscillations. Muscles oscillate transversally around 10–15 Hz during IMA [19,29,35,66–71]. These oscillations are an expression of the firing rate of motor units [19]. Thereby, the amplitude increases with higher intensities of muscle action [67]. Yoshitake et al. (2001) found a nearly constant group mean frequency of 10.5–11.9 Hz from start until the end of a fatiguing isometric back extension in the mechanomyographic signal (MMG) of the erector spinae muscles [19]. However, the amplitude in the MMG signal increased significantly at first and then decreased continuously until fatigue [19]. The absolute contraction intensity is not known in that study but is estimated to be 45%on average. However, the found behavior of MMG amplitude is not identical over all intensities during sustained contractions. It tends to increase at force levels between 10% and 40% of the MVIC, does not change or decreases from 50% to 80% and decreases from 90% to 100% [72]. Moreover, there are also indications of differences in the courses of MMG amplitudes between fiber types [73]. Yoshitake and colleagues (2001) discussed that the reduced amplitudes found in their examination resulted from slowed contractile elements (extension of relaxation time) and, therefore, decreased dimensional changes of the active fibers [19]. From their point of view, this would result in an increased intramuscular pressure and a restriction of the muscle blood flow, and could consequently explain the onset of fatigue. In contrast, MMG amplitude seems not to change with an increase in intramuscular pressure [74]. Moreover, due to maintenance of muscular oscillations until fatigue independently of the amplitudes, the opinion of a blood flow restriction per se might be challenged. Our research group already supposed the oscillatory behavior might serve as a pump and, therefore, could support the capillary blood flow [29]. In addition, Yoshitake et al. (2001) found steady states of the oxygenated hemoglobin amount after an initial decrease recorded together with the MMG [19]. As discussed before, a steady state implies a balanced oxygen delivery and consumption. If the blood flow is restricted while the demand increases in the exercising muscle, the available oxygen will be depleted over time. However, this has not been seen in experimental studies yet. Thus, the onset of fatigue seems not to be explained by the oxygen supply, but rather by other metabolic or neuromuscular factors.

4.4. Study Limitations

No gold standard exists for muscle oxygen saturation measurements [75]. The near infrared spectroscopy or white light spectrometry as used in the present study are recently used techniques. Limitations were described previously [6,76–78]. In brief, it should be noticed that an influence of arterial blood cannot be completely excluded in the recordings [76–79]. Regions of the muscle deeper than 12 mm with possible higher intramuscular pressures [2,80] cannot be examined by the device used in the present study. In this regard, it should be questioned if results would be different in deeper muscle layers. In a more advanced study design, the specific morphology of examined soft tissue, e.g. the individual muscle thickness, could be controlled by functional echomyography or computed tomography scans (CT-scans) in future measurements [81–83]. In this regard, the subcutaneous fat layer also plays a role and might have affected the measured parameters [84]. The skinfold thickness was not examined, but we assume low values in our normal weighted participants (BMI: 22.61 \pm 1.93 $\frac{\text{kg}}{\text{m}^2}$) for whom the skinfold thickness above the examined biceps brachii muscle is regularly low. If the fat layer was too thick, the white light would not have reached muscle tissue and no change in the SvO₂ would be recognized. However, the thickness of the fat layer could have been different and, thus, tissue penetration depths of the white light might have been different in our subjects. Furthermore, six MVICs were determined by gold standard (strain gauge, PIMA). The other six were determined by weight holding (HIMA) and could not reach the same accuracy. The influence is expected to be small. As already mentioned, the termination of loading during the fatiguing HIMA trials was not standardized. The examiner stopped the loading as soon as the elbow exceeded 90° for more than two seconds according to visual inspection. This might have influenced the TTF. At last, the small sample size and differences in the age (min.-max.: 19-58 yrs.) of the explorative study must be mentioned. Despite all limitations and very clear findings, it could be worthwhile to examine a greater sample including participants of different ages and different fitness conditions.

5. Conclusions

Based on the method used, the presented data highlighted the obvious relation of oxygenation and blood filling of microvessels in superficial muscle tissue. It was found that the blood filling (rHb) can increase after a previous decrease during IMA at intensities of 60% and even of 100% of the MVIC. This reversal seems to be related to the amount of deoxygenation. Based on the results it is assumed that the reversal occurs if the oxygenation level decreases considerably (transition area around 59% SvO₂). It is hypothesized that this might trigger the regulation of blood filling.

The method used does not allow for direct conclusions on capillary blood flow, but indirect conclusions by regarding rHb and SvO₂ behaviors can be drawn. The increase that occurred in blood filling and steady state of oxygen saturation indicate a maintained capillary blood flow and against a venous stasis, as was discussed. On the basis of these findings, we propose to reconsider and discuss the current concept of a principally restricted or stopped capillary blood flow during IMAs. Possible theoretical explanations for the maintenance of blood flow and for an expansion of the O₂-exchange area (indicated by an increase in rHb) might be found in the special anatomical location of capillaries and the mechanical oscillations of muscle fibers during IMA. Due to those properties and features, the steady states found might have emerged. The mechanisms are not clear yet and, therefore, it is suggested to take a closer look at those anatomical and functional aspects in future studies. Further research is needed to investigate if deeper regions of muscles and different muscle fiber types show similar behavior. Furthermore, the possible influences of age, training and health status should be examined. Supposing that the findings hold true in future studies, deviations from regulative norms could potentially serve as an early diagnostic tool for metabolic disorders, myopathies or even chronic fatigue syndrome.

Supplementary Materials: The following are available online at https://www.mdpi.com/article/10 .3390/diagnostics11111973/s1, Table S1: Single values of fatiguing measurements of type I behavior. Table S2: Single values of fatiguing measurements of type II behavior. Table S3: Single values of MVIC-tests of type I behaviors. Table S4: Single values of MVIC-tests of type I behaviors.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, L.V.S. and F.N.B.; methodology, L.V.S., F.N.B. and S.D.; software, S.D.; validation, L.V.S., F.N.B. and S.D.; formal analysis, S.D.; investigation, L.V.S., F.N.B. and S.D.; writing—Original draft preparation, S.D.; writing—Review and editing, L.V.S., F.N.B. and S.D.; visualization, S.D.; supervision, L.V.S. and F.N.B.; project administration, L.V.S. and F.N.B. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research received no external funding.

Institutional Review Board Statement: The study was conducted according to the guidelines of the Declaration of Helsinki, and approved by Ethics Committee of the University of Potsdam (protocol code 28-2017, approval date 2 February 2018).

Informed Consent Statement: Written informed consent was obtained from all subjects involved in the study.

Data Availability Statement: The data presented in this study are available in the main article and Supplementary Materials.

Acknowledgments: The authors appreciate the technical support of LEA Medizintechnik GmbH. Furthermore, we would like to thank Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft and Open Access Publishing Fund of University of Potsdam.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Abbreviations

first local maximum
first local minimum
1.96-fold standard deviation
arbitrary units
body mass index
blood volume
holding isometric muscle action
isometric muscle action
arithmetic mean
mechanomyography
maximal voluntary isometric contraction
nicotine adenine dinucleotide (oxidized/reduced, H for hydrogen)
reduced form of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
NAD(P)H-oxidase
National Instruments DIAdem TM
near infrared spectroscopy technique
nitric oxide
superoxide anion
Oxygen To See (device, LEA Medizintechnik GmbH)
pushing or pulling isometric muscle action
relative hemoglobin amount
reversal point
standard deviation
capillary venous oxygen saturation of hemoglobin
total hemoglobin
total hemoglobin index
time to task failure

References

- 1. Sadamoto, T.; Bonde-Petersen, F.; Suzuki, Y. Skeletal Muscle Tension, Flow, Pressure, and EMG during Sustained Isometric Contractions in Humans. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol. Occup. Physiol.* **1983**, *51*, 395–408. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Sejersted, O.M.; Hargens, A.R.; Kardel, K.R.; Blom, P.; Jensen, O.; Hermansen, L. Intramuscular Fluid Pressure during Isometric Contraction of Human Skeletal Muscle. J. App. Physiol. 1984, 56, 287–295. [CrossRef]
- 3. Sjøgaard, G.; Savard, G.; Juel, C. Muscle Blood Flow during Isometric Activity and Its Relation to Muscle Fatigue. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol. Occup. Physiol.* **1988**, 57, 327–335. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 4. Jensen, B.R.; Jørgensen, K.; Hargens, A.R.; Nielsen, P.K.; Nicolaisen, T. Physiological Response to Submaximal Isometric Contractions of the Paravertebral Muscles. *Spine* **1999**, *24*, 2332. [CrossRef]
- 5. Järvholm, U.; Styf, J.; Suurkula, M.; Herberts, P. Intramuscular Pressure and Muscle Blood Flow in Supraspinatus. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* **1988**, *58*, 219–224. [CrossRef]
- 6. Dech, S.; Bittmann, F.; Schaefer, L. Behavior of Oxygen Saturation and Blood Filling in the Venous Capillary System of the Biceps Brachii Muscle during a Fatiguing Isometric Action. *Eur. J. Transl. Myol.* **2020**, *30*, 79–87. [CrossRef]
- Moalla, W.; Merzouk, A.; Costes, F.; Tabka, Z.; Ahmaidi, S. Muscle Oxygenation and EMG Activity during Isometric Exercise in Children. J. Sports Sci. 2006, 24, 1195–1201. [CrossRef]
- 8. Akima, H.; Ando, R. Oxygenation and Neuromuscular Activation of the Quadriceps Femoris Including the Vastus Intermedius during a Fatiguing Contraction. *Clin. Physiol. Funct. Imaging* **2017**, *37*, 750–758. [CrossRef]
- 9. Katayama, K.; Yoshitake, Y.; Watanabe, K.; Akima, H.; Ishida, K. Muscle Deoxygenation during Sustained and Intermittent Isometric Exercise in Hypoxia. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* **2010**, *42*, 1269–1278. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Booghs, C.; Baudry, S.; Enoka, R.; Duchateau, J. Influence of Neural Adjustments and Muscle Oxygenation on Task Failure during Sustained Isometric Contractions with Elbow Flexor Muscles. *Exp. Physiol.* 2012, 97, 918–929. [CrossRef]
- Taelman, J.; Vanderhaegen, J.; Robijns, M.; Naulaers, G.; Spaepen, A.; Van Huffel, S. Estimation of Muscle Fatigue Using Surface Electromyography and Near-Infrared Spectroscopy. In *Oxygen Transport to Tissue XXXII*; LaManna, J.C., Puchowicz, M.A., Xu, K., Harrison, D.K., Bruley, D.F., Eds.; Springer: Boston, MA, USA, 2011; pp. 353–359.
- 12. Kell, R.T.; Bhambhani, Y. Relationship between Erector Spinae Muscle Oxygenation via in Vivo near Infrared Spectroscopy and Static Endurance Time in Healthy Males. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* **2008**, *102*, 243–250. [CrossRef]
- Fryer, S.; Stoner, L.; Scarrott, C.; Lucero, A.; Witter, T.; Love, R.; Dickson, T.; Draper, N. Forearm Oxygenation and Blood Flow Kinetics during a Sustained Contraction in Multiple Ability Groups of Rock Climbers. *J. Sports Sci.* 2015, 33, 518–526. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 14. Muthalib, M.; Kerr, G.; Nosaka, K.; Perrey, S. Local Muscle Metabolic Demand Induced by Neuromuscular Electrical Stimulation and Voluntary Contractions at Different Force Levels: A NIRS Study. *Eur. J. Transl. Myol.* **2016**, *26*. [CrossRef]
- 15. Pereira, M.I.R.; Gomes, P.S.C.; Bhambhani, Y.N. Acute Effects of Sustained Isometric Knee Extension on Cerebral and Muscle Oxygenation Responses. *Clin. Physiol. Funct. Imaging* **2009**, *29*, 300–308. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 16. Felici, F.; Quaresima, V.; Fattorini, L.; Sbriccoli, P.; Filligoi, G.C.; Ferrari, M. Biceps Brachii Myoelectric and Oxygenation Changes during Static and Sinusoidal Isometric Exercises. *J. Electromyogr. Kinesiol.* **2009**, *19*, e1–e11. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 17. Muthalib, M.; Lee, H.; Millet, G.Y.; Ferrari, M.; Nosaka, K. The Repeated-Bout Effect: Influence on Biceps Brachii Oxygenation and Myoelectrical Activity. J. Appl. Physiol. 2011, 110, 1390–1399. [CrossRef]
- 18. Jones, B.; Dat, M.; Cooper, C.E. Underwater Near-Infrared Spectroscopy Measurements of Muscle Oxygenation: Laboratory Validation and Preliminary Observations in Swimmers and Triathletes. *J. Biomed. Opt.* **2014**, *19*, 127002. [CrossRef]
- 19. Yoshitake, Y.; Ue, H.; Miyazaki, M.; Moritani, T. Assessment of Lower-Back Muscle Fatigue Using Electromyography, Mechanomyography, and near-Infrared Spectroscopy. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* **2001**, *84*, 174–179. [CrossRef]
- Maikala, R.V.; Bhambhani, Y.N. Microvascularity of the Lumbar Erector Spinae Muscle During Sustained Prone Trunk Extension Test. In *Oxygen Transport to Tissue XXX*; Liss, P., Hansell, P., Bruley, D.F., Harrison, D.K., Eds.; Springer: Boston, MA, USA, 2009; pp. 67–73.
- 21. McNeil, C.J.; Allen, M.D.; Olympico, E.; Shoemaker, J.K.; Rice, C.L. Blood Flow and Muscle Oxygenation during Low, Moderate, and Maximal Sustained Isometric Contractions. *Am. J. Physiol.* **2015**, *309*, R475–R481. [CrossRef]
- 22. Frank, K.H.; Kessler, M.; Appelbaum, K.; Dummler, W. The Erlangen Micro-Lightguide Spectrophotometer EMPHO I. *Phys. Med. Biol.* **1989**, *34*, 1883–1900. [CrossRef]
- 23. Knobloch, K.; Kraemer, R.; Lichtenberg, A.; Jagodzinski, M.; Gosling, T.; Richter, M.; Krettek, C. Microcirculation of the Ankle after Cryo/Cuff Application in Healthy Volunteers. *Int. J. Sports Med.* **2005**, *27*, 250–255. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 24. Beckert, S.; Witte, M.B.; Königsrainer, A.; Coerper, S. The Impact of the Micro-Lightguide O2C for the Quantification of Tissue Ischemia in Diabetic Foot Ulcers. *Diabetes Care* 2004, 27, 2863–2867. [CrossRef]
- 25. Jørgensen, L.P.; Schroeder, T.V. Micro-Lightguide Spectrophotometry for Tissue Perfusion in Ischemic Limbs. J. Vasc. Surg. 2012, 56, 746–752. [CrossRef]
- Abel, G.; Allen, J.; Drinnan, M. A Pilot Study of a New Spectrophotometry Device to Measure Tissue Oxygen Saturation. *Physiol. Meas.* 2014, 35, 1769–1780. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 27. Forst, T.; Hohberg, C.; Tarakci, E.; Forst, S.; Kann, P.; Pfützner, A. Reliability of Lightguide Spectrophotometry (O2C®) for the Investigation of Skin Tissue Microvascular Blood Flow and Tissue Oxygen Supply in Diabetic and Nondiabetic Subjects. *J. Diabetes Sci. Technol.* **2008**, *2*, 1151–1156. [CrossRef]

- Joshi, D.; Shiwalkar, A.; Cross, M.R.; Sharma, S.K.; Vachhani, A.; Dutt, C. Continuous, Non-Invasive Measurement of the Haemodynamic Response to Submaximal Exercise in Patients with Diabetes Mellitus: Evidence of Impaired Cardiac Reserve and Peripheral Vascular Response. *Heart* 2010, *96*, 36–41. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Schaefer, L.V.; Bittmann, F.N. Are There Two Forms of Isometric Muscle Action? Results of the Experimental Study Support a Distinction between a Holding and a Pushing Isometric Muscle Function. *BMC Sports Sci. Med. Rehabilit.* 2017, 9, 11. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 30. Rudroff, T.; Barry, B.K.; Stone, A.L.; Barry, C.J.; Enoka, R.M. Accessory Muscle Activity Contributes to the Variation in Time to Task Failure for Different Arm Postures and Loads. *J. Appl. Physiol.* **2007**, *102*, 1000–1006. [CrossRef]
- Rudroff, T.; Justice, J.N.; Holmes, M.R.; Matthews, S.D.; Enoka, R.M. Muscle Activity and Time to Task Failure Differ with Load Compliance and Target Force for Elbow Flexor Muscles. J. Appl. Physiol. 2010, 110, 125–136. [CrossRef]
- 32. Rudroff, T.; Kalliokoski, K.K.; Block, D.E.; Gould, J.R.; Klingensmith, W.C.; Enoka, R.M. PET/CT Imaging of Age- and Task-Associated Differences in Muscle Activity during Fatiguing Contractions. *J. Appl. Physiol.* **2013**, *114*, 1211–1219. [CrossRef]
- 33. Garner, J.C.; Blackburn, T.; Weimar, W.; Campbell, B. Comparison of Electromyographic Activity during Eccentrically versus Concentrically Loaded Isometric Contractions. *J. Electromyogr. Kinesiol.* **2008**, *18*, 466–471. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 34. Hunter, S.K.; Ryan, D.L.; Ortega, J.D.; Enoka, R.M. Task Differences With the Same Load Torque Alter the Endurance Time of Submaximal Fatiguing Contractions in Humans. *J. Neurophysiol.* **2002**, *88*, 3087–3096. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Schaefer, L.V.; Bittmann, F.N. Paired Personal Interaction Reveals Objective Differences between Pushing and Holding Isometric Muscle Action. *PLoS ONE* 2021, 16, e0238331. [CrossRef]
- Dech, S.; Bittmann, F.N.; Schaefer, L.V. Assessment of the Adaptive Force of Elbow Extensors in Healthy Subjects Quantified by a Novel Pneumatically Driven Measurement System with Considerations of Its Quality Criteria. *Diagnostics* 2021, 11, 923. [CrossRef]
- Semmler, J.G.; Kornatz, K.W.; Dinenno, D.V.; Zhou, S.; Enoka, R.M. Motor Unit Synchronisation Is Enhanced during Slow Lengthening Contractions of a Hand Muscle. J. Physiol. 2002, 545, 681–695. [CrossRef]
- Kahn, J.F.; Kapitaniak, B.; Monod, H. Comparison of Two Modalities When Exerting Isometric Contractions. *Europ. J. Appl. Physiol.* 1985, 54, 331–335. [CrossRef]
- 39. Schoenfeld, B.J.; Grgic, J.; Van Every, D.W.; Plotkin, D.L. Loading Recommendations for Muscle Strength, Hypertrophy, and Local Endurance: A Re-Examination of the Repetition Continuum. *Sports* **2021**, *9*, 32. [CrossRef]
- 40. Delcanho, R.E.; Kim, Y.J.; Clark, G.T. Haemodynamic Changes Induced by Submaximal Isometric Contraction in Painful and Non-Painful Human Masseter Using near-Infra-Red Spectroscopy. *Arch. Oral Biol.* **1996**, *41*, 585–596. [CrossRef]
- 41. Usaj, A. Differences in the Oxygenation of the Forearm Muscle during Isometric Contraction in Trained and Untrained Subjects. *Cell. Mol. Biol. Lett.* **2002**, *7*, 375–377.
- 42. McArdle, W.D.; Katch, F.I.; Katch, V.L. *Exercise Physiology: Nutrition, Energy, and Human Performance*, 7th ed.; Lippincott Williams & Wilkins: Philadelphia, PA, USA, 2010; ISBN 978-0-7817-9781-8.
- 43. Golub, A.S.; Pittman, R.N. Bang-Bang Model for Regulation of Local Blood Flow. *Microcirculation* 2013, 20, 455–483. [CrossRef]
- 44. Aizawa, S.; Tsukiyama, Y.; Koyano, K.; Clark, G.T. Reperfusion Response Changes Induced by Repeated, Sustained Contractions in Normal Human Masseter Muscle. *Arch. Oral Biol.* **2002**, *47*, 537–543. [CrossRef]
- Allen, B.W.; Stamler, J.S.; Piantadosi, C.A. Hemoglobin, Nitric Oxide and Molecular Mechanisms of Hypoxic Vasodilation. *Trends Mol. Med.* 2009, 15, 452–460. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 46. Poole, D.C.; Copp, S.W.; Hirai, D.M.; Musch, T.I. Dynamics of Muscle Microcirculatory and Blood–Myocyte O2 Flux during Contractions. *Acta Physiol.* **2011**, *202*, 293–310. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Poole, D.C.; Copp, S.W.; Ferguson, S.K.; Musch, T.I. Skeletal Muscle Capillary Function: Contemporary Observations and Novel Hypotheses. *Exp. Physiol.* 2013, *98*, 1645–1658. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 48. Poole, D.C.; Pittman, R.N.; Musch, T.I.; Østergaard, L. August Krogh's Theory of Muscle Microvascular Control and Oxygen Delivery: A Paradigm Shift Based on New Data. *J. Physiol.* **2020**, *598*, 4473–4507. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Cayot, T.E.; Lauver, J.D.; Silette, C.R.; Scheuermann, B.W. Effects of Blood Flow Restriction Duration on Muscle Activation and Microvascular Oxygenation during Low-Volume Isometric Exercise. *Clin. Physiol. Funct. Imaging* 2016, 36, 298–305. [CrossRef]
- 50. Angleys, H.; Østergaard, L. Krogh's Capillary Recruitment Hypothesis, 100 Years on: Is the Opening of Previously Closed Capillaries Necessary to Ensure Muscle Oxygenation during Exercise? *Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ.* 2019, 318, H425–H447. [CrossRef]
- 51. Krogh, A. The Number and Distribution of Capillaries in Muscles with Calculations of the Oxygen Pressure Head Necessary for Supplying the Tissue. *J. Physiol.* **1919**, *52*, 409–415. [CrossRef]
- 52. Krogh, A. The Supply of Oxygen to the Tissues and the Regulation of the Capillary Circulation. *J. App. Physiol.* **1919**, *52*, 457–474. [CrossRef]
- 53. Sakai, T.; Hosoyamada, Y. Are the Precapillary Sphincters and Metarterioles Universal Components of the Microcirculation? An Historical Review. J. Physiol. Sci. 2013, 63, 319–331. [CrossRef]
- 54. Segal, S.S. Regulation of Blood Flow in the Microcirculation. *Microcirculation* 2005, 12, 33–45. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 55. Kulandavelu, S.; Balkan, W.; Hare, J.M. Regulation of Oxygen Delivery to the Body via Hypoxic Vasodilation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **2015**, *112*, 6254–6255. [CrossRef]
- 56. Dinenno, F.A. Skeletal Muscle Vasodilation during Systemic Hypoxia in Humans. J. Appl. Physiol. 2016, 120, 216–225. [CrossRef]

- 57. Casey, D.P.; Joyner, M.J. Local Control of Skeletal Muscle Blood Flow during Exercise: Influence of Available Oxygen. *J. Appl. Physiol.* **2011**, *111*, 1527–1538. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 58. Costa, A.; Rossi, E.; Scicchitano, B.M.; Coletti, D.; Moresi, V.; Adamo, S. Neurohypophyseal Hormones: Novel Actors of Striated Muscle Development and Homeostasis. *Eur. J. Transl. Myol.* **2014**, *24*, 3790. [CrossRef]
- 59. Delong, C.; Sharma, S. Physiology, Peripheral Vascular Resistance. In StatPearls; StatPearls Publishing: Treasure Island, FL, USA, 2021.
- 60. Demura, S.; Nakada, M. Relationships between Force and Muscle Oxygenation Kinetics during Sustained Static Gripping Using a Progressive Workload. *J. Physiol. Anthropol.* **2009**, *28*, 109–114. [CrossRef]
- 61. Haas, T.L.; Nwadozi, E. Regulation of Skeletal Muscle Capillary Growth in Exercise and Disease. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 2015, 40, 1221–1232. [CrossRef]
- 62. Plyley, M.; Groom, A. Geometrical Distribution of Capillaries in Mammalian Striated Muscle. *Am. J. Physiol.* **1975**, 228, 1376–1383. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Al-Shammari, A.A.; Gaffney, E.A.; Egginton, S. Modelling Capillary Oxygen Supply Capacity in Mixed Muscles: Capillary Domains Revisited. J. Theor. Biol. 2014, 356, 47–61. [CrossRef]
- 64. Gartner, L.P. Color Atlas and Text of Histology, 7th ed.; Lippincott Williams & Wilkins: Philadelphia, PA, USA, 2017; ISBN 978-1-4963-4673-5.
- 65. Brelje, T.C.; Sorenson, R.L. HistologyGuide.Com, University of Minnesota, MN, USA. Available online: http://histologyguide. com/slideview/MHS-262-skeletal-muscle/04-slide-1.html (accessed on 30 July 2020).
- Schaefer, L.V.; Torick, A.H.; Matuschek, H.; Holschneider, M.; Bittmann, F.N. Synchronization of Muscular Oscillations Between Two Subjects During Isometric Interaction. *Eur. J. Transl. Myol.* 2014, 24, 2237. [CrossRef]
- Schaefer, L.V.; Bittmann, F.N. Coherent Behavior of Neuromuscular Oscillations between Isometrically Interacting Subjects: Experimental Study Utilizing Wavelet Coherence Analysis of Mechanomyographic and Mechanotendographic Signals. *Sci. Rep.* 2018, *8*, 15456. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 68. McAuley, J.H.; Marsden, C.D. Physiological and Pathological Tremors and Rhythmic Central Motor Control. *Brain* 2000, 123, 1545–1567. [CrossRef]
- 69. Schaefer, L.V.; Löffler, N.; Klein, J.; Bittmann, F.N. Mechanomyography and Acceleration Show Interlimb Asymmetries in Parkinson Patients without Tremor Compared to Controls during a Unilateral Motor Task. *Sci. Rep.* **2021**, *11*, 2631. [CrossRef]
- Schaefer, L.; Bittmann, F. Mechanotendography in Achillodynia Shows Reduced Oscillation Variability of Pre-Loaded Achilles Tendon: A Pilot Study. *Eur. J. Transl. Myol.* 2020, *30*, 247–257. [CrossRef]
- 71. Schaefer, L.V.; Bittmann, F.N. Parkinson Patients without Tremor Show Changed Patterns of Mechanical Muscle Oscillations during a Specific Bilateral Motor Task Compared to Controls. *Sci. Rep.* **2020**, *10*, 1168. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 72. Ibitoye, M.O.; Hamzaid, N.A.; Zuniga, J.M.; Abdul Wahab, A.K. Mechanomyography and Muscle Function Assessment: A Review of Current State and Prospects. *Clin. Biomech.* **2014**, *29*, 691–704. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Beck, T.W.; Housh, T.J.; Fry, A.C.; Cramer, J.T.; Weir, J.P.; Schilling, B.K.; Falvo, M.J.; Moore, C.A. The Influence of Muscle Fiber Type Composition on the Patterns of Responses for Electromyographic and Mechanomyographic Amplitude and Mean Power Frequency during a Fatiguing Submaximal Isometric Muscle Action. *Electromyogr. Clin. Neurophysiol.* 2007, 47, 221–232.
- 74. Shinohara, M.; Søgaard, K. Mechanomyography for Studying Force Fluctuations and Muscle Fatigue. *Exerc. Sport Sci. Rev.* 2006, 34, 59–64. [CrossRef]
- 75. Feldmann, A.M.; Erlacher, D.; Pfister, S.; Lehmann, R. Muscle Oxygen Dynamics in Elite Climbers during Finger-Hang Tests at Varying Intensities. *Sci. Rep.* 2020, *10*, 3040. [CrossRef]
- 76. McCully, K.K.; Hamaoka, T. Near-Infrared Spectroscopy: What Can It Tell Us about Oxygen Saturation in Skeletal Muscle? *Exerc. Sport Sci. Rev.* **2000**, *28*, 123–127.
- Ferrari, M.; Mottola, L.; Quaresima, V. Principles, Techniques, and Limitations of Near Infrared Spectroscopy. *Can. J. Appl. Physiol.* 2011, 29, 463–487. [CrossRef]
- 78. Pereira, M.I.R.; Gomes, P.S.C.; Bhambhani, Y.N. A Brief Review of the Use of Near Infrared Spectroscopy with Particular Interest in Resistance Exercise. *Sports Med.* **2007**, *37*, 615–624. [CrossRef]
- Binzoni, T.; Cooper, C.E.; Wittekind, A.L.; Beneke, R.; Elwell, C.E.; Ville, D.V.D.; Leung, T.S. A New Method to Measure Local Oxygen Consumption in Human Skeletal Muscle during Dynamic Exercise Using Near-Infrared Spectroscopy. *Physiol. Meas.* 2010, *31*, 1257–1269. [CrossRef]
- Kirkebø, A.; Wisnes, A. Regional Tissue Fluid Pressure in Rat Calf Muscle during Sustained Contraction or Stretch. *Acta Physiol.* 1982, 114, 551–556. [CrossRef]
- Zanato, R.; Martino, L.; Carraro, U.; Kern, H.; Rossato, E.; Masiero, S.; Stramare, R. Functional Echomyography: Thickness, Ecogenicity, Contraction and Perfusion of the LMN Denervated Human Muscle before and during h-BFES. *Eur. J. Transl. Myol.* 2010, 20, 33–40. [CrossRef]
- 82. Recenti, M.; Ricciardi, C.; Edmunds, K.; Gislason, M.K.; Gargiulo, P. Machine Learning Predictive System Based upon Radiodensitometric Distributions from Mid-Thigh CT Images. *Eur. J. Transl. Myol.* **2020**, *30*, 121–124. [CrossRef]
- 83. Kern, H.; Carraro, U. Home-Based Functional Electrical Stimulation of Human Permanent Denervated Muscles: A Narrative Review on Diagnostics, Managements, Results and Byproducts Revisited 2020. *Diagnostics* **2020**, *10*, 529. [CrossRef]
- 84. Van Beekvelt, M.C.P.; Borghuis, M.S.; Van Engelen, B.G.M.; Wevers, R.A.; Colier, W.N.J.M. Adipose Tissue Thickness Affects in Vivo Quantitative Near-IR Spectroscopy in Human Skeletal Muscle. *Clin. Sci.* **2001**, *101*, 21–28. [CrossRef]





Article

Muscle oxygenation level might trigger the regulation of capillary venous blood filling during fatiguing isometric muscle actions

(Dech S, Bittmann FN and Schaefer LV)

Supplementary Materials

Table S1. Single values of fatiguing measurements of type I behavior.

م between rHb & SvO2		0.86	0.40	0.81	0.99	0.57	0.48	0.65	0.93	0.19	0.33	0.74^{*}	0.61^{*}	' isometric
SvO2 at RP2 in %		ı	ı	I	-	·	I	ı	-	I	-	•	ı	voluntary
SvO2 at RP1 in %		ı	ı	ı	I	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	·	I	aximal
time until rHb SS in s		15.68	06.6	13.48	15.93	11.70	10.78	25.05	18.13	8.53	7.88	13.70	5.22	AVIC = m
time until SvO ₂ SS in s		15.50	17.13	13.30	15.93	13.68	9.85	14.90	17.93	14.85	20.70	15.38	2.91	c mean; N
time until min. of rHb before SS in s		15.68	06.6	13.48	15.93	11.70	8.08	8.40	15.23	8.53	7.15	11.41	3.44	M = arithmeti
extent of rHb decrease in AU (%)		15.49 (9.12)	0.87 (0.42)	8.34 (4.29)	13.39 (7.87)	17.33 13.15)	22.47 14.87)	12.10 (6.66)	14.33 (8.78)	6.01 (3.24)	7.48 (4.22)	11.78 (7.26)	6.24 (4.47)	in. = minimum;
extent of deoxygenation in pp (%)	I	12.91 (10.42)	6.14 (4.14)	9.77 (7.76)	11.30 (9.09)	11.63(8.83)	17.81 (14.45)	17.70 (13.89)	13.36 (11.04)	12.87 (9.51)	8.57 (6.88)	12.21 (9.60)	3.67 (3.09)	; IMA; le = left; m
rHb SS mean in AU	type	43.40	47.76	43.03	45.36	58.55	43.71	42.96	46.95	47.98	48.90	46.86	4.68	= holding
SvO2SS mean in %		67.83	61.40	69.67	60.69	64.29	63.29	60.74	69.26	61.03	71.75	65.84	4.13	on; HIMA
TTF in s		43.08	70.48	45.03	48.93	39.15	37.20	46.98	47.94	48.12	31.96	45.88	10.26	iscle acti
SvO2 min. in %		65.22	60.23	69.00	68.15	63.25	63.00	59.00	67.06	60.21	71.00	64.61	4.13	letric mu
baseline value rHb in AU		58.89	48.63	51.37	58.75	75.88	66.18	55.07	61.28	53.99	56.38	58.64	7.84	: IMA = isom
baseline value SvO2 in %		80.74	67.54	79.43	80.40	75.92	81.10	78.44	82.62	73.91	80.32	78.04	4.50	bitrary units;
subject noarm		01_le	06_le	07_{le}	17_le	25_le	02_ri	07_ri	01_le	06_le	07_le	И	D	ins: AU = ar
IMA					Iauguing	VINILI			ممننسنا	Tauguing		V	S	Abbreviatio

contraction; no. = number; PIMA = pulling IMA; pp = percent points; rHb = relative hemoglobin amount; ri = right; RP = reversal point; SD = standard deviation; SS = steady state; $SvO_2 = capillary$ venous oxygen saturation of hemoglobin; TTF = time to task failure; $\rho = Spearman's$ rank correlation coefficient. * calculated by use of Fisher's Z-transformation

Diagnostics 2021, 11, 1973. 10.3390/diagnostics11111973

1973
. 11,
2021,
gnostics
Dia

ble S2. Single values of fatiguing measureme	ents of type II behavior.	
9	le S2. Single values of fatiguing measureme	

ρ be- tween rHb &	10 00	-0.81	-0.41	-0.74	-0.91	-0.48	-0.91	-0.18	-0.93	-0.83	-0.72	-0.97	-0.97	-0.46	-0.95	-0.46	-0.80	-0.97	-0.76	-0.55	-0.63	-0.71	-0.87	-0.96	-0.79	-0.87
SvO ₂ at RP ₂ in %		62.00	59.00	56.63	63.04	55.12	61.00	55.94	58.36	57.00	55.50	61.64	61.00	54.63	61.84	56.59	56.51	59.37	63.00	55.00	58.25	60.15	62.00	60.00	56.40	61.80
SvO2 at RP1 in %		62.00	59.00	58.84	60.56	58.58	60.00	58.90	58.70	57.00	55.08	60.17	59.00	55.93	61.76	55.86	55.56	58.89	62.00	58.00	57.27	58.50	62.00	59.00	54.60	60.30
time until rHb SS in s		18.70	11.45	16.95	18.00	13.53	11.85	11.38	23.13	10.93	14.13	16.68	16.75	7.30	13.90	12.95	13.43	14.75	12.00	18.45	8.83	23.38	23.88	16.25	16.63	17.30
time until SvO2SS in s		17.80	11.45	12.63	15.13	18.03	10.73	17.70	24.93	12.00	11.40	13.98	15.13	11.80	13.90	13.68	11.63	15.48	13.65	14.83	8.10	25.20	16.18	17.15	19.55	16.40
time until min. of rHb before SS in s		12.00	5.68	1.18	4.65	4.20	4.30	6.43	4.83	4.25	6.03	8.08	15.55	5.65	7.18	2.85	5.65	5.05	4.05	11.83	6.38	9.55	6.23	7.90	5.98	14.03
extent of rHb change in AU (%)		1.50(0.88)	-4.64 (-3.33)	24.47 (21.39)	-27.12 (-15.24)	12.70 (11.94)	9.04 (6.59)	16.47 (14.17)	18.05 (11.90)	11.49 (10.63)	31.14 (33.26)	9.34 (5.37)	16.03 (11.64)	9.53 (8.47)	7.49 (4.88)	24.55 (24.01)	3.89 (3.45)	27.53 (24.08)	7.96 (5.12)	5.06 (4.26)	8.83 (7.24)	-0.68 (-0.52)	2.62 (1.53)	6.87 (5.75)	21.89 (22.09)	-4.58 (-2.50)
extent of deoxy- genation in nn (%)	type II	13.80 (10.05)	19.01 (14.16)	22.61 (15.94)	22.52 (18.93)	50.78 (39.78)	27.26 (21.34)	48.02 (35.07)	12.03 (7.70)	32.81 (25.60)	19.90 (12.39)	8.75 (5.76)	12.46 (7.78)	49.83 (39.18)	16.00 (11.64)	29.56 (21.30)	31.20 (23.98)	19.17 (12.44)	21.32 (17.12)	34.70 (27.09)	23.14 (17.33)	18.47 (13.66)	9.12 (6.37)	30.48 (23.86)	25.25 (16.89)	21.38 (17.03)
rHb SS mean in AU		58.37	71.71	87.41	56.20	94.02	72.92	85.99	83.97	92.51	106.82	57.57	72.61	88.83	65.11	97.82	88.80	87.46	64.34	84.29	82.00	75.94	58.51	83.69	100.89	54.49
SvO ₂ SS mean		59.07	55.50	47.86	61.55	27.56	51.01	25.01	51.98	45.21	42.36	57.02	49.92	28.79	56.72	42.49	45.69	45.75	59.00	43.38	51.77	55.52	60.70	47.81	41.64	58.26
TTF in s		43.08	19.55	45.00	48.95	43.08	31.30	58.73	45.03	25.45	39.15	74.38	47.00	43.08	41.13	35.23	39.13	56.78	47.00	48.93	29.38	48.93	58.70	54.80	33.28	66.55
SvO2 min. in %		58.00	55.00	46.73	59.88	24.16	50.00	21.58	50.72	44.00	37.93	54.62	48.00	26.51	55.38	41.54	43.80	41.38	59.00	40.00	50.83	54.04	60.00	44.00	41.09	56.19
baseline value rHb in AII		56.87	76.36	62.94	83.32	81.32	63.87	69.51	65.92	81.02	75.68	48.24	56.58	79.30	57.62	73.27	84.91	59.93	56.38	79.23	73.18	76.63	55.88	76.83	78.99	59.07
baseline value SvO2 in %		72.86	74.51	70.47	84.07	78.34	78.28	73.03	64.01	78.02	62.27	65.78	62.38	78.62	72.72	72.05	76.89	64.92	80.32	78.08	74.91	73.99	69.81	78.29	66.90	79.64
subject noarm		02_le	03_le	05_le	13_le	14_le	19_le	21_le	01_ri	03_ri	05_ri	06_ri	13_ri	14_ri	17_ri	19_ri	21_ri	24_ri	02_le	03_le	05_{le}	01_ri	02_ri	03_ri	05_ri	06_ri
IMA								- !		Iauguing	HIMA	. !	. !	-			- !	-		- !	-	fatiguing	PIMA	-	- !	

2 of 4

11, 1973	
2021,	
Diagnostics	

07_{ri}	74.25	49.51	57.00	52.85	58.03	43.18	16.22 (12.04)	-6.32 (-2.73)	8.65	14.50	9.10	60.00	60.00	-0.18
Μ	73.28	68.55	46.98	45.25	48.83	77.52	24.45 (18.25)	8.96 (8.24)	6.85	15.11	15.06	58.75	58.91	-0.81^{*}
SD	5.97	11.21	10.79	12.40	10.09	16.35	11.59 (9.35)	12.39 (10.48)	3.39	3.95	4.35	2.14	2.72	0.52^{*}

Note: Abbreviations can be found on the first page.

Table S3. Single values of MVIC-tests of type I behaviors.

					ז מחזב טי	v. Julgic vai	INCO OT INT A	T-resis of the T n	C110 1019.					
IMA	subject noarm trial no.	baseline value SvO2 in %	baseline value rHb in AU	SvO2 min. in %	TTF in s	SvO2SS mean in %	rHb SS mean in AU	extent of deoxygenation in pp (%)	extent of rHb decrease in AU (%)	time until min. of rHb before SS in s	time until SvO ₂ SS in s	time until rHb SS in s	SvO2 at RP1 in %	SvO2 at RP2 in %
							type	I						
	01_le_1	81.35	57.73	70.13	$\sim 4s$	1	ı	11.22 (13.79)	10.63 (18.42)	I	ı	ı	ı	1
	01_le_2	77.14	53.64	64.6	$\sim 4s$	ı	ı	12.54 (16.26)	12.53 (23.36)	I	-	I	I	ı
	02_le_1	71.52	54.00	62.29	$\sim 4s$	ı	ı	9.23 (12.91)	11.07 (20.50)	I	ı	ı	ı	1
	02_le_2	64.51	54.79	61.64	$\sim 4s$	1	ı	2.87 (4.45)	10.15 (18.52)	I	ı	ı	ı	1
	06_le_1	67.12	49.47	61.26	$\sim 4s$	1	ı	5.86 (8.73)	5.79 (11.70)	I	ı	ı	ı	1
	06_le_2	66.18	51.65	60.36	$\sim 4s$	ı	ı	5.82 (8.80)	6.79 (13.14)	I	ı	ı	ı	1
MVIC-	07_le_1	76.32	46.44	71.29	$\sim 4s$	ı		5.03 (6.59)	4.87~(10.49)	I	I	-	I	ı
test	07_{le_2}	77.35	48.61	71	$\sim 4s$	ı		6.35 (8.21)	6.98 (14.35)	I	I	-	I	ı
PIMA	01_ri_1	69.48	64.52	57.43	$\sim 4s$	ı	ı	12.05 (17.34)	$11.68\ (18.10)$	ı	I	I	I	ı
	02_ri_1	67.91	51.31	62.29	$\sim 4s$	ı	ı	5.62 (8.28)	5.02 (9.79)	1	ı	ı	ı	ı
	02_ri_2	70.36	54.58	62.00	$\sim 4s$	ı	ı	8.36 (11.88)	$7.94\ (14.55)$	I	-		I	ı
	06_ri_1	66.66	45.19	59.76	$\sim 4s$	ı	I	6.90 (10.36)	5.26 (11.64)	I	-	I	I	ı
	06_ri_2	68.53	48.00	60.02	$\sim 4s$	ı	T	8.51 (12.42)	7.50 (15.63)	ı	-	·	I	ı
	07_ni_1	73.95	46.93	60.00	$\sim 4s$	ı	ı	13.95 (18.86)	12.93 (27.56)	I	I		I	ı
	07_{ni_2}	72.16	46.21	57.64	$\sim 4s$	ı	ı	14.52 (20.13)	8.92 (19.30)	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı
	Μ	71.37	51.54	62.78	ı	•	ı	8.59 (11.93)	8.54 (16.47)	ı	١	ı	١	•
	SD	4.92	5.20	4.53	ı	ı	ı	3.55 (4.64)	2.80 (5.01)	ı	T	ı	ı	ı
Note: Abbı	reviations can l	e found on the fi	irst page.											

Э	
197	
11,	
E.	
202	
ics	
tost	
iagr	
D	

\mathbf{rs}
10.
av
Ę
Ĕ,
П
ě
ΥF
f
0
ŝts
Ę
Ū.
Ĕ
\leq
4
of
es
ľ
Za.
ē
Ъ,
Ц.
ŝ
54
ē
þ
a

A.	subject noarm trial no.	baseline value SvO2in %	baseline value rHb in AU	SvO2 min. in %	TTF in s	SvO2 SS mean	rHb SS mean in AU	extent of deoxygenation in pp (%)	extent of rHb change in AU (%)	time until min. of rHb before SS in s	time until SvO ₂ Ss in s	time until rHb SS in s	SvO2 at RP1 in %	SvO ₂ at RP ₂ in %
							typ	e II						
	03_le_1	69.55	71.04	50.64	~4s	ı	1	18.91 (27.19)	2.68 (3.78)	ı	ı	ı	57.19	58.71
	03_le_2	76.22	76.14	57.29	$\sim 4s$	I	ı	18.93 (24.84)	-14.07 (-18.48)	ı	ı	ı	57.46	58.07
•	05_le_1	72.89	64.51	53.90	$\sim 4s$	ı	ı	18.99 (26.05)	-1.48 (-2.29)		ı	I	61.69	58.42
-	05_le_2	65.74	61.05	50.24	$\sim 4s$	ı	ı	15.50 (23.58)	13.10 (21.45)		ı	I	59.32	58.43
•	01_ri_2	63.09	65.87	53.63	$\sim 4s$	ı	ı	9.46(14.99)	9.23 (14.01)		I	ı	59.12	58.47
-	03_ri_1	70.03	67.19	50.64	$\sim 4s$	ı	ı	19.39 (27.69)	5.48 (8.16)		ı	I	57.21	57.93
-	03_ri_2	69.67	67.33	49.29	$\sim 4s$	ı	ı	20.38 (29.25)	9.45(14.04)		ı	ı	57.50	58.93
-	05_ri_1	64.06	70.48	48.37	$\sim 4s$	ı	ı	15.69 (24.50)	7.43 (10.54)	I	ı	ı	57.48	56.02
-	05_ri_2	65.32	73.07	50.19	$\sim 4s$	ı	ı	15.13 (23.17)	3.83 (5.24)		ı	ı	56.16	55.38
ν		68.51	68.52	51.58	١	۲	•	16.93 (24.58)	3.96 (6.27)	•		•	58.13	57.82
D		4.34	4.62	2.81	ı	ı	ı	3.41 (4.12)	8.00 (11.54)	ı	ı	ı	1.66	1.25

8.3 Publication 3: Muscle Oxygenation and Time to Task Failure of Submaximal Holding and Pulling Isometric Muscle Actions and Influence of Intermittent Voluntary Muscle Twitches.

Copy right notice: The reprinted version of this article was originally published in BMC Sports Science, Medicine and Rehabilitation, Volume 14, No. 55 (2022).

Citation:

Dech, S., Bittmann, F.N. & Schaefer, L.V. Muscle oxygenation and time to task failure of submaximal holding and pulling isometric muscle actions and influence of intermittent voluntary muscle twitches. BMC Sports Sci Med Rehabil 14, 55 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13102-022-00447-9 (2022) 14:55

RESEARCH

Open Access



Silas Dech^{*}^(D), Frank N. Bittmann^(D) and Laura V. Schaefer^(D)

Abstract

Background: Isometric muscle actions can be performed either by initiating the action, e.g., pulling on an immovable resistance (PIMA), or by reacting to an external load, e.g., holding a weight (HIMA). In the present study, it was mainly examined if these modalities could be differentiated by oxygenation variables as well as by time to task failure (TTF). Furthermore, it was analyzed if variables are changed by intermittent voluntary muscle twitches during weight holding (Twitch). It was assumed that twitches during a weight holding task change the character of the isometric muscle action from reacting (\triangleq HIMA) to acting (\triangleq PIMA).

Methods: Twelve subjects (two drop outs) randomly performed two tasks (HIMA vs. PIMA or HIMA vs. Twitch, n = 5 each) with the elbow flexors at 60% of maximal torque maintained until muscle failure with each arm. Local capillary venous oxygen saturation (SvO₂) and relative hemoglobin amount (rHb) were measured by light spectrometry.

Results: Within subjects, no significant differences were found between tasks regarding the behavior of SvO_2 and rHb, the slope and extent of deoxygenation (max. SvO_2 decrease), SvO_2 level at global rHb minimum, and time to SvO_2 steady states. The TTF was significantly longer during Twitch and PIMA (incl. Twitch) compared to HIMA (p = 0.043 and 0.047, respectively). There was no substantial correlation between TTF and maximal deoxygenation independently of the task (r = -0.13).

Conclusions: HIMA and PIMA seem to have a similar microvascular oxygen and blood supply. The supply might be sufficient, which is expressed by homeostatic steady states of SvO_2 in all trials and increases in rHb in most of the trials. Intermittent voluntary muscle twitches might not serve as a further support but extend the TTF. A changed neuro-muscular control is discussed as possible explanation.

Keywords: Oxygen saturation, Microvascular blood filling, Isometric contraction, Isometric muscle action, Holding isometric muscle action, Pulling isometric muscle action, Pushing isometric muscle action, Time to task failure, Muscle twitch

Background

Isometric muscle actions can be performed during two different tasks. On the one hand, a person can apply force by pushing against or pulling on a stable resistance (e.g., common determination of the maximal voluntary isometric contraction (MVIC)). The person acts with the

*Correspondence: dech@uni-potsdam.de Department of Sport and Health Sciences, Regulative Physiology and Prevention, Human Science Faculty, University of Potsdam, Karl-Liebknecht-Str. 24-25, 14479 Potsdam, Germany



© The Author(s) 2022. **Open Access** This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated in a credit line to the data. attempt to shorten the muscle but this is prevented by the stable resistance. Hence, the muscle action stays isometric [1]. This refers to a pushing or pulling isometric muscle action (PIMA) [2]. It has also been called "force task" [3–5] "restrained task" [6], or "concentrically loaded isometric contraction" [1]. On the other hand, a person can react to an external load by holding a position. The person reacts with the attempt to resist the externally provoked lengthening [1] by adapting to the applied load. The external load can be, e.g., a constant weight or increasing force for assessment of the maximal isometric Adaptive Force [7, 8]. Such muscle action refers to a "holding isometric muscle action" (HIMA) [2]. It was also termed "position task" [3–5], "postural task" [6], or "eccentrically loaded isometric contraction" [1].

In previous studies, both isometric tasks could partly be differentiated by various variables [2–5, 7, 9–11]. Most consistently, the time to task failure (TTF) was found to be significantly shorter during HIMA compared to PIMA at low intensities (15%, 20% and 30% of the MVIC) performed by arm flexor muscles in a horizontal forearm position [3, 4, 9, 11]. With a vertically positioned forearm and at intensities of 45%, 60% and 80% conflicting results have been found [2-4, 10]. Other variables which had shown differences between isometric tasks were amplitudes of electromyography (EMG) or mechanomyography (MMG) at exhaustion (PIMA > HIMA) [2, 3], normalized EMG power (PIMA>HIMA) [4] as well as MTG power (HIMA > PIMA) [2] in special frequency bands, mean arterial blood pressure (HIMA > PIMA) [3], glucose uptake in young men (HIMA > PIMA) [5] and the maximal torque (PIMA > HIMA) [7].

However, some studies did not reveal a difference between HIMA and PIMA in any of their analyzed parameters: MVIC, TTF and mean heart rate relative to rest for the biceps brachii muscle [12]; motor unit discharge characteristics and extent of motor unit synchronization at 4.4% of the MVIC (PIMA) or 3.8% of the one-repetition maximum (HIMA) for the first dorsal interosseus muscle [6] as well as EMG amplitudes at 20%, 30%, 40%, and 50% of the MVIC for the soleus muscle [1].

Regarding muscle oxygenation, Booghs et al. (2012) analyzed tissue oxygenation index (TOI) and normalized total hemoglobin index (nTHI) of the biceps brachii muscle between HIMA and PIMA at 20% and 60% of the MVIC [11]. They found similar behaviors for both tasks at both intensities. However, at 60%, the TOI seemed to decrease more during PIMA compared to HIMA. A statistical comparison was not provided.

The main objective of the present pilot study was to compare the muscle oxygenation and blood filling of microvessels between HIMA and PIMA maintained until muscle failure (fatiguing task). Previous studies have revealed that during isometric muscle actions homeostatic steady states in oxygen saturation are possible even at submaximal and maximal intensities [11, 13–17]. Thus, not only the extent and slopes of deoxygenation but also the time to leveling off into a steady state was compared between HIMA and PIMA in the present study. Our research group has differentiated two behavioral types in the regulation of local capillary venous oxygen saturation (SvO₂) and relative hemoglobin amount (rHb) in superficial muscle tissue [13]. In type I, SvO₂ and rHb generally decrease and level off into steady states. Both parameters behave nearly parallel to each other. In contrast, an increase in rHb despite a further decrease in SvO_2 is the main characteristic of type II. Thus, the behavior is partly inverse. The occurrence of type I or type II was also documented in the present study. Our research group suggested that the type depends on the oxygenation level [17]. The increase in rHb after reaching its global minimum (type II) might be triggered if SvO_2 level drops below a threshold around 59% [17]. Thus, the oxygenation level at the moment of global rHb minimum was compared between HIMA and PIMA here.

Furthermore, TTF was compared between HIMA and PIMA since it seems to be one of the most promising variables as mentioned above. The analyses should gain further data concerning the supposed distinction of two different isometric muscle actions [1-6, 12].

It must be noted that a holding task per se does not automatically prevent a muscle shortening (e.g., overcoming an applied weight). If tolerated, minimal concentric contractions are possible to compensate for a prior lengthening. At macro level this still might be interpreted as an isometric muscle action. In this regard, intermittent voluntary muscle twitches (Twitch) were performed by a another group of subjects during a weight holding task in the present study. Subjects were instructed to twitch rapidly and shortly. Caused by that kind of minor concentric contractions, the character of isometric muscle action might be changed also during the isometric phases [2]: from reacting (HIMA) to acting (PIMA). It was also questioned, if the muscle twitches have an influence on all above-mentioned variables. From a general understanding, isometric muscle actions performed at submaximal intensities were supposed to lead to a restriction of oxygen and blood supply caused by high intramuscular pressures [18-22]. Rapid but short auxotonic contractions with minimal motion of the limb (Twitch) change muscle length and tension temporarily. This might support the capillary blood flow by serving as a kind of pump. Consequently, blood and oxygen supply could be changed. The TTF might also be different because of an altered neuromuscular control.

Materials and methods

Subjects

Both biceps brachii muscles of twelve subjects were examined in this pilot study. Two of these had to be excluded due to pain or discomfort during the trials (n=10; 8 males, 2 females, mean age±standard deviation (SD)=30.70±11.67 years, 72.70±11.00 kg, 1.78 ± 0.08 m, BMI: 22.84±2.00 $\frac{\text{kg}}{\text{m}^2}$, two lefties).

Measuring technique

The valid and reliable O2C spectrophotometer (Oxygen To See; LEA© Medizintechnik GmbH, Gießen, Germany) mainly recorded the local capillary venous oxygen saturation (SvO2, not to be confused with the systemic mixed venous oxygen saturation) and the relative hemoglobin amount (rHb) [23-27]. The device sent light (650-810 nm, 1 nm resolution) into the superficial muscle tissue through the measuring probe ("LF-3", source-detector separation: 14.5 mm, tissue penetration depth:~12 mm). The probe was fixed above the biceps brachii muscle belly along its fibers. The amount of backscattered light and changed wavelength was used for calculating rHb in arbitrary units (AU) in dependence of the absorption rate. SvO₂ (in %, absolute measurement) was calculated as a ratio of primarily oxygenated and deoxygenated hemoglobin as well as myoglobin. The sampling rate was 40 Hz. To minimize light effects on the probe, the room light was dimmed. Even though the O2C device mainly analyze the capillary venous system, the influence of arterial blood cannot be excluded completely [28–31]. Furthermore, myoglobin also influences measurements during exercise although in a lower extent compared to rest [32, 33].

Study design and overall procedure

All subjects started with a MVIC-test with one arm randomly selected (coin toss). Two different determination methods of the MVIC were utilized according to the subsequent fatiguing tasks. The first group performed HIMA and PIMA (HP-group), the second group performed HIMA and Twitch (HT-group) (specific description see below). The authors find this acceptable since comparisons were only made within subjects. The sequence of fatiguing tasks was randomized by coin toss. The rest between fatiguing tasks was at least 3 min. Afterwards, the same procedure was applied to the other arm. An intensity of 60% of the MVIC was chosen for the fatiguing tasks according to Booghs et al. (2012) [11], and because it might lead to high intramuscular pressures to restrict the blood and oxygen supply [18]. The recording of parameters (SvO₂ and rHb) started 10 s before and lasted until two minutes after every task.

Procedures of the HP-group trials

During the MVIC-tests, the subjects of the HP-group sat on a measuring chair in an upright position. They pulled two times as strong as possible on a cuff which was connected to a fixed strain gauge (Fig. 1a). The rest between



trials was at least two minutes. The cuff was applied 2-3 cm proximal to the wrist crease of the subject whose upper arm was in contact with the thorax (anteversion–retroversion 0°, adduction–abduction 0°). The elbow joint was flexed (90°) and the forearm was maximally supinated. The highest measured force value of the two trials was determined as MVIC.

During fatiguing PIMA (Fig. 1a), the arm and sitting positions were identical to the MVIC-tests. The subjects pulled on a fixed strain gauge and maintained the target force of 60% of the MVIC for as long as possible. For that, they had visual feedback (pointer) on a monitor. As soon as the force remained below the target for 2 s, the rater prompted the subject to stop the task.

During fatiguing HIMA, the subjects had to hold the respective weight for as long as possible with the same arm position but while standing, which allows the weight to hang free (Fig. 1b). The weight was taken off as soon as the elbow angle exceeded 90° for 2 s, assessed by the rater subjectively.

Procedures of the HT-group trials

The MVIC-test of the HT-group was performed by holding a weight while standing and using the same arm and cuff position as described in the HP-group section (Fig. 1b). The weights were added progressively within maximal five steps (accuracy: ± 1 kg). The test started with an estimated appropriate first weight. The rater hooked the respective weight onto the cuff. The rest between steps had to be sufficient for the subject (30 s-2 min., depending on the load). The highest weight which could be held for 1 s was determined as MVIC. This procedure did not achieve the same accuracy as determined by strain gauge measurements but was chosen in favor of the fatiguing weight holding tasks.

The fatiguing HIMA was performed identically as described for the HP-group. The same applies for the fatiguing Twitch task except for additional intermittent voluntary contractions (muscle twitches) every 7 s. For that, an acoustic signal was given. The subjects were instructed to perform twitches rapidly but with a minimal excursion of the forearm which was visually inspected by the rater. An objective determination of the twitches was not performed (see limitations). The rater took off the weight as soon as the subject could not twitch again or if the elbow angle exceeded 90° for 2 s, visually assessed by the rater.

Data processing

All SvO₂ and rHb curves were smoothed by using the software in NI DIAdemTM 2017 (moving average, maximal smoothing width: 50). The following variables were extracted for each trial:

Variable (1.): SvO_2 baseline value (in %) was quantified by the arithmetic mean (M) of the values of the first 10 s when the arm was held in measurement position (described above).

Variable (2.): Maximal deoxygenation (max. SvO_2 decrease) was determined as the difference between the baseline and the minimum of SvO_2 . Values are presented in percent points (pp) and additionally in % related to the respective baseline.

Variable (3.): Slope of initial linear SvO₂ decrease after start of loading (SvO₂ slope) was quantified by the slope of the least square regression line. According to Felici et al. (2009) [34], interval limits for calculating the slope were set respect of the start and end point of the first long negative plateau of the first derivative of the smoothed SvO₂ curve.

Variable (4.): SvO_2 level at global minimum of rHb (SvO_2 at rHb min.) corresponds to SvO_2 value at the reversal point (RP) in type II.

Variable (5.): Time to leveling off into a steady state of SvO_2 (TSS) is the time period in s from start of loading to the end of the initial linear phase (start of leveling off into a steady state).

Variable (6.): Time to task failure (TTF) was defined as the time period in s from start to end of loading.

According to Dech et al. (2020) [13], the curves were also assigned visually to type I (parallel behavior of SvO_2 and rHb, Fig. 2a) or type II (increase in rHb after the RP, Fig. 2b). The assignment and all mentioned variables (1.– 6.) of each trial can be found in Additional file 1: Table S1.

Statistical analyses

IBM SPSS Statistics 26 was used for statistical analyses. Due to discomfort triggered by the cuff, the trials of two subjects and the trials of one side of two other subjects had to be excluded. Another trial (Twitch) was excluded because the participant failed to perform the twitches rapidly and shortly. In total, 36 trials of ten subjects were included for statistical analyses (HP and HT n=9 trials for each task).

All mentioned variables (1.-6.) were compared between fatiguing tasks but only within subjects (HIMA vs. PIMA and HIMA vs. Twitch as well as HIMA vs. PIMA incl. Twitch). Both arms were considered together in all analyses, because MVICs of right $(70.02\pm23.83$ Nm) and left arm $(69.31\pm21.69$ Nm) did not differ significantly (t(11)=0.80, p=0.442).

All data were normally distributed (Shapiro–Wilk-test, p > 0.05), except for baseline values of Twitch (p = 0.017) and max. SvO₂ decrease of all HIMAs (p = 0.019). Regarding normal distributed variables, analyses of differences were made by parametric tests (t-tests for

Page 4 of 10



are given. The global Min in **b** refers to the reversal point. All curves were smoothed (moving average, maximal smoothing width: 50)

dependent samples). Comparisons including not normally distributed variables were made by exact Wilcoxon signed-rank test. Numbers of type I and type II behaviors per task were compared by Chi-squared test. An alpha error of 5% was chosen for all tests.

Pearson's correlation coefficients (r) were calculated between TTF (6.), max. SvO_2 decrease (2.) and SvO_2 slope (3.) of all 36 trials.

Results

Tasks did not differ significantly regarding oxygenation variables (1.–5.). In regard to TTF (6.), HIMA and PIMA did not differ significantly despite a trend in favor of PIMA. The TTF during Twitch was about 10 s longer than during HIMA (t(8) = -2.40, p = 0.043). The comparison of all HIMAs and PIMAs (incl. Twitches) also showed a significant difference (t(17) = -2.15, p = 0.047). The inference statistics of all described variables can be found in Table 1.

Figure 2 illustrates the two occurred behavioral patterns (type I and II) as described in detail by Dech et al. [13].

Based on curve shapes, Table 2 shows the categorization of all fatiguing tasks and MVIC-tests into type I (n=9) and type II (n=27). The amounts of trials assigned to type I and type II were similar between HIMA and PIMA (χ^2 (1, n=18)=0.23, p_{exact} =1.00 as well as HIMA and Twitch (χ^2 (1, n=18)=0.00, p_{exact} =1.00).

The assignment was also similar overall trials (HIMA vs. PIMA (incl. Twitch): χ^2 (1, n = 36) = 0.15, $p_{exact} = 1.00$.

Regarding all 36 trials, correlation coefficients were r=0.31 (p=0.069) between TTF and SvO₂ slope; r=-0.13 (p=0.463) between TTF and max. SvO₂ decrease and r=-0.88 (p<0.001) between SvO₂ slope and max. SvO₂ decrease.

Discussion

Muscle oxygenation during different muscle actions

In respect of a possible objective distinction of two isometric modalities, oxygenation variables were compared between HIMA and PIMA. No significant differences were found regarding the maximal deoxygenation, saturation slopes, saturation level at global minimum of rHb and time to leveling off into a saturation steady state. This indicates HIMA and PIMA cannot be discriminated by these variables on the basis of the small sample size investigated here. Regarding the saturation slopes, the result is in accordance with Booghs et al. [11]. They utilized the near infrared spectroscopy technique (NIRS), which is comparable with our used light spectrometry [13, 17]. To our best knowledge, the remaining oxygenation variables were considered for the first time regarding the comparison of HIMA and PIMA.

As generally accepted, isometric muscle actions should restrict the capillary blood flow due to the high intramuscular pressure already at low intensities [19, 20]. However, the occlusion threshold might

Variable	Group	Fatiguing task	$Mean\pmSD$	t-values (df)/z-values	Significance level
(1.) Baseline value in %	HP	HIMA	73.78±6.63	t(8) = -1.53	p=0.164
		PIMA	77.44 ± 4.06		
	HT	HIMA	74.61 ± 6.98	z = -0.30, n = 9	$p_{exact} = 0.820$
		Twitch	74.00 ± 5.01		
	Both	HIMA	74.19 ± 6.62	z = -1.15, n = 18	$p_{exact} = 0.265$
		PIMA & Twitch	75.72 ± 4.77		
(2.) max. ${\rm SvO_2}$ decrease in pp (% to baseline)	HP	HIMA	16.02±7.75 (21.71±10.50)	t(8) = -1.73	p=0.121
		PIMA	20.61 ± 10.16 (26.61 \pm 13.12)		
	HT	HIMA	30.33±14.60 (40.65±19.57)	t(8) = -0.12	p = 0.909
		Twitch	30.65 ± 16.76 (41.42 ± 22.65)		
	Both	HIMA	23.17±13.52 (31.23±18.22)	z = -0.81, n = 18	$p_{exact} = 0.442$
		PIMA & Twitch	25.63±14.40 (33.85±19.02)		
(3.) SvO_2 slope in pp s ⁻¹	HP	HIMA	-2.21 ± 1.51	t(8) = 0.55	p = 0.598
		PIMA	-2.41 ± 1.59		
	HT	HIMA	-3.63 ± 1.56	t(8) = -0.94	p = 0.373
		Twitch	-3.11 ± 1.31		
	Both	HIMA	-2.79 ± 1.60	t(17) = -0.11	p = 0.913
		PIMA & Twitch	-2.76 ± 1.46		
(4.) SvO ₂ at rHb min. in %	HP	HIMA	61.96 ± 3.87	t(8) = -0.90	p = 0.392
		PIMA	62.42 ± 4.56		
	HT	HIMA	58.66 ± 2.61	t(8) = -0.31	p = 0.768
		Twitch	58.81 ± 3.04		
	Both	HIMA	60.31 ± 3.63	t(17) = -0.89	p = 0.388
		PIMA & Twitch	60.62 ± 4.20		
(5.) TSS in s	HP	HIMA	7.72 ± 3.01	t(8) = -0.5	p = 0.630
		PIMA	8.45 ± 2.72		
	HT	HIMA	7.61 ± 2.61	t(8) = -1.01	p = 0.344
		Twitch	8.78 ± 2.92		
	Both	HIMA	7.67 ± 2.74	t(17) = -1.05	p = 0.309
		PIMA & Twitch	8.62 ± 2.74		
(6.) TTF in s	HP	HIMA	44.80 ± 18.06	t(8) = -0.90	p = 0.394
		PIMA	50.33 ± 9.46		
	HT	HIMA	42.63 ± 7.64	t(8) = -2.40	p=0.043
		Twitch	52.78 ± 11.61		
	Both	HIMA PIMA & Twitch	43.72 ± 13.50 51.55 ± 10.35	t(17) = -2.15	p=0.047

Table 1 Inference statistics of within-subject comparisons between tasks

HIMA, holding isometric muscle action; max. SvO₂ decrease, maximal deoxygenation; PIMA, pulling isometric muscle action; rHb, relative hemoglobin amount; SvO₂, local capillary oxygen saturation; SvO₂ at rHb min., SvO₂ level at global minimum of rHb; SvO₂ slope, slope of initial linear SvO₂ decrease; TTF, time to task failure; TSS, time to leveling off into a steady state of SvO₂

Significant differences are in bold

vary between individuals and muscles [35]. In contrast, auxotonic contractions possibly support oxygen and blood supply due to the reduced muscle tension during the lowering phase. Comparisons between HIMA

and Twitch did not show any significant differences in the analyzed variables of the present study. Thus, the curve characteristics of SvO_2 and rHb seem not to be influenced by twitches. Otherwise, the minimal

Task	HP-group		HT-group		Overall trials		
	НІМА	ΡΙΜΑ	НІМА	Twitch	НІМА	PIMA (incl. Twitch)	
Type I (n = 9)	4	3	1	1	5	4	
Type II (n = 27)	5	6	8	8	13	14	
n=36	9	9	9	9	18	18	

Table 2 Number (n) of type I and type II behaviors of the local capillary venous oxygen saturation and blood filling during the tasks separated by groups and overall trials of ten subjects

HIMA, holding isometric muscle action; PIMA, pulling isometric muscle action

motion of the limb caused by rapid voluntary muscle contractions might not be enough to change the muscle oxygenation and blood filling of microvessels significantly.

Previous studies revealed that increases in capillary blood filling (rHb) [13, 15, 34, 36–38] and homeostatic steady states in the oxygen saturation [11, 13–16] are possible already during isometric muscle actions without twitches. These data suggest a probable maintenance of capillary blood flow. Recently, it was discussed that this could be achieved by the anatomical placement of capillaries within muscle tissue and the oscillatory behavior of muscle fibers during isometric muscle actions [17].

The behavior of oxygen saturation and blood filling can be differentiated by two types [13]; indicated by the SvO_2 level at global minimum of rHb [17]. We have suggested a threshold of around 59% whereby values above this threshold are associated with type I (parallel behavior of SvO_2 and rHb) [17]. In contrast, if the saturation decreases below that threshold, rHb starts to increase which is related to type II. Such behavior might reflect a protective measure to impede a further deoxygenation as discussed previously [17]. The distribution of type I and type II assigned measurements reflects a qualitative behavior of the measured parameters SvO₂ and rHb. In the presented study, extents of deoxygenation and SvO₂ levels at global minimum of rHb did not differ significantly between HIMA and PIMA as well as not between HIMA and Twitch. The amount of type I and type II assigned measurements are, as a consequence, not significantly different (Table 2). Thus, the occurrence of type I and type II seems to be independent of the isometric task.

At last, a high and significant negative correlation (r = -0.88) between SvO₂ decrease and SvO₂ slope was found over all measurements: the greater the deoxygenation, the steeper the drop. This is plausible by considering the similar TSSs found across trials.

Time to task failure during different muscle actions

The TTF was the performance variable in the presented study. It appeared to be longer during PIMA compared to HIMA. However, the difference $(5.51 \pm 18.37 \text{ s})$ was not significant (methodological limitations see below). This is in line with the results of other studies which also examined the TTF of the biceps brachii muscle [11] or elbow flexor muscles [3] with similar settings for HIMA and PIMA at the same intensity (60% of the MVIC) and same forearm position (horizontal). However, during lower efforts (\leq 30% of the MVIC) of the elbow flexor muscles, the TTF of HIMA seems to be significantly shorter than the TTF of PIMA [3, 4, 9, 11]. If the isometric muscle action is, by contrast, performed in a vertical forearm position or during muscle activities at 45% and 60% of the MVIC, the TTF was found to be similar between tasks [3, 4]. This indicates that both, the intensity and forearm position, influences the performance of elbow flexor muscles. Regarding the first dorsal interosseous muscle, Maluf et al. (2005) found differences in the TTF between HIMA and PIMA at 20% of MVIC (TTF HIMA < TTF PIMA) but not at 60% [39].

However, the order of tasks in the presented study might have influenced the TTF in favor of HIMA. In case HIMA was performed at first (in 6 of 9 cases), the relation of PIMA/HIMA amounted to ~ 1.17 ± 0.68 ; in case PIMA was performed at first (3 of 9 cases) the relation PIMA/HIMA was ~ 1.61 ± 0.53 .

Additionally, it should be mentioned again that holding tasks as performed in the present and the other mentioned studies does not imply a pure isometric muscle action. In general, muscles show slight oscillations during isometric muscle actions [2, 10, 40–44]. Thus, minor muscle shortenings and lengthenings are present. In case of weight holding, slight motions around the given joint angle have been accepted. The tolerance in different studies ranged from 2° to 10° . This also includes minor concentric contractions to lift the weight back to the starting angle position. Such muscle actions interrupt a pure HIMA and it was hypothesized that the muscle action could be switched to a PIMA, thereby [2]. In the present study, little concentric contractions were documented during four of nine HIMAs in the HP group. This also might have biased the result and might explain why the trend of a longer TTF during PIMA did not reveal statistical significance. Different experimental procedures were applied by Schaefer and Bittmann (2017, 2021) examining elbow extensors. The methods might repeal the above-mentioned problem for HIMA during weight holding [2, 10]. In the first study, a pneumatically driven measurement system was used to realize HIMA and PIMA [2]; in the second one, an interaction between two subjects comparable with arm wrestling [10]. The former study controlled for a concentric contraction (failure criterion) and the latter one facilitates the adherence to tasks (acting part: PIMA and reacting part: HIMA)

mer study controlled for a concentric contraction (fallure criterion) and the latter one facilitates the adherence to tasks (acting part: PIMA and reacting part: HIMA). The reacting (holding) subject just had to adapt to the input of the acting (pushing) partner. In both studies, the forearm was positioned vertically and significant differences regarding the TTF of elbow extensors at 80% of the MVIC (TTF HIMA < TTF PIMA) were found. Thus, not only the intensity of muscle activity and positioning but also the examined muscle and experimental procedure might play a role.

In this regard, the present study revealed that intermittent voluntary muscle twitches during a holding task extended the TTF significantly (~10 s). It was assumed that twitches induce a switch of the muscle action from reacting (HIMA) to acting (PIMA) during the isometric phases. Considering PIMA and Twitch together and comparing theses to all HIMA trials, the TTF still differs significantly. As discussed above, the behavior of SvO₂ and rHb in conjunction with variables 1.-5. were similar between tasks. Thus, the longer TTF during PIMA (incl. Twitch) seems not to be derived from a different oxygen or blood supply. This is further supported by the analyzed correlations. Independently of the isometric task, very low to low, non-significant correlations between TTF and SvO₂ decrease as well as TTF and SvO₂ slopes (r = -0.13 and 0.31, respectively) were found. These results indicate a reasonable independence of the TTF from the deoxygenation as long as SvO₂ levels off into a homeostatic steady state. Booghs et al. (2012) also conclude that the decrease in muscle oxygenation is not a significant predictor of the TTF although they did not rule out its contribution to muscle fatigue [11]. Moreover, an enhancement of muscle oxygenation (oxygen half time recovery) as revealed in rock climbers during fatiguing forearm muscle contractions at 60% of the MVIC by New Zealand blackcurrant extract did not affect the TTF [45]. Consequently, there must be other factors why TTF was found to be extended during Twitch. An increased blood flow and altered muscle metabolism might play a role. In this regard, a contribution of muscle pump and vasodilation starting immediately after onset of dynamic and even single contractions has been discussed [46–49]. However, the indirectly related parameters measured in the presented study did not change subsequently to a single twitch. This could possibly be explained by the missing relaxation phase since the examined muscle had to act isometrically afterwards. Thus, we rather assume neuromuscular factors than metabolic ones.

It was previously suggested that the neuromuscular control could play a decisive role in the distinction of HIMA and PIMA [2]. This was based on the assumption that PIMA is closer to the motor control processes of a concentric contraction [2]. In contrast, HIMA might show a proximity to eccentric muscle action [2]. Eccentric muscle actions involve more complex control strategies compared to concentric ones possibly resulting in a greater central fatigue [2, 50–54]. Thus, the more complex control processes suggested for HIMA might be one reason for the often found shorter TTF compared to PIMA [2–4, 9–11]. The significantly longer TTF during Twitch in the present study, could support the assumption of a switch from HIMA to PIMA.

Because our findings should be assessed as preliminary, future investigations with larger samples are indicated to verify the results and examine other parameters in different muscles for an explanation of the potential longer TTF during PIMA. Further covariates like training status have not been considered yet and could also influence the result of TTF.

Study limitations

Limitations regarding the used measurement technique, not examined skinfold thickness in relation to the penetration depth of the light and different determinations methods of the MVIC have been addressed previously [13, 17].

Some more limitations need to be emphasized especially regarding the TTF. During HIMA and Twitch, the loading was stopped as soon as the elbow angles exceeded 90° for more than 2 s and if twitches were not visible anymore. No objective instrument (e.g., goniometer) was used to reach highest control accuracy. The measurement error could have influenced individual trials but on group level the random error ought to be leveled out. However, the amplitude and velocity of twitches might have varied between trials. TTFs could also be influenced by the measurement position, as discussed before. Subjects used a horizontal forearm position in all measurements but changed from standing to sitting position between HIMA and PIMA. Thus, activation of trunk stabilizing and postural muscles were different between tasks with an expected higher activity during HIMA (standing). However, the biceps brachii muscle had to be equally activated with 60% of the MVIC within the muscle chain to maintain a 90° elbow flexion. If the trunk stabilizing muscles were not strong enough, the whole body would be bend forward. This was prevented by the counter bearing between the upper arm and thorax. Furthermore, due to the exclusion of measurements (see statistical analysis) the sequence of tasks of HP-group were not balanced anymore (n=6 HIMA first; n=3 PIMA first). Thus, effects of fatigue might have influenced the results as discussed above. In contrast, the order was still nearly balanced in HT group (n=4 HIMA first, n=5 Twitch first).

Conclusions

Muscle oxygenation seem to be similar during HIMA and PIMA (especially the max. deoxygenation and oxygenation level at global minimum of blood filling of the venous capillary system). As a consequence, the behavioral pattern of the parameters SvO_2 and rHb (type I: parallel or type II: partly inverse) occurred independently of the isometric task. In addition, intermittent voluntary muscle twitches might not alter their behavior. Possibly, oxygen and blood supply is already sufficient during isometric muscle actions without twitches. This could also explain why the TTF did not substantially correlate with the maximal deoxygenation independently of the isometric task.

In respect of the TTF, the study adds data regarding a possible objective distinction between two types of isometric contractions. The TTF tend to be shorter during HIMA compared to PIMA of the elbow flexors performed in a horizontal forearm position at 60% of the MVIC. Considering Twitch, the trend reveals statistical significance. More research is necessary in that field, especially at higher intensities (\geq 60% MVIC), different muscles and positioning.

Due to the mentioned study limitations, pilot character of the study and scarce literature on that topic, the conclusions should be seen as preliminary.

Abbreviations

AU: Arbitrary units; BMI: Body mass index; EMG: Electromyography; HIMA: Holding isometric muscle action; HP: HIMA vs. PIMA group; HT: HIMA vs. Twitch group; M: Arithmetic mean; max. SvO₂ decrease: Maximal deoxygenation; MVIC: Maximal voluntary isometric contraction; NI DIAdemTM: National Instruments DIAdemTM; NIRS: Near infrared spectroscopy technique; O2C: Oxygen To See; LEA Medizintechnik GmbH; PIMA: Pushing or pulling isometric muscle action; rHb: Relative hemoglobin amount; RP: Reversal point; SD: Standard deviation; SvO₂: Local capillary venous oxygen saturation of hemoglobin; SvO₂ at rHb min.: SvO₂ level at global minimum of rHb; SvO₂ slope: Slopes of initial linear SvO₂ decrease; TTF: Time to task failure; TSS: Time to leveling off into a steady state of SvO₂; Twitch: Intermittent voluntary muscle twitch.

Supplementary Information

The online version contains supplementary material available at https://doi. org/10.1186/s13102-022-00447-9

Additional file 1: Table S1. Extracted data from smoothed curves (moving average, maximal smoothing width: 50).

Acknowledgements

The authors appreciate the technical support of LEA Medizintechnik GmbH.

Author contributions

SD: data analysis, writing original draft of manuscript. FB and LVS: study design. All authors: data collection and interpretation, revision. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Funding

Open Access funding enabled and organized by Projekt DEAL as well as by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG, German Research Foundation) – Project No. 491466077.

Availability of data and materials

All data generated or analyzed during this study are included in this published article and supplementary material, respectively.

Declarations

Ethics approval and informed consent to participate

The study was conducted according to the declaration of Helsinki and was approved by the ethics committee of the University of Potsdam, Germany (approval No. 28-2017). All subjects gave their written informed consent to participate.

Consent for publication

Not applicable.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Received: 28 January 2022 Accepted: 23 March 2022 Published online: 30 March 2022

References

- Garner JC, Blackburn T, Weimar W, Campbell B. Comparison of electromyographic activity during eccentrically versus concentrically loaded isometric contractions. J Electromyogr Kinesiol. 2008;18:466–71.
- Schaefer LV, Bittmann FN. Are there two forms of isometric muscle action? Results of the experimental study support a distinction between a holding and a pushing isometric muscle function. BMC Sports Sci Med Rehabil. 2017;9:11.
- Rudroff T, Barry BK, Stone AL, Barry CJ, Enoka RM. Accessory muscle activity contributes to the variation in time to task failure for different arm postures and loads. J Appl Physiol. 2007;102:1000–6.
- Rudroff T, Justice JN, Holmes MR, Matthews SD, Enoka RM. Muscle activity and time to task failure differ with load compliance and target force for elbow flexor muscles. J Appl Physiol. 2010;110:125–36.
- Rudroff T, Kalliokoski KK, Block DE, Gould JR, Klingensmith WC, Enoka RM. PET/CT imaging of age- and task-associated differences in muscle activity during fatiguing contractions. J Appl Physiol. 2013;114:1211–9.
- Semmler JG, Kornatz KW, Dinenno DV, Zhou S, Enoka RM. Motor unit synchronisation is enhanced during slow lengthening contractions of a hand muscle. J Physiol. 2002;545:681–95.
- Dech S, Bittmann FN, Schaefer LV. Assessment of the adaptive force of elbow extensors in healthy subjects quantified by a novel pneumatically driven measurement system with considerations of its quality criteria. Diagnostics. 2021;11:923.
- Bittmann FN, Dech S, Aehle M, Schaefer LV. Manual muscle testing—force profiles and their reproducibility. Diagnostics. 2020;10:996.

- Hunter SK, Ryan DL, Ortega JD, Enoka RM. Task differences with the same load torque alter the endurance time of submaximal fatiguing contractions in humans. J Neurophysiol. 2002;88:3087–96.
- Schaefer LV, Bittmann FN. Paired personal interaction reveals objective differences between pushing and holding isometric muscle action. PLoS ONE. 2021;16:e0238331.
- Booghs C, Baudry S, Enoka R, Duchateau J. Influence of neural adjustments and muscle oxygenation on task failure during sustained isometric contractions with elbow flexor muscles. Exp Physiol. 2012;97:918–29.
- 12. Kahn JF, Kapitaniak B, Monod H. Comparison of two modalities when exerting isometric contractions. Eur J Appl Physiol. 1985;54:331–5.
- Dech S, Bittmann F, Schaefer L. Behavior of oxygen saturation and blood filling in the venous capillary system of the biceps brachii muscle during a fatiguing isometric action. Eur J Transl Myol. 2020;30:79–87.
- Moalla W, Merzouk A, Costes F, Tabka Z, Ahmaidi S. Muscle oxygenation and EMG activity during isometric exercise in children. J Sports Sci. 2006;24:1195–201.
- Akima H, Ando R. Oxygenation and neuromuscular activation of the quadriceps femoris including the vastus intermedius during a fatiguing contraction. Clin Physiol Funct Imaging. 2017;37:750–8.
- Katayama K, Yoshitake Y, Watanabe K, Akima H, Ishida K. Muscle deoxygenation during sustained and intermittent isometric exercise in hypoxia. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2010;42:1269–78.
- Dech S, Bittmann FN, Schaefer LV. Muscle oxygenation level might trigger the regulation of capillary venous blood filling during fatiguing isometric muscle actions. Diagnostics. 2021;11:1973.
- Sadamoto T, Bonde-Petersen F, Suzuki Y. Skeletal muscle tension, flow, pressure, and EMG during sustained isometric contractions in humans. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol. 1983;51:395–408.
- Sejersted OM, Hargens AR, Kardel KR, Blom P, Jensen O, Hermansen L. Intramuscular fluid pressure during isometric contraction of human skeletal muscle. J Appl Physiol. 1984;56:287–95.
- Sjøgaard G, Savard G, Juel C. Muscle blood flow during isometric activity and its relation to muscle fatigue. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol. 1988;57:327–35.
- Jensen BR, Jørgensen K, Hargens AR, Nielsen PK, Nicolaisen T. Physiological response to submaximal isometric contractions of the paravertebral muscles. Spine. 1999;24:2332.
- Järvholm U, Styf J, Suurkula M, Herberts P. Intramuscular pressure and muscle blood flow in supraspinatus. Eur J Appl Physiol. 1988;58:219–24.
- 23. Beckert S, Witte MB, Königsrainer A, Coerper S. The impact of the microlightguide O2C for the quantification of tissue ischemia in diabetic foot ulcers. Diabetes Care. 2004;27:2863–7.
- 24. Jørgensen LP, Schroeder TV. Micro-lightguide spectrophotometry for tissue perfusion in ischemic limbs. J Vasc Surg. 2012;56:746–52.
- Abel G, Allen J, Drinnan M. A pilot study of a new spectrophotometry device to measure tissue oxygen saturation. Physiol Meas. 2014;35:1769–80.
- 26. Forst T, Hohberg C, Tarakci E, Forst S, Kann P, Pfützner A. Reliability of lightguide spectrophotometry (O2C[®]) for the investigation of skin tissue microvascular blood flow and tissue oxygen supply in diabetic and nondiabetic subjects. J Diabetes Sci Technol. 2008;2:1151–6.
- Joshi D, Shiwalkar A, Cross MR, Sharma SK, Vachhani A, Dutt C. Continuous, non-invasive measurement of the haemodynamic response to submaximal exercise in patients with diabetes mellitus: evidence of impaired cardiac reserve and peripheral vascular response. Heart. 2010;96:36–41.
- McCully KK, Hamaoka T. Near-infrared spectroscopy: what can it tell us about oxygen saturation in skeletal muscle? Exerc Sport Sci Rev. 2000;28:123–7.
- 29. Ferrari M, Mottola L, Quaresima V. Principles, techniques, and limitations of near infrared spectroscopy. Can J Appl Physiol. 2011;29:463–87.
- Pereira MIR, Gomes PSC, Bhambhani YN. A brief review of the use of near infrared spectroscopy with particular interest in resistance exercise. Sports Med. 2007;37:615–24.
- Binzoni T, Cooper CE, Wittekind AL, Beneke R, Elwell CE, Ville DVD, et al. A new method to measure local oxygen consumption in human skeletal muscle during dynamic exercise using near-infrared spectroscopy. Physiol Meas. 2010;31:1257–69.
- 32. Barstow TJ. Understanding near infrared spectroscopy and its application to skeletal muscle research. J Appl Physiol. 2019;126:1360–76.

- Grassi B, Quaresima V. Near-infrared spectroscopy and skeletal muscle oxidative function in vivo in health and disease: a review from an exercise physiology perspective. J Biomed Opt. 2016;21:091313.
- Felici F, Quaresima V, Fattorini L, Sbriccoli P, Filligoi GC, Ferrari M. Biceps brachii myoelectric and oxygenation changes during static and sinusoidal isometric exercises. J Electromyogr Kinesiol. 2009;19:e1-11.
- Bergua P, Montero-Marin J, Gomez-Bruton A, Casajús JA. The finger flexors occlusion threshold in sport-climbers: an exploratory study on its indirect approximation. Eur J Sport Sci. 2021;21:1234–42.
- Kell RT, Bhambhani Y. Relationship between erector spinae muscle oxygenation via in vivo near infrared spectroscopy and static endurance time in healthy males. Eur J Appl Physiol. 2008;102:243–50.
- Demura S, Nakada M. Relationships between force and muscle oxygenation kinetics during sustained static gripping using a progressive workload. J Physiol Anthropol. 2009;28:109–14.
- Usaj A. Differences in the oxygenation of the forearm muscle during isometric contraction in trained and untrained subjects. Cell Mol Biol Lett. 2002;7:375–7.
- Maluf KS, Shinohara M, Stephenson JL, Enoka RM. Muscle activation and time to task failure differ with load type and contraction intensity for a human hand muscle. Exp Brain Res. 2005;167:165–77.
- 40. McAuley JH, Marsden CD. Physiological and pathological tremors and rhythmic central motor control. Brain. 2000;123:1545–67.
- Yoshitake Y, Ue H, Miyazaki M, Moritani T. Assessment of lower-back muscle fatigue using electromyography, mechanomyography, and nearinfrared spectroscopy. Eur J Appl Physiol. 2001;84:174–9.
- Schaefer LV, Torick AH, Matuschek H, Holschneider M, Bittmann FN. Synchronization of muscular oscillations between two subjects during isometric interaction. Eur J Transl Myol. 2014;24:2237.
- Schaefer LV, Bittmann FN. Coherent behavior of neuromuscular oscillations between isometrically interacting subjects: experimental study utilizing wavelet coherence analysis of mechanomyographic and mechanotendographic signals. Sci Rep. 2018;8:15456.
- Schaefer LV, Löffler N, Klein J, Bittmann FN. Mechanomyography and acceleration show interlimb asymmetries in Parkinson patients without tremor compared to controls during a unilateral motor task. Sci Rep. 2021;11:2631.
- 45. Fryer S, Giles D, Bird E, Stone K, Paterson C, Baláš J, et al. New Zealand blackcurrant extract enhances muscle oxygenation during repeated intermittent forearm muscle contractions in advanced and elite rock climbers. Eur J Sport Sci. 2021;21:1290–8.
- Saunders NR, Tschakovsky ME. Evidence for a rapid vasodilatory contribution to immediate hyperemia in rest-to-mild and mild-to-moderate forearm exercise transitions in humans. J Appl Physiol. 2004;97:1143–51.
- Tschakovsky ME, Sheriff DD. Immediate exercise hyperemia: contributions of the muscle pump vs. rapid vasodilation. J Appl Physiol. 2004;97:739–47.
- VanTeeffelen JWGE, Segal SS. Rapid dilation of arterioles with single contraction of hamster skeletal muscle. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2006;290:H119–27.
- Shoemaker JK, Tschakovsky ME, Hughson RL. Vasodilation contributes to the rapid hyperemia with rhythmic contractions in humans. Can J Physiol Pharmacol. 1998;76:418–27.
- Howatson G, Taylor MB, Rider P, Motawar BR, McNally MP, Solnik S, et al. Ipsilateral motor cortical responses to TMS during lengthening and shortening of the contralateral wrist flexors. Eur J Neurosci. 2011;33:978–90.
- Fang Y, Siemionow V, Sahgal V, Xiong F, Yue GH. Greater movementrelated cortical potential during human eccentric versus concentric muscle contractions. J Neuroysiol. 2001;86:1764–72.
- Fang Y, Siemionow V, Sahgal V, Xiong F, Yue GH. Distinct brain activation patterns for human maximal voluntary eccentric and concentric muscle actions. Brain Res. 2004;1023:200–12.
- 53. Enoka RM. Eccentric contractions require unique activation strategies by the nervous system. J Appl Physiol. 1996;81:2339–46.
- 54. Perrey S. Brain activation associated with eccentric movement: a narrative review of the literature. Eur J Sport Sci. 2018;18:75–82.

Publisher's Note

Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Article

Muscle oxygenation and time to task failure of submaximal holding and pulling isometric muscle actions and influence of intermittent voluntary muscle twitches

(Dech S, Bittmann FN, Schaefer LV)

subject	baseline	max. SvO ₂	SvO ₂	SvO ₂ at	TSS	TTE	MUC	behavioral				
no, arm task	value SvO ₂	decrease	slope	rHb min.	155	IIF in s	in Nm	type of SvO ₂				
umuon	in %	in pp	in pp s ⁻¹	in %	in s	111 5		and rHb				
HP group												
01_ri_H	64.01	13.29	-1.00	58.70	6.93	45.03	-	II				
01_le_H	80.74	15.52	-1.87	66.28	10.75	43.08	-	Ι				
02_ri_H	81.10	18.10	-3.11	64.00	4.50	37.20	-	Ι				
02_le_H	72.86	14.86	-1.77	62.00	9.70	43.08	-	II				
03_ri_H	78.02	34.02	-5.26	57.00	4.28	25.45	-	II				
03_le_H	74.51	19.51	-3.70	59.00	3.33	19.55	-	II				
05_ri_H	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-				
05_le_H	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-				
06_ri_H	65.78	11.16	-1.19	60.17	10.45	74.38	-	II				
06_le_H	67.54	7.31	-0.90	61.50	8.95	70.48	-	I				
07_le_H	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-				
07_le_H	79.43	10.43	-1.09	69.00	10.63	45.03	-	l				
01_ri_P	73.99	19.95	-1.42	58.50	13.43	48.93	65.66	ll				
01_le_P	82.62	15.56	-1.70	67.23	11.65	47.94	63.12	l				
02_r1_P	69.81	9.81	-0.80	62.00	10.35	58.70	93.38	II II				
02_le_P	80.32	21.32	-2.79	62.00	5.50	47.00	89.28					
03_ri_P	78.29	34.29	-5.14	59.00	7.23	54.80	100.45	II				
03_le_P	/8.08	38.08	-4.85	58.00	/.60	48.93	98.98	11				
05_lo_P	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-				
05_1e_F	70.64	- 23.45	2 3 3	60.30	- 7 38	- 66.55	30.80	-				
06_le_P	73.04	13.70	-2.33	62.76	6.87	48.12	33.54	I				
07 ri P		-	-1.//	02.70	0.87	40.12		-				
07_le_P	80.32	9.32	-0.90	72.00	6.05	31.96	44.63	I				
I	75.61	18.32	-0.90	62.19	8.09	47 57	68 88	-				
SD	5.66	9.05	1.51	4.11	2.81	14.27	27.93	-				
01 ri H	62.38	14.38	-1.51	59.00	7.70	47.00	60.00	II				
01_le_H	84.07	24.19	-3.26	60.56	9.70	48.95	62.50	II				
02_ri_H	78.62	52.11	-6.36	55.93	5.48	43.08	72.00	II				
02_le_H	78.34	54.18	-4.69	58.58	9.68	43.08	74.40	II				
05_ri_H	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-				
05_le_H	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-				
07_ri_H	72.05	30.51	-2.71	55.86	8.28	35.23	100.80	II				
07_le_H	78.28	28.28	-3.64	60.00	2.40	31.30	96.00	II				
09_ri_H	76.89	33.09	-4.17	55.56	6.15	39.13	84.00	II				
<u>11_ri_H</u>	64.92	23.54	-2.27	58.89	10.98	56.78	70.31	II				
11_le_H	75.92	12.67	-1.66	63.58	8.13	39.15	66.38	<u> </u>				
<u>01_ri_T</u>	62.38	7.38	-1.49	59.00	5.18	48.95	-	II				
01_le_T	75.27	17.74	-1.96	60.82	7.50	66.58	-	II				
02_ri_T	76.21	50.69	-4./3	55.62	10.58	58.73	-					
02_le_1	/9.85	25.04	-5.11	57.50	9.70	57.18	-	11 T				
07 lo T	/4./3	23.44	-3.41	57.04	3.13	51.55	-	11 TT				
0/_le_1	/ 3.81	<u>24.81</u> <u>42.69</u>	-3.00	56.60	10.52	60.69	-	11 TT				
09_n_1	/0.21	42.08	-3.93	00.00	10.55	00.08	-	11				
11 + T	75.17	41.30	-2.71	- 50.11	1/1/2	5/ 80	-	- 11				
11_11_1 11_le_T	76.33	12 74	-2.71	65.15	7 08	56.78	_	T				
M	70.33 74 30	30.49	-1.05	58 74	8 20	47 71	76.27	-				
SD	5.90	15.26	1.40	2.75	2.75	10.87	14.41	-				
·		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					· · · · · · ·					

Table S1. Extracted data from smoothed curves (moving average, maximal smoothing width: 50).

Abbreviations: H, holding; le, left; min., minimum; M, arithmetic mean; MVIC, maximal voluntary isometric contraction; no., number; P, pulling; pp, percent points; rHb, relative hemoglobin amount; ri, right; SD, standard deviation; SvO₂, local capillary venous oxygen saturation; T, intermittent voluntary muscle twitch; TSS, time to leveling off into a steady state of SvO₂; TTF, time to task failure.

Silas Dech

8.4 Publication 4: Assessment of the Adaptive Force of Elbow Extensors in Healthy Subjects Quantified by a Novel Pneumatically Driven Measurement System with Considerations of Its Quality Criteria.

Copy right notice: The reprinted version of this article was originally published in Diagnostics, Volume 11, No. 6 (2021) and belongs to the Special Issue "Translational Research on Muscle and Mobility Medicine".

Citation:

Dech, S.; Bittmann, F.N.; Schaefer, L.V. Assessment of the Adaptive Force of Elbow Extensors in Healthy Subjects Quantified by a Novel Pneumatically Driven Measurement System with Considerations of Its Quality Criteria. *Diagnostics* 2021, *11*, 923. https://doi.org/10.3390/diagnostics11060923





Assessment of the Adaptive Force of Elbow Extensors in Healthy Subjects Quantified by a Novel Pneumatically Driven Measurement System with Considerations of Its Quality Criteria

Silas Dech * D, Frank N. Bittmann D and Laura V. Schaefer D

Regulative Physiology and Prevention, Department of Sports and Health Sciences, University of Potsdam, 14476 Potsdam, Germany; bittmann@uni-potsdam.de (F.N.B.); lschaefe@uni-potsdam.de (L.V.S.) * Correspondence: dech@uni-potsdam.de

Abstract: Adaptive Force (AF) reflects the capability of the neuromuscular system to adapt adequately to external forces with the intention of maintaining a position or motion. One specific approach to assessing AF is to measure force and limb position during a pneumatically applied increasing external force. Through this method, the highest (AFmax), the maximal isometric (AFisomax) and the maximal eccentric Adaptive Force (AFeccmax) can be determined. The main question of the study was whether the AFisomax is a specific and independent parameter of muscle function compared to other maximal forces. In 13 healthy subjects (9 male and 4 female), the maximal voluntary isometric contraction (preand post-MVIC), the three AF parameters and the MVIC with a prior concentric contraction (MVICpricon) of the elbow extensors were measured 4 times on two days. Arithmetic mean (M) and maximal (Max) torques of all force types were analyzed. Regarding the reliability of the AF parameters between days, the mean changes were 0.31-1.98 Nm (0.61%-5.47%, p = 0.175-0.552), the standard errors of measurements (SEM) were 1.29–5.68 Nm (2.53%–15.70%) and the ICCs(3,1) = 0.896–0.996. M and Max of AFiso_{max}, AF_{max} and pre-MVIC correlated highly (r = 0.85-0.98). The M and Max of AFiso_{max} were significantly lower (6.12–14.93 Nm; $p \le 0.001-0.009$) and more variable between trials (coefficient of variation (CVs) \geq 21.95%) compared to those of pre-MVIC and AF_{max} (CVs \leq 5.4%). The results suggest the novel measuring procedure is suitable to reliably quantify the AF, whereby the presented measurement errors should be taken into consideration. The AFisomax seems to reflect its own strength capacity and should be detected separately. It is suggested its normalization to the MVIC or AF_{max} could serve as an indicator of a neuromuscular function.

Keywords: adaptive force; neuromuscular functionality; sensorimotor control; isometric muscle action; eccentric muscle action; maximal voluntary contraction; adaptive holding capacity; reliability; validity

1. Introduction

Forces which are generated by human muscles are generally related to the strength of a person, e.g., maximal strength, strength endurance or power [1]. In addition to such common measures, Adaptive Force (AF) was introduced recently [2–5]. AF not only requires muscle strength but also sensorimotor control. It reflects the neuromuscular functionality of adapting adequately to external forces with the intention of maintaining a desired position or movement. Thereby, the external force can be constant or vary in size. The adaptation to constant loads can be measured by holding a defined weight or resisting an applied constant force isometrically in a specific joint angle. This is termed "position task" [6,7], or "eccentrically loaded isometric contraction" [8], with an underlying "holding isometric muscle action" (HIMA) [9].

However, in daily activities and sports, persons have to deal mainly with external forces which vary in size. The specific task of adapting to varying external forces has been rarely considered in sports or movement science yet [2-5]. Such adaptation implies an

Citation: Dech, S.; Bittmann, F.N.; Schaefer, L.V. Assessment of the Adaptive Force of Elbow Extensors in Healthy Subjects Quantified by a Novel Pneumatically Driven Measurement System with Considerations of Its Quality Criteria. Diagnostics 2021, 11, 923. https://doi.org/10.3390/ diagnostics11060923

Academic Editors: Usha Sinha, Ugo Carraro, Hans Hoppeler and Shantanu Sinha

Received: 14 April 2021 Accepted: 17 May 2021 Published: 21 May 2021

Publisher's Note: MDPI stavs neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations



Copyright: © 2021 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/).

evident relevance of avoiding an inappropriate lengthening of muscles, accompanied by a destabilization of joints despite an external force impact. This plays an important role, especially during an increasing force when a position, object or the moving body should be held or decelerated (e.g., during landing phases while running, descending stairs or side cutting maneuvers; resisting a tackle). An inadequate adaptation to increasing forces might result in impaired joint stability. As a possible consequence, injuries or damages of muscles, tendons and joints might occur [2,4,10,11]. For this reason, assessing AF could be a novel approach to understand the mechanisms behind it and to derive preventive strategies.

To measure adaptation to varying or increasing forces, no common measurement procedure is currently available. Although isokinetic devices can apply varying forces, these serve generally to keep the desired movement velocity constant. Thereby, the isokinetic device adapts to the generated force of the person. However, in capturing the AF to varying or increasing forces, it is crucial that the tested person responds to the applied force. This could be enabled by an isokinetic device if loads would be gradually applied, as performed by Oranchuk et al. (2021) recently [12]. However, different slopes of the force-time curve were suggested in determining the AF during a manual muscle test. These include an exponential phase in the beginning [4]. Another approach is to use pneumatics. A prototype of a pneumatic AF-measuring system (SeBit) has already been constructed and evaluated [3]. During an AF-measurement with the SeBit, a pneumatically driven lever pushes against the limb of the participant. The participant's task is to resist and hold the given start position for as long as possible. Due to the continuous external force increase, two phases of muscle actions generally occur: firstly, an isometric, and secondly, an eccentric one. During the isometric phase, the participant holds the limb position isometrically by adapting adequately to the increasing external force. Thereby, the maximal isometric AF (AFisomax) is determined as the force value at the moment when the tested limb starts to give way. From this moment on, the person is no longer able to hold the starting position isometrically, i.e., its maximal holding capacity is exceeded. Despite this, the external force increases further on, and the participant should still try to adapt to this force increase by decelerating the pneumatically driven lever as strongly as possible (eccentric phase). The highest force value during this eccentric muscle action is referred to as $AFecc_{max}$ [3]. That eccentric maximum normally corresponds to the highest force value of the total AF-measurement (AF_{max}). However, AF_{max} can also be achieved during isometric conditions if no eccentric phase exists (voluntary stop of the subject), or if more than one isometric phase occurs.

In measuring the AF, the SeBit showed some methodological limitations (see discussion for further details). Hence, the system was refined and new prototypes for the detection of the AF of the elbow and knee extensors, as well as flexors, were constructed. In this study, only the prototype for the elbow extensors was considered. Thereby, the maximal isometric holding capacity (AFiso_{max}) as an expression of the sensorimotor control during the adaptation to increasing external forces was of special interest. Such a force parameter was not measured by other research groups. The main objective was to examine whether or not the AFiso_{max} is a specific and independent parameter of muscle function. To do this, the discriminant validity of the AFiso_{max} was analyzed in comparison to other maximal forces measured by the same system. As a condition of validity, the different forces measured by the new pneumatic device need to be reliable, which was tested in a first step. Subsequently, AFiso_{max}, AF_{max} and maximal voluntary isometric contraction (MVIC) were compared and correlated with each other.

As a side question, the influence of a concentric phase prior to an MVIC was analyzed (MVICpri-con vs. MVIC). This specific task of running into an isometric action from a preliminary concentric one could be understood as a functional counterpart of an AF-measurement, which starts with isometry merging into eccentrics. An AF-measurement, as well as the stretch–shortening cycle, were described as a composed muscle action (isometric–eccentric and eccentric–concentric, respectively) [5]. From this point of view, the MVICpri-con could be another variant of a composed muscle action (concentric–isometric).

At last, the MVICs before and after the AF and MVICpri-con measurements were compared (pre-MVIC vs. post-MVIC). A difference might be present because the participants had to perform 12 maximal muscle actions during the whole data collection on one day.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Subjects

To determine the sample size a priori, G-Power (v 3.1.9.3, Düsseldorf, Germany) and a web-based sample size calculator for reliability studies [13], which uses the formula of Bonett [14], were utilized. According to previous studies, very high intraclass correlation coefficients (ICC = 0.920–0.974) were found for MVIC tests (test–retest data of elbow extensors) and AF-measurements (interrater reliability data of knee extensors) [3,15]. Thus, the expected ICC were set at 0.920 for the test–retest design of two sessions in the present study. A minimal sample size of n = 11 was calculated to reveal a desired 95% confidence interval (95%CI) of ± 0.1 [13,14]. For comparative analyses between force types, a two-tailed *t*-test of differences between two dependent means was chosen in G-power. The α and $1-\beta$ were conventionally set at 0.05 and 0.8, respectively. A minimum of 12 subjects was calculated to detect a substantial effect size of Cohen's $d_z = 0.9$, corresponding to a mean difference which is slightly lower than the standard deviation.

In total, 13 healthy Caucasians participated (nine males: 29.38 ± 6.35 yrs., 178.56 ± 4.19 cm, 75.39 ± 9.70 kg and four females: 32 ± 2.94 yrs., 166.75 ± 4.57 cm, 57.00 ± 1.41 kg). The exclusion criteria were any complaints of the upper extremity, spine or head within the last six months. Only the dominant arm was examined. All subjects were right-handed except for two male left-handers. The study was conducted according to the declaration of Helsinki [16], and local ethical permission of the University of Potsdam, approval no. 33/2015, was given. All subjects provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

2.2. Pneumatically Driven Measuring System

The new measurement system for the assessment of the AF of the elbow extensor muscles is based on the main idea of SeBit [3]. Figure 1 illustrates all components of the new prototype. It enables the subject to adapt to a continuously increasing external force. Newly, the resulting forces and movements of the subject's arm and the lever I of the device are directly recordable. The generated force of the subject is transmitted to lever I through an interface, which is connected to a strain gauge (force recording, LMZ 2000N 3006, modified by Biovision, Wehrheim, Germany). The interface is lined with cushion to make the force transmission more comfortable. Two accelerometers (modified by Biovision, Wehrheim, Germany) record the movements of the lever I (ACC I) and the forearm (ACC II). The pressure is recorded by a sensor of the control unit. A laptop with the software DIAdem 12.0, National instruments (NI, Austin, TX, USA), receives and saves the amplified signals via an analog to digital converter (ADC) with a sampling rate of 1000 Hz. Table 1 summarizes the main components, the measuring equipment and technical data.

Figure 1 shows the measurement position. The subject's elbow joint was placed in line with the rotational axis of lever I. The angle between the upper arm and trunk was $\sim 80^{\circ}$ to avoid a full contact of extensor muscles with the table. A strap stabilized the shoulder from dorsal. The ulnar side of the distal part of the forearm had contact with the cushioned interface. The interface was in sagittal plane of the shoulder joint (adduction–abduction 0°, internal–external rotation 0°). It was adjusted so that the subject's forearm was in a vertical position when the lever I was set perpendicular to the table surface (90°). Each subject came for two measuring sessions (t₁ and t₂) separated by 7 days. All measurements were performed by following a standardized protocol and the same procedure each day. The procedure was controlled by the same two researchers (first one: operation of the control unit and software; second one: adjustment and supervision of the measurement position). Neither visual feedback nor knowledge of result were given to the subject. For an exact documentation, all measurements were recorded by a video camera.



Figure 1. Pneumatic system for the quantification of the AF of the elbow extensors: (1) chair, (2) table, (3) pivoted and connected levers (I and II), (4) mechanical security stop, (5) frictionless bellows cylinder, (6) compressor, (7) pressure control unit, (8) strap for a dorsal stabilization of the shoulder, (9) interface with strain gauge, (10) accelerometer I (of lever I), (11) accelerometer II (forearm), (12) analog to digital converter, (13) laptop.

Section	Components	Technical Specifications			
Basic construction	pivoted and connected levers	range: flexion/extension: 80°-107°			
	compressor (JUN-AIR 700367; Condor MDR2 EN 60947-4-1)	max. system pressure: 8 bar			
Pressure system	pressure control unit (custom build, Seifert Drucklufttechnik GmbH, Lauter-Bernsbach, Germany)	pressure reduction to max. 2 bar			
	bellows cylinder (Zitec SP–2 B04, 2–fach)	Ø 165 mm force: max. 9 kN stroke length: 1–110 m (adjustable) rise time: 0.1–30 s (continuously)			
	1 strain gauge (LMZ 2000N 3006 + amplifier, modified by Biovision, Wehrheim, Germany)	linearly 1 V = 124.74 N			
Measuring equipment	2 accelerometers + amplifier (modified by Biovision, Wehrheim, Germany)	sensitivity 312 mV/g (range \pm 2 g) cosinusoidal between 70°–110° approx. linear linearity: \pm 0.2%			
intersoring equipment	1 pressure sensor (Seifert Drucklufttechnik GmbH, Lauter-Bernsbach, Germany)	linear 1 V = 1.05 bar			
	analog to digital converter (National Instruments, modified by Biovision, Wehrheim, Germany)	14-bit range:—5 to 5 V			
	software: NI DIAdem	Version 2012			
Additional measuring equipment	hydrogoniometer (MT.DOK; Desimed GmbH & Co. KG, Müllheim, Germany)	range: 360° with 2° -intervals			

Table 1. Components, measuring equipment and technical specifications of the pneumatic AF system.

2.3. Setting and Procedure

For a warm up, each subject extended the elbow 20 times against the resistance of an elastic band (Thera-band[®], level 1 or 2, in dependence of the estimated strength of the subject). Then, four measurement series (a)–(d) were conducted. Prior to each series of (a)–(c), one submaximal trial was executed, so that the subject was able to acclimatize to the referring setting and task. The resting periods were 60 s after series (a) and (b), and

120 s after series (c). Series (b) and (c) took place in a randomized order (coin toss) but the order was identical at t_1 and t_2 .

(a) Pre-MVIC series

To measure the MVIC, the pneumatic system was inactive, while the subject pushed against the fixed lever I as strongly as possible (pushing isometric muscle action = PIMA). For that, lever I was adjusted to 90° . Every subject was instructed to increase the force up to their maximum within 3 s and sustain this for 1 s. Four trials with resting periods of 60 s were performed.

(b) MVICpri-con series (performed at first in n = 7)

Here, again, the pneumatic system was inactive but lever I was not fixed. The subject pushed against the interface while the pressure system was closed. Thereby, lever I slightly gave way in the beginning, with rising resistance due to the increasing air compression, until a steady state was reached at the maximum. Hence, the elbow extensors were firstly activated concentrically and then isometrically. The starting position of lever I (99.58° \pm 2.79°) was adapted to the pre-MVIC, so that a steady state was reached at ~90° (mean = 89.80 \pm 2.76°). The instructions were identical as in (a). Four trials with resting periods of 60 s were performed.

(c) AF series (performed at first in n = 6)

For measuring AF, the pneumatic system was active. Thereby, the pneumatically driven lever II connected to lever I pushed against the subject's forearm. Lever I was adjusted to 85° in the starting position. In contrast to (a), 5° less elbow flexion was granted to meet the adjustments of the arm in the beginning, which were seen in pre-tests. In the starting position, the subject had a slight contact with the interface (0.62 ± 0.88 Nm $= 1.22 \pm 1.74\%$ of the pre-MVIC at t_1). The arm position should be maintained for as long as possible, while the pressure in the system increased over time. For that, the subject had to adapt permanently to the increasing external force in an isometrically holding manner. As soon as the forearm started to give way (isometric muscle actions merged into eccentrics), the subject should still try to decelerate lever I as strongly as possible, until it reached a mechanical security stop at 107° (greatest elbow flexion) or voluntary fatigue. The standardized pressure increase was adjusted manually by a throttle valve in relation to the pre-MVIC, i.e., 70% were reached after 2.5 s (norm under stable conditions). Four trials with resting periods of 120 s were performed.

(d) Post-MVIC series

This measurement series was performed analogous to (a), with only two trials.

2.4. Data Processing

Data processing was made by the use of the Software NI DIAdem 12.0. The raw data were filtered (lowpass Butterworth, filter order 10, cutoff frequency 3 Hz for force and pressure signals and 1 Hz for ACC signals, respectively, since this provided the most accurate filtering results).

2.4.1. Determination of the Maximal Voluntary Isometric Contractions and the Maximal Adaptive Force

Regarding the measured forces, the maximal values in volts of the pre-MVIC, MVICpricon, AF_{max} and post-MVIC were determined by the highest value of each trial.

2.4.2. Determination of the Maximal Isometric Adaptive Force

The determination of AFiso_{max} needs a more sophisticated approach. AFiso_{max} corresponds to the highest force value at the moment when the forearm starts to give way for the first time. A standardized algorithm was utilized to identify this timepoint (Figure 2). For that, the recorded volt signals of the ACC sensors were converted into angles (ACC I for the lever angles and ACC II for the forearm angles). It should be noticed, that the "angles of the forearm" do not reflect the elbow angle. Due to adjustments of the arm position in the beginning of the trial, intermittent deviations of $\leq 2^{\circ}$ of the forearm angles were tolerated and still interpreted as isometric muscle actions.



Figure 2. Exemplary AF-measurement of a male person (23 yrs, 1.81 m, 73 kg) to illustrate the algorithm of determining the maximal isometric Adaptive Force (AFiso_{max}), with all identified points (x) in filtered curves (lowpass Butterworth, filter order 10, cutoff frequency 3 Hz for torque (black) and pressure (red), or 1 Hz for lever angle (blue) and forearm angle (orange)).

The start of giving way was not always as clear as in Figure 2 and could not be determined easily as the start of a continuous increase in one of the angle curves (latest minimum within the determined 2°-tolerance). That is because, in some measurements, only a very slight increase was present before a considerable "break-off" (steep increase) appeared. Thus, the second derivative of the angle curves was calculated to use information about their curvatures. Referring to the considerable break-off, the start of giving way was defined as the timepoint of the highest curvature to the left, directly after the latest minimum of the time-angle curves (start of the continuous increase of forearm or lever I) and before the following zero crossing in the second derivative. In dependence of the latest minimum (angle curve of forearm or lever I), the respective second derivative was used. Differences between the forearm and lever I angle curves appeared due to filtering effects and shifts of the elbow, especially to the posterior, which could not be avoided completely by the dorsal shoulder strap. Furthermore, the back-shift can partly explain the initial decrease in the forearm angles of about 4° in Figure 2. In contrast, the lever I angles increased initially $(\sim 5^{\circ})$, since lever I was driven by the subject who had only a slight contact with the cushion of the interface, which was therefore crumpled. Due to this crumple zone, a decrease in forearm angles was also seen in MVIC measurements.

An AFiso_{max} during a pushback of the lever I of $\geq 0.3^{\circ}$ was defined as task failure (pushing the lever backwards instead of holding it in position). It resulted in an exclusion, since the subject then switched into a PIMA [9]. That concerned 1 out of 104 AF-measurements in the present study. The strict limit of 0.3° was chosen according to pre-tests with PIMAs.

The described algorithm was proven on > 800 AF-measurements (elbow and knee extension, as well as flexion). The determined $AFiso_{max}$ values correspond optically to the break-off point in 99.53%.

2.4.3. Determination of the Maximal Eccentric Adaptive Force

The AFecc_{max} was determined as the highest force value during the eccentric phase, which started usually after AFiso_{max}. It was ended as soon as lever I hit the mechanical security stop (termination of the measurement) or, if present, during the start of another isometric phase. AFecc_{max} was excluded from statistical analyses because it was identical to AF_{max} in 98 of 104 measurements. In 3 measurements AFecc_{max} could not be determined because AFiso_{max} = AF_{max}, whereby AFecc_{max} could not be detected (no eccentric phase due to a voluntary stop of the subject). The 3 remaining AFecc_{max} values were only slightly different from AF_{max} (mean difference = 0.41 ± 0.59 Nm).

2.4.4. Calculation of Mean and Maximal Torques and Elapsed Times

All force values (V) were converted into N (conversion factor: 124.74 $\frac{N}{V}$). For comparability, torques in Nm were calculated (T = F × r), whereby F was the force in N and r was the individual distance of the rotational axis and the middle of the interface in dependance of the forearm length. The arithmetic mean (M) and maximal (Max) torques out of the single trials of each measurement series were determined as the main variables of interest. The minimal, maximal and mean elapsed times (±standard deviation (SD)) from start to AFiso_{max} and AF_{max} were calculated for all trials and subjects.

2.5. Statistical Analyses

For the statistical analyses, IBM SPSS Statistics 26 was used. The M and Max torques of pre-MVIC, post-MVIC, MVICpri-con, AFiso_{max} and AF_{max} were considered. All M and Max torques of the total sample (n = 13) were normally distributed (Shapiro–Wilk test, p > 0.05). Thus, parametric tests were used. Due to deviations from normal distribution, differences between males (n = 9) and females (n = 4) were tested by the Mann–Whitney U test.

For all tests regarding reliability, a liberal significance level of p = 0.10 was used, recommended by Weir et al. (2005) [17]. In regard of all other analyses, the conventional p = 0.05 was chosen. For significant results of parametric tests, effect sizes were calculated by Cohen's d_z :

$$d_z = \frac{|MD|}{SD_{MD}},\tag{1}$$

whereby *MD* is the mean difference between t_1 and t_2 and SD_{MD} its standard deviation. According to Cohen [18], the effect sizes were interpreted as small, moderate or large (<0.50, 0.50–0.80, \geq 0.80, respectively). In non-parametric tests, the effects sizes were calculated by Pearson's *r*:

$$T = \sqrt{\frac{Z}{N}}$$
 (2)

It was interpreted as being small (r = 0.1-0.3), moderate (r = 0.3-0.5) or large ($r \ge 0.5$) [18].

1

2.5.1. Reliability

A reliability analysis was performed mainly according to the suggestions of Atkinson and Nevill (1998) [19]. In a first step, the presence of a systematic change between t_1 and t_2 was tested by a paired *t*-test. The 90% confidence intervals (90%-CI) are presented.

To decide between an absolute or relative quantification of the measurement error, the scedasticity of M and Max torques was evaluated in two ways: graphically by scatter plots (absolute difference between t_1 and t_2 against the individual measurement mean) and statistically by the Breusch–Pagan test for heteroscedasticity of the standardized residuals in a linear regression (t_1 vs. t_2). Deviating from that in one exception, the

8 of 23

White test was used for the M of AFiso_{max} because the standardized residuals in the regression analysis differed from normal distribution (Shapiro–Wilk test, p > 0.05). The standardized residuals of all other variables were normally distributed. According to the statistical analysis, every variable should be interpreted to be homoscedastic, since the variances of the standardized residuals were equal across the whole continuum of torques (p = 0.061-0.985, the complete statistics of the tests for heteroscedasticity can be found in Figures S1 and S2 in the supplementary material.) Thus, absolute reliability was quantified by the standard error of measurements between t₁ and t₂ (SEM), which is also known as the within-subject variation [20]. It is expressed by using the generalizability approach [21]:

$$SEM = \sqrt{\sigma_e^2}, \qquad (3)$$

whereby σ_e^2 is the variance of the random error extracted from the residual variance of the repeated measures ANOVA [22,23]. For the practical relevance of individual measurements, the minimal detectable change, which is also known as the smallest detectable difference, was calculated by [17,21,22,24,25]:

$$MDC95\% = 1.96 \times SEM \times \sqrt{2}.$$
 (4)

However, homoscedastic data are very uncommon in ratio scales as strength measures [26]. Furthermore the scatter plots partly show increasing absolute differences between days by increasing means (= positive heteroscedasticity) (see Figures S1 and S2 in the supplementary material). A logarithmic transformation of those data, as suggested by some authors [26,27], would not result in sufficient homogenization. Thus, random errors (SEM) were also presented in relation to the respective group mean of t_1 and t_2 (M_{t_1,t_2}) (percentage error) to take the positive heteroscedasticity into account [19]:

$$SEM\% = \frac{SEM}{M_{t_1,t_2}} \times 100.$$
 (5)

Similar to the MDC95%, the SEM95% was given and expressed as the SEM% multiplied with the *z*-score of 1.96 [19].

The relative reliability of M and Max torques between t_1 and t_2 was quantified by the intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC(3,1) (two-way mixed, absolute agreement, single values), which is unbiased for any sample size [20]. Additionally, 95%-CI were calculated for the ICCs.

2.5.2. Discriminant Validity of the Maximal Isometric Adaptive Force

The AFiso_{max}, AF_{max} and pre-MVIC (M and Max torques) were compared with each other by a paired *t*-test. To analyze relations between the two AF parameters and the pre-MVIC, Pearson's correlation coefficients were calculated.

The AF parameters of all single trials were normalized to the M and Max of the pre-MVIC. The normalized data were presented as $M \pm SD$ in % and were compared by Wilcoxon signed-rank test because the normalized values were not normally distributed. In addition to the normalization to the pre-MVIC, the AFiso_{max} of each single trial was normalized to the respective AF_{max}.

The variability between the 4 trials of a measurement series was expressed as $M \pm SD$ of individual coefficients of variation (CV) for each day.

2.5.3. Analyses Regarding the MVIC with a Prior Concentric Contraction and the Post-MVIC

For the last two analyses, paired *t*-tests were used. To analyze the influence of a concentric phase prior to the MVIC, M and Max of MVICpri-con were compared with the respective ones of pre-MVIC. At last, the M and Max torques were compared between the pre- and post-MVIC.

3. Results

3.1. Gender Comparison

M and Max (\pm SD) torques of all measurement series at both days are presented in Table 2. Males revealed significantly higher torques of the same force type than females, on average (z = -2.777 - 2.623, p = 0.005 - 0.009, r = 0.45 - 0.46). Torques of all single trials and force types can be found in Table S1 in the supplementary material.

Table 2. Group arithmetic means (M) \pm standard deviations (SD) of each force type (mean and maximal toques out of 4 measurements) at both days (t₁ and t₂) of the total sample of male and female subjects.

	Type of Force	Total Samp n =	ble M \pm SD = 13	Male M n =	1 ± SD = 9	Female M \pm SD $n = 4$		
		t ₁	t ₂	t ₁	t ₂	t ₁	t ₂	
	pre-MVIC	$50.70 \\ \pm 22.65$	$50.13 \\ \pm 22.50$	$\begin{array}{c} 63.03 \\ \pm 14.30 \end{array}$	61.89 ± 15.78	$\begin{array}{c} 22.95 \\ \pm 4.89 \end{array}$	23.66 ± 3.51	
	post-MVIC	46.38 ^b ± 21.25	46.91 ^b ± 20.76	$56.94 \\ \pm 16.16$	$56.80 \\ \pm 16.91$	$\begin{array}{c} 22.62 \\ \pm 4.80 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 24.68 \\ \pm \ 2.86 \end{array}$	
mean forques	MVICpri-con	$egin{array}{c} 48.02 \ ^{ m a} \ \pm 20.50 \end{array}$	48.02 a 46.58 a,b 58.07 \pm 20.50 \pm 18.98 \pm 16.09		$56.10 \\ \pm 14.38$	$\begin{array}{c} 25.41 \\ \pm 2.51 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 25.17 \\ \pm \ 2.58 \end{array}$	
incuit torques	AFiso _{max}	37.17 ^b ± 17.39	35.20 ^b ± 17.77	45.61 ± 13.40	42.23 ± 16.53	$\begin{array}{c} 18.19 \\ \pm \ 6.05 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 19.36 \\ \pm \ 7.12 \end{array}$	
	AF _{max}	$\begin{array}{c} 49.49 \\ \pm 21.01 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 48.35 \\ \pm 21.66 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 60.40 \\ \pm 14.93 \end{array}$	58.79 ± 17.17	$\begin{array}{c} 24.95 \\ \pm \ 3.35 \end{array}$	24.87 ± 5.29	
	AFecc _{max}	$\begin{array}{c} 49.39 \\ \pm 21.04 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 48.35 \\ \pm 21.66 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 60.36 \\ \pm 14.86 \end{array}$	58.79 ± 17.17	24.72 ± 3.15	24.88 ± 5.30	
	pre-MVIC	$53.67^{ ext{ a}} \pm 24.83$	$51.72^{a} \pm 22.83$	66.70 ± 17.13	$\begin{array}{c} 63.41 \\ \pm 16.68 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 24.34 \\ \pm 5.24 \end{array}$	25.43 ± 3.61	
	post-MVIC	$47.47 \ ^{ m b}$ $\pm \ 21.89$	47.68 ^b ± 21.07	58.19 ± 16.97	57.69 ± 17.22	23.34 ± 5.22	25.18 ± 3.11	
maximal	MVICpri-con	49.61 ^{a,b} ± 21.48	47.92 ^{a,b} ± 19.94	$59.86 \\ \pm 17.47$	57.71 ± 15.58	26.56 ± 2.79	25.88 ± 2.86	
torques	AFiso _{max}	45.09 ^b ± 19.89	43.31 ^b ± 20.01	55.76 ± 12.83	52.58 ± 16.35	21.08 ± 5.79	22.47 ± 7.22	
	AF _{max}	$51.20 \\ \pm 21.99$	$50.90 \\ \pm 21.93$	62.29 ± 16.42	61.53 ± 17.31	26.26 ± 4.03	$\begin{array}{c} 26.97 \\ \pm \ 4.64 \end{array}$	
	AFecc _{max}	$51.10 \\ \pm 22.10$	$50.90 \\ \pm 21.93$	62.29 ± 16.42	61.53 ± 17.31	25.93 ± 3.73	$\begin{array}{c} 26.97 \\ \pm 4.64 \end{array}$	

^a significant difference (p < 0.10) between t₁ and t₂ in the total sample (in bold); ^b significant difference (p < 0.05) to pre-MVIC of the same day of the total sample; males and females differed significantly in all variables (p < 0.01); note: due to its similarity to AF_{max}, AFecc_{max} was excluded from statistical analyses.

3.2. Description of AF-Measurements

Figure 2 exemplifies the typical curves of one AF-measurement. During their adaptation to the pressure increase (red), a subject's generated torque (black) increased over time. Due to the compression of the cushion between the subject's forearm and the interface, as well as little back-shifts of the elbow, an increase in lever angle (blue) and a decrease in forearm angle (orange) occur initially. A deceleration of the lever and further decrease of the forearm angles interrupted by slight oscillations within the 2°-tolerance indicate that the forearm was held in position. As soon as the forearm starts to give way, the AFiso_{max} is exceeded and the eccentric muscle work begins. Thereby, the pressure and torque curves increase further on with a flatter slope, until the highest torque is reached (AF_{max} = AFecc_{max}). The mean elapsed time until AFiso_{max} over all measurements was 2.78 ± 0.94 s (Min.–Max.: 0–4.50 s). AF_{max} was reached after 4.57 ± 0.79 s (Min.–Max.: 3.21–6.87 s).

3.3. Test-Retest Reliability

Figure 3 illustrates the group mean ("×") and individual differences (dots) between t_1 and t_2 for M, as well as Max torques of all force types. The Max of pre-MVIC (p = 0.099), as well as the M (p = 0.068) and Max (p = 0.044) of MVICpri-con, differed significantly between t_1 and t_2 . Thereby, the torques at t_2 were consistently lower than those at t_1 . The effect sizes were $d_z = 0.52$, 0.56 and 0.62, respectively. All other between-days comparisons differed insignificantly (p = 0.175-0.869). The complete inference statistics, SEMs, MDC95%s, SEM%s, SEM95%s and ICCs(3,1) with 95%-CIs are given in Table 3. The highest occurred mean difference amounted to 1.98 ± 8.03 Nm (M AFiso_{max}). The SEMs, MDC95%s, SEM%s and SEM95% ranged from 1.29 to 5.68 Nm, 2.53 to 15.70 Nm and 2.53 to 15.70%, respectively, where the highest values occurred in AFiso_{max}. All ICCs were greater than 0.89 (Table 3).



Figure 3. Differences between day 1 (t_1) and day 2 (t_2) for mean (M) (**a**) and maximal (Max) torques (**b**) out of 4 measurements of all measurement series. Dots illustrate single values. The mean difference is marked by "×". Error bars express 90% confidence intervals.

Table 3. Inference statistics of mean differences between days (MD $t_1 - t_2$), standard deviations of mean differences (SD_{MD}), 90% confidence intervals (90%–CI), *t*-values, degrees of freedom (df), *p*-values, Cohen's d_z for significant results, standard error of measurements (SEM), minimal important differences (MDC95%), SEM%, SEM95% and intraclass correlation coefficients (ICC(3,1) [95%–CI] of the mean and maximal torques of each force type.

	Type of Force	MD (t ₁ - t ₂) (Nm)	SD _{MD} (Nm)	90%–CI (Nm)	t	df	р	d_z	SEM (Nm)	MDC 95% (Nm)	SEM% (%)	SEM 95% (%)	ICC(3,1) [95%–CI]
	pre-MVIC	0.57	3.65	-1.23-2.38	0.57	12	0.582	-	2.58	7.15	5.12	10.03	0.987 [0.958–0.996]
mean	post-MVIC	-0.54	4.19	-2.61 - 1.53	-0.46	12	0.652	-	2.96	8.20	6.35	12.44	0.980 [0.936-0.994]
torques -	MVICpri-con	1.44	2.59	0.16-2.71	2.01	12	0.068	0.56	1.82	5.04	3.67	7.19	0.991 [0.972–0.997]
	AFiso _{max}	1.98	8.03	-1.99-5.95	0.89	12	0.392	-	5.68	15.74	15.70	30.77	0.896 [0.694–0.967]
	AF _{max}	1.14	2.85	-0.27 - 2.55	1.44	12	0.175	-	2.01	5.57	4.11	8.05	0.991 [0.971-0.997]
maximal torques	pre-MVIC	1.95	3.94	0.003-3.90	1.79	12	0.099	0.50	2.79	7.73	5.29	10.38	0.986 [0.956-0.996]
	post-MVIC	-0.22	4.70	-2.54-2.11	-0.17	12	0.869	-	3.16	8.76	6.64	13.02	0.976 [0.924–0.993]
	MVICpri-con	1.69	2.71	0.35-3.03	2.25	12	0.044	0.62	1.92	5.32	3.76	7.36	0.991 [0.972–0.997]
	AFiso _{max}	1.77	5.90	-1.15 - 4.69	1.08	12	0.300	-	4.17	11.56	9.43	18.49	0.956 [0.863–0.986]
	AF _{max}	0.31	1.82	-0.50-1.21	0.61	12	0.552	-	1.29	3.58	2.53	4.95	0.996 [0.986-0.999]

Note: A significant difference (p < 0.10) between t₁ and t₂ is in bold.
3.4. Comparisons of Force Types

3.4.1. Comparison between AF-Parameters and the Maximal Voluntary Isometric Contraction

Figure 4 shows the mean and individual differences for M and Max torques between the pre-MVIC and all other force types, as well as between AF_{max} and $AFiso_{max}$ on both days. No significant differences were found between AF_{max} and pre-MVIC neither at t_1 nor at t_2 (M and Max: p = 0.109-0.531). The complete inference statistics can be found in Table 4. M and Max torques of $AFiso_{max}$ were significantly lower than those of the pre-MVIC, as well as those of AF_{max} on both days ($p \le 0.001-0.009$ and $p \le 0.001-0.002$, respectively) (see Table 4).



Figure 4. Comparisons of the pre-MVIC and all other measured force types on day 1 and day 2 (t_1 and t_2). Mean (M) (**a**) and maximal (Max) torques (**b**) of the pre-MVIC are subtracted from the respective value of other force types). Dots illustrate single values. The mean difference is marked by "×". Error bars express 95% confidence intervals.

The correlations between AFiso_{max}, AF_{max} and pre-MVIC at t₁ and t₂ ranged from r = 0.85 to 0.98. All correlations were significant ($p \le 0.001$). Correlations which involved the AFiso_{max} were lower (r = 0.85–0.97) than those between AF_{max} and pre-MVIC (r = 0.97–0.98).

The averages of the normalized AFiso_{max} and AF_{max} are presented in Figure 5 (normalized to the M pre-MVIC (a) and to the Max pre-MVIC (b)). The normalized AFiso_{max} was significantly lower than the normalized AF_{max} on both days (each z = -3.18, each p = 0.001, each r = 0.5). The AFiso_{max} normalized to the AF_{max} amounted to 74.64 ± 14.51% at t₁ and 72.92 ± 15.72% at t₂.

The CVs between single trials of AFiso_{max} were substantially greater (t₁: 28.65 \pm 21.95%, t₂: 24.92 \pm 18.89%) compared to those of pre-MVIC (t₁: 5.32 \pm 3.04%, t₂: 4.16 \pm 3.01%), AF_{max} (t₁: 3.25 \pm 1.72%, t₂: 5.40 \pm 2.92%) and MVICpri-con (t₁: 2.99 \pm 1.94%, t₂: 3.32 \pm 2.21%).

Table 4. Inference statistics of mean differences (MD) between force types for mean and maximal torques on both days (t1
and t ₂), standard deviations of mean differences (SD _{MD}), 95% confidence intervals (CI), t-values, degrees of freedom (df),
<i>p</i> -values, Cohen's d_z for significant results.

	Comj	parison	MD (Nm)	SD _{MD} (Nm)	95% CI (Nm)	t	df	р	d_z
		AFiso _{max} -pre-MVIC	-13.52	10.23	-19.707.34	-4.77	12	< 0.001	1.32
		AF _{max} -pre-MVIC	-1.21	4.66	-1.61 - 4.02	-0.93	12	0.369	-
	t_1	AFiso _{max} -AF _{max}	-12.32	8.10	-17.217.42	-5.48	12	<0.001	1.52
		MVICpri-con-pre-MVIC	-2.68	5.47	-0.63 - 5.98	-1.77	12	0.103	-
mean		post-MVIC-pre-MVIC	-4.32	4.44	-7.00-1.64	-3.51	12	0.004	0.97
torques –		AFiso _{max} -pre-MVIC	-14.93	11.96	-22.167.70	-4.50	12	0.001	1.23
		AF _{max} -pre-MVIC	-1.77	5.06	-1.28 - 4.83	-1.26	12	0.230	-
	t ₂	AFisomax-AFmax	-13.16	8.83	-18.49 - 7.82	-5.37	12	<0.001	1.49
		MVICpri-con-pre-MVIC	-3.54	4.37	-6.18 - 0.91	-2.93	12	0.013	0.81
		post-MVIC-pre-MVIC	-3.21	4.01	-5.63-0.79	-2.89	12	0.014	0.80
maximal torques ——		AFiso _{max} -pre-MVIC	-8.59	8.65	-13.813.36	-3.58	12	0.004	0.99
		AF _{max} -pre-MVIC	-2.47	5.14	-0.64 - 5.57	-1.73	12	0.109	-
	t_1	AFiso _{max} -AF _{max}	-6.12	5.75	-9.59 - 2.64	-3.84	12	0.002	1.06
		MVICpri-con-pre-MVIC	-4.06	6.38	-7.92-0.21	-2.30	12	0.041	0.64
		post-MVIC-pre-MVIC	-6.20	4.91	-9.17 - 3.24	-4.56	12	0.001	1.26
		AFiso _{max} -pre-MVIC	-8.41	9.73	-14.292.53	-3.12	12	0.009	0.86
		AF _{max} -pre-MVIC	-0.83	4.62	-1.96 - 3.62	-0.65	12	0.531	-
	t ₂	AFisomax-AFmax	-7.58	6.28	-11.383.79	-4.36	12	0.001	1.21
		MVICpri-con-pre-MVIC	-3.80	4.03	-6.24-1.37	-3.4	12	0.005	0.94
		post-MVIC-pre-MVIC	-4.04	3.74	-6.30-1.77	-3.89	12	0.02	1.08

Note: A significant difference (p < 0.05) is in bold.



Figure 5. Comparisons of the average maximal isometric Adaptive Force (AFiso_{max}) and average maximal Adaptive Force (AF_{max}), normalized to the mean (M) (**a**) and maximal (Max) torques (**b**) of the pre-MVIC on both days (t_1 and t_2). Error bars express between-subject standard deviations.

3.4.2. Comparisons between Measurement Series Including a Maximal Voluntary Isometric Contraction

In regard to the comparisons of pre-MVIC and MVICpri-con, M torques at t_2 , as well as Max torques at t_1 and t_2 , differed significantly (p = 0.013, 0.041 and 0.005, respectively, Table 4). Thereby, MVICpri-con showed lower torques. Effect sizes were 0.81, 0.64 and 0.94, respectively. No significant differences were found between M torques at t_1 (p = 0.103).

M and Max torques of post-MVIC were significantly lower than those of pre-MVIC at both sessions, (p = 0.001-0.014, $d_z = 0.80-1.26$, Table 4).

4. Discussion

In the first step, the methodological quality of the new measurement procedure will be considered as a prerequisite for the following discussion. That also includes the advantages over SeBit and its limitations. Subsequently, the influence of a concentric contraction prior to MVIC, as well as possible fatiguing effects, will be discussed. The integration of the AF into current concepts of human strength and the specialty of the AFiso_{max} will be our focus at last.

4.1. Reliability of the Measured Forces

The comparison of M and Max torques between days revealed no significant differences in most force types. Thus, a systematic change between days in AFiso_{max}, AF_{max} and post-MVIC is not assumed. In contrast, the Max of pre-MVIC, as well as M and Max of the MVICpri-con, differed significantly between t_1 and t_2 (p < 0.1, liberal α -level). Thereby, the torques were always lower on average at t_2 , whereby moderate effect sizes occurred ($d_z = 0.50-0.62$). An unlikely effect of insufficient regeneration after 7 days of rest cannot be ruled out completely. However, that would raise the question why it was not seen in the other force variables. Several authors suggested adapting the measurement protocol and examining the reliability again if systematic changes are evident [17,19]. This might be considered, especially for the unconventional MVICpri-con measurements. The MVIC of elbow extensors measured by strain gauge had already proven to be reliable [15]. Furthermore, the difference between t_1 and t_2 of the Max pre-MVIC was very close to insignificance (p = 0.099). However, results of paired *t*-tests as sole reliability statistics are not recommended because the detection of systematic changes depends highly on random errors [19]. A significant result in a *t*-test could be explained by two approaches. Either the true variance is very high or the random error is very small. Inversely, an insignificant result can be explained by a high random error.

The random errors between t_1 and t_2 , which cover 65% of all measurements, are provided as SEMs in the unit of interest (Nm) and as a percentage (SEM%) (Table 3). The latter is a type of within-subject coefficient of variation (CV) but calculated from the mean square error term in a repeated-measures ANOVA model, as suggested by Atkinson and Nevill (1998) [19]. CVs of $\leq 10-15\%$ are conventionally rated as being reliable in sport science [28–30]. However, those thresholds are also criticized [19]. Independently of the proposed threshold ($\leq 10\%$ or $\leq 15\%$), only the means of AFiso_{max} would exceed it (15.70%). All other force variables revealed lower CVs between days (2.53–9.43%), whereby the Max of AFiso_{max} showed the highest. The higher random errors between days (variability) in AFiso_{max} might be explained by the specialty of this force type, which will be discussed in a later subsection.

Rather than rating the results as reliable or not according to a CV, it is more important to consider the presented random errors for the interpretation of future interventional studies. In dependence of the assumed scedasticity, the SEMs or CVs could be used for prospective group comparisons. In contrast, to compare changes of an average individual, MDC95%s or CV95%s should be used, at least because these would cover 95% of the repeated measurements [19]. That means exemplary for Max torques of AFiso_{max}, group changes \leq 4.17 Nm (SEM) and individual changes \leq 11.56 Nm (MDC95%) are within the area of measurement error and should not be declared as relevant, despite possi-

ble significant differences. Absolute errors (SEM and MDC95%) are used because, in the presented study, Max AFiso_{max} data are rated as homoscedastic (Figure S2 in the supplementary material).

To the authors' best knowledge, the study provided first data of MVICpri-con, AFiso_{max} and AF_{max} of the elbow extensor muscles. Thus, the random errors cannot be compared with other studies. Concerning the MVIC, Meldrum et al. (2003) presented SDs of the mean differences (Max values out of two trials) of the elbow extensors captured by a strain gauge [15]. In experienced raters, the SD_{MD} amounted to ± 1.46 kg (\triangleq a SEM of $\frac{1.46 \text{ kg}}{\sqrt{2}} = 1.03$ kg) for the left and ± 1.58 kg (\triangleq SEM of 1.12 kg) for the right arm. The formula for the calculation of the SEM is similar to the one we used [17]. These SEMs are close to our presented SEMs of Max torques (converted to kg ≈ 1.15). This comparison should be interpreted with care because of methodological differences between the studies. The point of force application was also proximal of the wrist, but the measurement position differed compared to our study (supine vs. seated).

Relative reliability is commonly interpreted by the ICC [31]. It reflects reliability in relation to a measured sample. According to Koo and Li [32], the presented ICCs were good to excellent. The lowest, but still in good agreement, was found for mean values of AFiso_{max} (ICC = 0.896), whereas Max AFiso_{max} achieved an excellent ICC of 0.956. The ICCs of all other variables were also excellent (0.976-0.996). Regarding the MVIC, Meldrum et al. (2003) also reported excellent ICCs (0.92-0.95) of M and Max values for the left and right elbow extensors [15].

In summary, all measured force types in the presented study, and especially the introduced AF parameters, are interpreted as revealing sufficient reliability.

4.2. Advantages and Limitations of the New AF-Measurement Procedure

The introduced AF device for the elbow extensors is a refinement of the SeBit. Both devices can measure the MVIC, the MVICpri-con and the AF parameters [3]. The SeBit only provided pressure signals. In contrast, the new device uses a strain gauge to record force and ACCs to detect the movements of the limb and lever. As a consequence, AF_{max} is always detectable and $AFiso_{max}$ is easier to identify without an analysis of the deviation from a reference curve, as was done before [3]. Moreover, the frictionless bellows cylinder eliminated the stick–slip effect which occurred in the former used cylinder, including a push rod [3]. Another advantage over the SeBit is the individualized pressure increase based on the MVIC of a subject. Due to these advances, the assessment and determination of the AFiso_{max} is more standardized and accurate with regard to a subjects' properties.

However, some limitations of the new system have to be pointed out. For individualization, the pressure increase was adjusted so that the external force would reach 70% of the MVIC after 2.5 s. The actual duration was 2.90 ± 0.84 s. The pressure increase depends not only on the incoming air but also on the extension of the bellows cylinder. If the cylinder expands, the pressure, and consequently the force increase, will flatten, i.e., the pressure course would only be fully standardized if the subject holds the lever in a completely stable position. That depends on the subject's ability to hold the lever in position. However, even in measurements with a high AFiso_{max}, a lever drive occurred, as described before. Consequently, slightly different pressure increases occurred. However, the elapsed time until AF_{max} was 4.57 ± 0.79 s. From our point of view, this duration is reasonable, but the optimal pressure increase for capturing the AF needs to be discussed and examined in future studies [4].

Another limitation is related to the characteristics of the initial pressure course. A sudden increase was evident, especially in subjects with high MVICs. The pressure increase, according to the standardization of reaching 70% of the MVIC after 2.5 s, was relatively steep for those subjects, and the start might have been abrupt. Independent of the MVIC, a general smooth start through a motor-controlled valve will solve this problem in the next generation of the system.

As a further limitation, the determination of AFiso_{max} has to be considered. In the described algorithm, the start of giving way of the forearm up to a boundary of 2° was tolerated and interpreted as an isometric holding phase (quasi-isometric muscle action). Setting a boundary was necessary because complete isometrics in a nearly freely oscillating system is not possible, and because of a slight elbow shift, which occurred in all subjects at the beginning of the AF-measurements. It reflects an initial adjustment of the subject and a compression in the respective joints during the isometric phase. It could not be avoided, although the fixation of the subject's arm and shoulder was already strong. A complete fixation is not possible. However, higher or lower boundaries (instead of 2°) would change the AFiso_{max}. This especially plays a role in measurements with two or more isometric phases, which occurred in 7 of 104 measurements. The current algorithm considers only the first isometric phase. Furthermore, flat slopes in lever angles (slowly giving way) were not included in the isometric phase (31 measurements). Both a second isometric phase and flat slopes characterize a different quality of resisting an external force compared to a steep incline in angles. An influence of the determination method on reliability statistics cannot be excluded completely. However, based on the high agreement (99.53%), with the break-off point in > 800 measurements, the algorithm already seems to be quite sophisticated.

4.3. Influence of a Concentric Muscle Action Prior to a Maximal Voluntary Isometric Contraction

The MVICpri-con firstly includes a concentric muscle action which merges into an isometric one [3]. Thereby, the force maximum is always reached during isometrics.

In the presented study, the comparison of MVICpri-con and pre-MVIC revealed inconsistent results. No significant difference of the M torques at t_1 was found. In contrast, M torques at t_2 and Max torques at both days were significantly lower than the respective pre-MVICs torques, with moderate to large effect sizes (0.64–0.94). In both measurement series, the force values were reached at similar lever angles (90° vs. $\approx 89^{\circ}$). Thus, differences in muscle length can be excluded as a reason for the lower force in MVICpri-con. The duration until reaching the MVICpri-con values lasted 0.5 s longer than reaching the pre-MVICs (4.57 ± 0.92 s vs. 4.07 ± 0.83 s), which could serve as an explanation. However, the lower force could rather be explained by the order of measurements. Six subjects performed the MVICpri-con series after the AF series. If only the other seven subjects who performed the MVICpri-con series first had been considered, no significant differences would have been found (p = 0.175–0.602). Due to the lower sample size, this should be interpreted with caution. Possible underlying fatiguing effects are discussed in the next section.

The results suggest a prior concentric phase might not have a clear influence on the MVIC, but more research is necessary for a final conclusion. Moreover, the potential systematic biases of MVICpri-con measurements are already mentioned in the reliability section above. Future studies could adapt the measurement protocol by examining only these two forces in a randomized order.

4.4. Comparison of MVICs at the Beginning and at the End of Each Measurement Session

The M and Max torques of post-MVIC (performed after 12 other maximal muscle actions) were significantly lower than the respective pre-MVIC at both days, with large effect sizes ($d_z = 0.80-1.26$). This could be an indication of potential central and/or peripheral fatiguing effects. On the one hand, the neuromuscular system could have been already neurologically and/or structurally exhausted, especially because of the usually involved eccentric loading during the AF-measurement [33–35]. In this regard, a reflectory inhibition of motoneurons might also play a role. Other reasons could be mental fatigue or a lack of motivation. The motivation to activate the muscles maximally might have declined towards the end of the session. In future, fewer measurements and/or measurement series might eliminate possible fatiguing and/or motivational effects.

4.5. Integration of the Adaptive Force in Current Concepts of Strength

The determination of MVIC is the gold standard for investigating maximal isometric strength, which is one central parameter in strength diagnostics [36–40]. Comparisons and correlations of the pre-MVIC with the recently introduced AF parameters were made to provide information concerning their discriminant validity. All respective variables (M and Max torques) revealed a sufficient reliability (see subsection about reliability).

In respect of the comparison of pre-MVIC and AF_{max}, the M and Max torques did not differ significantly. Nearly all AF_{max} values occurred during the eccentric phase. Only in three measurements, the $AFecc_{max}$ was somewhat lower than AF_{max} (mean difference = 0.41 ± 0.59 Nm). In the past, significantly higher forces were found during eccentric muscle actions compared to isometric ones [33,41–43]. However, it seems that it is not a general phenomenon [44–46]. Fitness level [47], examined musculature [48], joint angle or angular velocity [5,44,48,49] are discussed as influencing factors. For example, other research groups which used isokinetic devices reported higher maximal eccentric forces, with higher angular velocities in well-trained subjects [47,50]. Compared to isokinetic measurements, an AF-measurement, as conducted in the presented study, is a completely different approach to measure eccentric forces. It includes quasi-isometric and, afterwards, very slow eccentric muscle work. Thereby, the angular velocity depends on a subject's ability to decelerate the movement of the lever, which cannot be—and should not be-standardized. The average angular velocity of lever I during all eccentric phases was 2.31 ± 0.50 °/s. The highest value in one single trial was 5.93 °/s. These slow and subject controlled eccentric movements could be an explanatory approach as to why the AFecc_{max} or AF_{max} did not exceed pre-MVIC. In regard to the specific measurement procedure, it is suggested the AF_{max} could be used to assess the maximal force capacity comparable to the MVIC. However, using a more explosive pressure increase and, therefore, higher angular velocity would probably change the result. This was shown in a previous study, whereby higher explosive AF_{max} values measured by the SeBit were found compared to the MVIC [5].

In contrast to AF_{max}, the M and Max torques of AFiso_{max} differed significantly ($p \le 0.001-0.009$) from those of pre-MVIC at both days, with large effect sizes ($d_z = 0.86-1.32$). Thereby, AFiso_{max} ranged from 70.01% to 76.88% of the pre-MVIC (SD = ±23.00 - 29.24%). Furthermore, the AFiso_{max} normalized to the pre-MVIC was significantly lower (70.01–76.88% than the normalized AF_{max} (96.12–101.55%, p = 0.001). The effect sizes were interpreted as large (r = 0.5).

Our research group already suggested considering the AFiso_{max} as a measure of a special neuromuscular function [2,3]. It reflects maximal holding capacity while adapting to increasing external forces, whereas the MVIC declares the maximal isometric contraction in a pushing manner. AFiso_{max} (adaptive HIMA) seems to reveal substantially lower forces than MVIC (PIMA), i.e., the forearm started to give way (muscle lengthening) before the individual MVIC was reached. This confirms the hypothesis of a differentiation between isometric muscle actions in at least two modes (HIMA vs. PIMA) [9]. A difference between HIMA and PIMA was identified concerning, e.g., the time to task failure [9,51]. However, another research group could only confirm this finding in part [6,7]. A HIMA always includes an adaptational component of muscle function. It is suggested that an adaptation to increasing or varying forces is more sensitive to detect differences from a PIMA compared to an adaptation to constant forces. This suggestion is supported by the results of the presented study, revealing a significant difference between AFisomax and pre-MVIC. AFisomax reflects a HIMA, since the subject has to adapt to an increasing force in an isometric holding manner. The MVIC, in turn, characterizes a PIMA, as the subject has to push isometrically against a stable resistance. The cause for the found difference might lie in the higher adaptational component during AFiso compared to the MVIC. As mentioned above, previous studies only found a difference in the time to task failure of PIMA and HIMA with constant forces [6,7,9,51]. The adaptational component was not considered. This emphasizes the importance of determining AFiso_{max} as a special and

individual force capability (see below). The investigation could be performed by using the presented measurement system or, in a more practical way, by using a handheld device in combination with a manual muscle test, whereby reproduceable force applications are necessary [4].

Despite partial significant differences, high to very high relationships between the AFiso_{max}, AF_{max} and pre-MVIC were found in the present study (r = 0.85-0.98). This indicates the AF can be integrated in the conditional ability of strength in healthy subjects. Different research groups found that several force measurements or strength tests correlate with each other, and confirm the hypothesis of generality [52–54]. However, the determination coefficients (r^2) are often lower than 0.5, i.e., <50% of the variances are explained by each other. Such findings question the interpretation of generalization [55]. In the presented study, the determination coefficients between AF_{max} and pre-MVIC were very high ($r^2 = 94.09-96.04\%$). In contrast, the coefficients regarding AFiso_{max} were lower ($r^2 = 72.25-94.09\%$). That means the AFiso_{max} cannot be explained by the other two force types as well as they can explain each other.

All of the results regarding the $AFiso_{max}$ indicate that it could be discriminated from the MVIC and AF_{max} . Thus, it should be detected separately and could reflect an independent force capability. It is assumed that $AFiso_{max}$ depends not only on the maximal strength of a person. Due to the adaptive component, the influence of a proper functioning of sensorimotor control might play a decisive factor in defining $AFiso_{max}$.

4.6. Specialty of the Maximal Isometric Adaptive Force

Adaptation to external forces in an isometric holding manner is a rarely considered motor task. Commonly used strength tests are not able to capture this function. As stated before, the maximal adaptive holding capacity of a muscle can be quantified during an AFmeasurement (AFisomax). An intact holding isometric muscle function during adaptation to external forces (high AFiso_{max}) might prevent an inappropriate muscle lengthening up to considerably high intensities close to its maximal capacity. In the past, animal models indicate that an externally induced lengthening of a tensioned muscle (eccentric muscle action) is the primary injury mechanism of muscle strains [56]. In high speed treadmill and overground running of humans, a muscle strain most likely occurs during the late swing phase, which is accompanied by an eccentric [56], or, from a newer point of view, an isomeric muscle action [57]. According to van Hooren and Bosch (2017) [57], the presence of an inefficient eccentric muscle action in the late swing phase is caused by the inability of the muscle fascicles to act isometrically. Consequently, the muscle is more vulnerable to injury [57]. Moreover, an unwanted muscle lengthening could also lead to an exceeded joint movement in a specific direction, which might cause a traumatic injury, e.g., regarding the anterior cruciate ligament [58], ankle sprains [59] or shoulder dislocations [60]. High susceptibility to injuries during the lengthening of muscles emphasizes the importance of an adequate isometric holding function during adaptation to external forces. In this regard, high isometric holding capacities of muscles (high AFisomax) might prevent or at least delay the moment of their lengthening, and consequently stabilize joints up to a higher force level. This is essential, especially in powerful movements or high impacting loads. As one single moment of the muscle's inability to remain acting isometrically could be harmful, not only the highest AFisomax of several trials but also the minimal value and its variation might be of diagnostic interest.

The present study showed that, even in subjects without health complaints, the forearm started to give way before the maximal isometric pushing force (Max pre-MVIC) was reached. There was only one subject whose AFiso_{max} was greater than the Max pre-MVIC in all trials (+7.88–74.39%). In 11 other trials of six different subjects, AFiso_{max} was greater than 90% of Max pre-MVIC. This demonstrates a high relative AFiso_{max} is possible. Such a high AFiso_{max} is considered as perfect adaptation, as long as the Max pre-MVIC is rated as sufficiently high. Regarding the average of all measurements, the AFiso_{max} amounted to about 70% of the Max pre-MVIC. That percentage was reached

by 11 of 13 subjects in at least one single trial (57 in total). However, two subjects never reached that value. Furthermore, in 21 trials of nine different subjects, the AFisomax was even lower than 50% of the Max pre-MVIC. This, in turn, emphasizes the need for an individual analyzation. It also means that lower and higher $AFiso_{max}$ values can occur in different trials of the same subject. This is exemplified by Figure 6. In the blue curve, the start of giving way was at a substantially lower torque (4.02 Nm) compared to the red curve (16.68 Nm). Even if the arm movement could be decelerated up to 22 Nm (blue curve), the determined 2°-tolerance in angles was exceeded. Thus, the muscle action was no longer rated as isometric. Different AFisomax levels in the same subject result in a higher variation between single trials and between days. As described before, AFisomax revealed higher SEMs (M: 5.68 Nm; Max: 4.17 Nm) compared to other maximal forces (SEM = 1.29–3.16 Nm). The variation between single trials was also higher (CVs \geq 24.29% vs. \leq 5.40%). The greater within- and between-days variations imply a suspected lower reliability of AFiso_{max} compared to other force types. Although the already mentioned limitations in the determination method of AFisomax might play a role (inter alia, strict 2° boundary), these results could be explained from another point of view: We suggest AFisomax has a higher biological variability compared to other maximal forces. It could possibly be present due to a required higher complexity of sensorimotor control during the adaptation of muscular tension and length to varying external forces compared to pushing actions, such as the MVIC test.



Figure 6. Angle-force plot of two exemplary AF-measurements of the same subject (female, 32 yrs, 1.68 m, 58 kg). In trial 1 (red curve), the arm angle does not change meaningfully until the maximal isometric Adaptive Force (AFiso_{max} = 16.68 Nm) is reached. In trial 4 (blue curve), the forearm starts to give way at a lower force level (lower AFiso_{max} = 4.02 Nm). The maximal Adaptive Forces (AF_{max}), which are reached during the eccentric phases (= AFecc_{max}), are similar in both trials (22.29 Nm and 21.86 Nm). These two trials illustrate the variability of AFiso_{max}.

The adaptation during a holding action requires an adjustment of the muscular tension, together with the muscular length. The change in muscle length is sensed by muscle spindles and the change in tension by Golgi tendon receptors [61]. The kinesthetic afferences are sent to spinal and supraspinal areas, where they are integrated and processed before an adequate response is performed. These complex feedback control mechanisms for adjusting tension and length have to function properly during an AF-measurement [62,63]. To hold a position over time, the muscular tension and length have to be adjusted immediately after a reference error of the position has been detected. That procedure has to be repeated consecutively during the whole measurement process. However, feedback control mechanisms alone cannot be responsible for maintaining the position because the external force increases over time and a compensatory response to it would always be delayed. Additionally, to deal with this time problem, an adequate feedforward control is required, whereby the force increase must be anticipated [4]. The anticipation must be continuously adjusted on the basis of proprioceptive inputs. This results in further neurophysiological demands, leading to an approximated control of the position which anticipates the forthcoming increase in the external force. Thereby, marginal lengthenings and shortenings of the muscle fibers occur. As the resulting oscillations of the limb are stationary, the muscle action can still be considered as isometric or, more precisely, "quasi-isometric".

In contrast, by performing an MVIC test (pushing isometric task), the subject must only be proactive and change muscular tension without the need to respond to an external varying force or control the length. Thus, neuromuscular demands ought to be lower compared to an AF-measurement, and might explain why the pre-MVIC was higher and less variable than the AFiso_{max}. Compared to a pushing isometric mode, it was already assumed that a holding isometric mode has more complex neural control strategies [9].

Control strategies of higher complexity could be more vulnerable to disturbing influences. Thus, the AFisomax relative to the maximal strength capacity of a muscle could have the potential to differentiate between a functionally disturbed neuromuscular system and an intact one. An undisturbed, functionally intact neuromuscular system might be able to reach a high AFiso_{max} in relation to the MVIC. As the pre-MVIC and AF_{max} differed insignificantly, AF_{max} could serve as a reference. Cases in which the limb started to give way immediately at the beginning of an AF-measurement (n = 3 in the present study), or in which the AFiso_{max} was relatively low (e.g., < 50% of the Max pre-MVIC), the neuromuscular system did not respond adequately to the externally applied force. These inadequate responses could possibly be attributed to inhibitory signals to fusimotor-, skeletomotor- or interneurons within the complex response loops (spinal and supraspinal pathways) [62]. A time delay in the activation of extrafusal muscle fibers is also conceivable. As previously discussed [4], regions involved in the complex motor control are not only the motor cortex itself, but also the thalamus, basal ganglia cerebellum, inferior olivary nucleus, cingulate cortex and the red nucleus. All of these areas process several inputs and can alter motor control. Causes of disturbed control could be highly diverse, including, e.g., nociceptive signals or even emotions [64–67]. However, the assumptions of neurophysiological influences have to be taken with caution because, in the presented study, an absence of the subject's attention or bias in the measurement process cannot be ruled out completely (see limitations).

Independently of its cause, a low $AFiso_{max}$ in relation to MVIC or AF_{max} might be a theoretical explanatory approach of the genesis of musculoskeletal complaints and injuries. According to this concept, a low relative $AFiso_{max}$ as an indicator of a disturbed neuromuscular system might be present prior to complaints or injuries. If that holds true in future studies, the detection of $AFiso_{max}$ and its improvement could also play a key role in preventive strategies. Furthermore, an impairment of muscular function is discussed for chronic fatigue syndromes [68], COVID-19 [69], cancer [70] and hormonal dysfunction [71,72]. Currently, e.g., no-load resistance training [73,74] and power training [75] are being investigated, with the aim of improving functional muscle capacity. However, the parameters of Adaptive Force (especially $AFiso_{max}$) might be reduced, too. In this case, improving the $AFiso_{max}$ would be of relevance. We propose that treatments of the possible causes that might impair the $AFiso_{max}$ (see above) might help improve it, rather than training programs alone.

5. Conclusions

The presented pneumatic system, as a refinement of the SeBit, is able to measure the MVIC, the MVICpri-con and especially the AF. Conclusions about the MVICpri-con need further examination by use of separate study designs. However, the device is suitable for generating reliable data and can be used to determine the different parameters of Adaptive Force (AFisomax, AFeccmax and AFmax). Besides an evaluation of the new device, the study revealed further insights about maximal holding capacity during adaptation to external forces (AFiso_{max}). Despite high correlations, it could be discriminated from other maximal forces. Thus, it can be interpreted as a specific and independent parameter of muscle function. The AFisomax should be determined separately and its normalization to the MVIC or AF_{max} might be a meaningful variable in the evaluation of the functionality of the neuromuscular system. Future research can examine whether there is relationship between a low relative AFisomax and the occurrence of injuries or any other complaints. If a relationship is found, the following question arises: How can the AFiso_{max} be improved, especially if the MVIC and/or AF_{max} are interpreted as appropriate, e.g., by a special training program or treatment? It is hypothesized that the holding isometric Adaptive Force is related to complex control processes of the neuromuscular system, and depends on the functional condition of the system itself. This would mean a deficient AFisomax might be treatable by eliminating the causes affecting of this dysfunction.

Supplementary Materials: The following are available online at https://www.mdpi.com/article/10 .3390/diagnostics11060923/s1, Figure S1. Scatter plots of the pre- and post-MVIC (maximal voluntary isometric contraction) and MVICpri-con (MVIC with a prior concentric contraction). Figure S2. Scatter plots of AFiso_{max} (maximal isometric Adaptive Force) and AF_{max} (maximal Adaptive Force). Table S1. Torques in Nm of all force types and trials (M1–4) at each day (t₁ and t₂).

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, L.V.S., F.N.B.; methodology, L.V.S., F.N.B., S.D.; software, S.D.; validation, L.V.S., F.N.B., S.D.; formal analysis, S.D.; investigation, S.D.; resources, S.D.; data curation, S.D.; writing—original draft preparation, S.D.; writing—review and editing, L.V.S., F.N.B., S.D.; visualization, S.D.; supervision, L.V.S. and F.N.B.; project administration, F.N.B. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research received no external funding.

Institutional Review Board Statement: The study was conducted according to the guidelines of the Declaration of Helsinki, and approved by the Ethics Committee of the UNIVERSITY OF POTSDAM, (protocol code 33/2015, 28 August 2015).

Informed Consent Statement: Informed consent was obtained from all subjects involved in the study.

Data Availability Statement: The data presented in this study are available in the main article and supplementary material.

Acknowledgments: The authors would like to thank all participants, as well as students of the University of Potsdam, who helped to set up the basic construction of the used device and helped to collect data for the study. We further acknowledge the support of the "Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft" and Open Access Publishing Fund of University of Potsdam.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Abbreviations

AF	Adaptive Force
AFecc _{max}	maximal eccentric AF
AFiso max	maximal isometric AF
AF _{max}	maximal AF
CV	coefficient of variation
HIMA	holding isometric muscle action
М	mean
Max	maximum
MD	mean difference
MDC95%	minimal detectable change covering 95% of repeated measurements
MVIC	maximal voluntary isometric contraction
pre-MVIC	MVIC at the beginning of the measurement series
post-MVIC	MVIC at the end of the measurement series
MVICpri-con	MVIC with a prior concentric contraction
NI	National Instruments
PIMA	pushing isometric muscle action
SD	standard deviation
SD _{MD}	standard deviation of mean differences
SEM	standard error of measurements (random error)
SEM%	random percentage error
SEM95%	random percentage error covering 95% of repeated measurements
t ₁	measuring session at day 1
t ₂	measuring session at day 2

References

- 1. Verkhoshansky, Y.; Siff, M.C. Supertraining, 6th ed.; Ultimate Athlete Concepts: Rome, Italy, 2009; ISBN 978-88-904038-0-4.
- Hoff, M.; Schaefer, L.; Heinke, N.; Bittmann, F. Report on adaptive force, a specific neuromuscular function. *Eur. J. Transl. Myol.* 2015, 25, 183–189. [CrossRef]
- 3. Schaefer, L.; Hoff, M.; Bittmann, F. Measuring system and method of determining the adaptive force. *Eur. J. Transl. Myol.* 2017, 27. [CrossRef]
- 4. Bittmann, F.N.; Dech, S.; Aehle, M.; Schaefer, L.V. Manual muscle testing—Force Profiles and their reproducibility. *Diagnostics* **2020**, *10*, 996. [CrossRef]
- Schaefer, L.V.; Bittmann, F.N. Muscular pre-activation can boost the maximal explosive eccentric adaptive force. *Front. Physiol.* 2019, 10. [CrossRef]
- 6. Rudroff, T.; Barry, B.K.; Stone, A.L.; Barry, C.J.; Enoka, R.M. Accessory muscle activity contributes to the variation in time to task failure for different arm postures and loads. *J. Appl. Physiol.* **2007**, *102*, 1000–1006. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Rudroff, T.; Justice, J.N.; Holmes, M.R.; Matthews, S.D.; Enoka, R.M. Muscle activity and time to task failure differ with load compliance and target force for elbow flexor muscles. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 2010, 110, 125–136. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 8. Garner, J.C.; Blackburn, T.; Weimar, W.; Campbell, B. Comparison of electromyographic activity during eccentrically versus concentrically loaded isometric contractions. *J. Electromyogr. Kinesiol.* **2008**, *18*, 466–471. [CrossRef]
- Schaefer, L.V.; Bittmann, F.N. Are there two forms of isometric muscle action? Results of the experimental study support a distinction between a holding and a pushing isometric muscle function. *BMC Sports Sci. Med. Rehabil.* 2017, 9, 11. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 10. Schaefer, L.; Bittmann, F. Mechanotendography in achillodynia shows reduced oscillation variability of pre-loaded Achilles tendon: A pilot study. *Eur. J. Transl. Myol.* **2020**, *30*, 247–257. [CrossRef]
- 11. Bittmann, F.; Hoff, M.; Knöchel, M.; Heinke, N.; Stolle, A. Adaptive kraft bei epikondylopathie humeri lateralis. *Dtsch. Z. Sportmed.* **2011**, 7–8, 246.
- 12. Oranchuk, D.J.; Nelson, A.R.; Storey, A.G.; Diewald, S.N.; Cronin, J.B. Short-term neuromuscular, morphological, and architectural responses to eccentric quasi-isometric muscle actions. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* **2021**, *121*, 141–158. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 13. Arifin, W.N. A web-based sample size calculator for reliability studies. *EIMJ* 2018, *10*, 67–76. [CrossRef]
- 14. Bonett, D.G. Sample size requirements for estimating intraclass correlations with desired precision. *Stat. Med.* **2002**, *21*, 1331–1335. [CrossRef]
- 15. Meldrum, D.; Cahalane, E.; Keogan, F.; Hardiman, O. Maximum voluntary isometric contraction: Investigation of reliability and learning effect. *Amyotroph. Lateral Scler. Other Motor Neuron Disord.* **2003**, *4*, 36–44. [CrossRef]
- 16. World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki. Ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects. *Bull. World Health Organ.* **2001**, *79*, 373–374.

- 17. Weir, J.P. Quantifying test-retest reliability using the intraclass correlation coefficient and the SEM. J. Strength Cond. Res. 2005, 19, 231–240. [PubMed]
- 18. Cohen, J. Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioural Sciences; Laurence Erlbaum Associates Inc.: Hillsdale, NJ, USA, 1988.
- 19. Atkinson, G.; Nevill, A.M. Statistical methods for assessing measurement error (reliability) in variables relevant to sports medicine. *Sports Med.* **1998**, *26*, 217–238. [CrossRef]
- 20. Hopkins, W.G. Measures of reliability in sports medicine and science. Sports Med. 2000, 30, 1–15. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 21. Roebroeck, M.E.; Harlaar, J.; Lankhorst, G.J. The application of generalizability theory to reliability assessment: An illustration using isometric force measurements. *Phys. Ther.* **1993**, *73*, 386–395. [CrossRef]
- 22. Eliasziw, M.; Young, S.L.; Woodbury, M.G.; Fryday-Field, K. Statistical methodology for the concurrent assessment of interrater and intrarater reliability: Using goniometric measurements as an example. *Phys. Ther.* **1994**, *74*, 777–788. [CrossRef]
- 23. Stratford, P.W.; Goldsmith, C.H. Use of the standard error as a reliability index of interest: An applied example using elbow flexor strength data. *Phys. Ther.* **1997**, *77*, 745–750. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 24. Bartlett, J.W.; Frost, C. Reliability, repeatability and reproducibility: Analysis of measurement errors in continuous variables. *Ultrasound Obstet. Gynecol.* **2008**, *31*, 466–475. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 25. Kropmans, T.J.B.; Dijkstra, P.U.; Stegenga, B.; Stewart, R.; de Bont, L.G.M. Smallest detectable difference in outcome variables related to painful restriction of the temporomandibular joint. *J. Dent. Res.* **1999**, *78*, 784–789. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 26. Nevill, A.M.; Atkinson, G. Assessing agreement between measurements recorded on a ratio scale in sports medicine and sports science. *Br. J. Sports Med.* **1997**, *31*, 314–318. [CrossRef]
- 27. Bland, J.; Altman, D. Statistics notes: Measurement error proportional to the mean. BMJ 1996, 313, 106. [CrossRef]
- 28. Stokes, M. Reliability and repeatability of methods for measuring muscle in physiotherapy. *Physiother. Pract.* **1985**, *1*, 71–76. [CrossRef]
- 29. Ashley, C.D.; Weiss, L.W. Vertical jump performance and selected physiological characteristics of women. *J. Strength Cond. Res.* **1994**, *8*, 5–11.
- 30. Brady, C.; Harrison, A.; Comyns, T. A review of the reliability of biomechanical variables produced during the isometric mid-thigh pull and isometric squat and the reporting of normative data. *Sports Biomech.* **2018**, *19*, 1–25. [CrossRef]
- 31. Zaki, R.; Bulgiba, A.; Nordin, N.; Ismail, N.A. A systematic review of statistical methods used to test for reliability of medical instruments measuring continuous variables. *Iran. J. Basic Med. Sci.* **2013**, *16*, 803–807.
- 32. Koo, T.K.; Li, M.Y. A guideline of selecting and reporting intraclass correlation coefficients for reliability research. *J. Chiropr. Med.* **2016**, *15*, 155–163. [CrossRef]
- Chapman, D.; Newton, M.; Nosaka, K. Eccentric torque-velocity relationship of the elbow flexors. *Isokinet. Exerc. Sci.* 2005, 13, 139–145. [CrossRef]
- Dartnall, T.J.; Rogasch, N.C.; Nordstrom, M.A.; Semmler, J.G. Eccentric muscle damage has variable effects on motor unit recruitment thresholds and discharge patterns in elbow flexor muscles. J. Neurophysiol. 2009, 102, 413–423. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 35. Prasartwuth, O.; Taylor, J.L.; Gandevia, S.C. Maximal force, voluntary activation and muscle soreness after eccentric damage to human elbow flexor muscles. *J. Physiol.* **2005**, *567*, 337–348. [CrossRef]
- 36. Marmon, A.R.; Pozzi, F.; Alnahdi, A.H.; Zeni, J.A. The validity of plantarflexor strength measures obtained through hand-held dynamometry measurements of force. *Int. J. Sports Phys. Ther.* **2013**, *8*, 820–827. [PubMed]
- Rodrigues, F.M.; Demeyer, H.; Hornikx, M.; Camillo, C.A.; Calik-Kutukcu, E.; Burtin, C.; Janssens, W.; Troosters, T.; Osadnik, C. Validity and reliability of strain gauge measurement of volitional quadriceps force in patients with COPD. *Chron. Respir. Dis.* 2017, 14, 289–297. [CrossRef]
- 38. Schlumberger, A.; Schmidtbleicher, D. Grundlagen der kraftdiagnostik in prävention und rehabilitation. *Man. Med.* **2000**, *38*, 223–231. [CrossRef]
- Martin, H.J.; Yule, V.; Syddall, H.E.; Dennison, E.M.; Cooper, C.; Sayer, A.A. Is hand-held dynamometry useful for the measurement of quadriceps strength in older people? A comparison with the gold standard biodex dynamometry. *GER* 2006, 52, 154–159. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 40. Čeklić, U.; Šarabon, N. Comparison between Gymnasts and Non-Gymnasts in Isometric Strength of the Lower Limbs. *Eur. J. Transl. Myol.* **2021**, *31*. [CrossRef]
- 41. Doss, W.S.; Karpovich, P.V. A comparison of concentric, eccentric, and isometric strength of elbow flexors. *J. Appl. Physiol.* **1965**, 20, 351–353. [CrossRef]
- 42. Griffin, J.W. Differences in elbow flexion torque measured concentrically, eccentrically, and isometrically. *Phys. Ther.* **1987**, *67*, 1205–1208. [CrossRef]
- 43. Seliger, V.; Dolejš, L.; Karas, V. A dynamometric comparison of maximum eccentric, concentric, and isometric contractions using EMG and energy expenditure measurements. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* **1980**, *45*, 235–244. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 44. Westing, S.H.; Seger, J.Y.; Karlson, E.; Ekblom, B. Eccentric and concentric torque-velocity characteristics of the quadriceps femoris in man. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* **1988**, *58*, 100–104. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 45. Westing, S.H.; Seger, J.Y.; Thorstensson, A. Effects of electrical stimulation on eccentric and concentric torque-velocity relationships during knee extension in man. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* **1990**, *140*, 17–22. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 46. Babault, N.; Pousson, M.; Ballay, Y.; van Hoecke, J. Activation of human quadriceps femoris during isometric, concentric, and eccentric contractions. *J. Appl. Physiol.* **2001**, *91*, 2628–2634. [CrossRef]

- 47. Amiridis, I.G.; Martin, A.; Morlon, B.; Martin, L.; Cometti, G.; Pousson, M.; van Hoecke, J. Co-activation and tension-regulating phenomena during isokinetic knee extension in sedentary and highly skilled humans. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* **1996**, *73*, 149–156. [CrossRef]
- 48. Singh, M.; Karpovich, P.V. Isotonic and isometric forces of forearm flexors and extensors. *J. Appl. Physiol.* **1966**, *21*, 1435–1437. [CrossRef]
- Olson, V.L.; Smidt, G.L.; Johnston, R.C. The maximum torque generated by the eccentric, isometric, and concentric contractions of the hip abductor muscles. *Phys. Ther.* 1972, 52, 149–158. [CrossRef]
- 50. Hortobágyi, T.; Katch, F.I. Eccentric and concentric torque-velocity relationships during arm flexion and extension. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* **1990**, *60*, 395–401. [CrossRef]
- Hunter, S.K.; Ryan, D.L.; Ortega, J.D.; Enoka, R.M. Task differences with the same load torque alter the endurance time of submaximal fatiguing contractions in humans. *J. Neurophysiol.* 2002, *88*, 3087–3096. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Hortobagyi, T.; Katch, F.I.; LaChance, P.F. Interrelationships among various measures of upper body strength assessed by different contraction modes. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 1989, 58, 749–755. [CrossRef]
- 53. Abernethy, P.J.; Jürimäe, J. Cross-sectional and longitudinal uses of isoinertial, isometric, and isokinetic dynamomety. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* **1996**, *28*, 1180–1187. [CrossRef]
- 54. Muehlbauer, T.; Gollhofer, A.; Granacher, U. Association of balance, strength, and power measures in young adults. *J. Strength Cond. Res.* **2013**, *27*, 582–589. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 55. Baker, D.; Wilson, G.; Carlyon, B. Generality versus specificity: A comparison of dynamic and isometric measures of strength and speed-strength. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* **1994**, *68*, 350–355. [CrossRef]
- 56. Liu, H.; Garrett, W.E.; Moorman, C.T.; Yu, B. Injury rate, mechanism, and risk factors of hamstring strain injuries in sports: A review of the literature. *J. Sport Health Sci.* **2012**, *1*, 92–101. [CrossRef]
- 57. Van Hooren, B.; Bosch, F. Is there really an eccentric action of the hamstrings during the swing phase of high-speed running? Part I: A critical review of the literature. *J. Sports Sci.* **2017**, *35*, 2313–2321. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Quatman, C.E.; Quatman-Yates, C.C.; Hewett, T.E. A 'plane' explanation of anterior cruciate ligament injury mechanisms. Sports Med. 2010, 40, 729–746. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 59. Fong, D.T.; Chan, Y.-Y.; Mok, K.-M.; Yung, P.S.; Chan, K.-M. Understanding acute ankle ligamentous sprain injury in sports. *BMC Sports Sci. Med. Rehabil.* 2009, 1, 14. [CrossRef]
- 60. Beeson, M.S. Complications of shoulder dislocation. Am. J. Emerg. Med. 1999, 17, 288–295. [CrossRef]
- 61. Macefield, V.G.; Knellwolf, T.P. Functional properties of human muscle spindles. J. Neurophysiol. 2018, 120, 452–467. [CrossRef]
- 62. Houk, J.C.; Rymer, W.Z. Neural control of muscle length and tension. In *Comprehensive Physiology*; American Cancer Society: Atlanta, GA, USA, 2011; pp. 257–323. ISBN 978-0-470-65071-4.
- 63. Pruszynski, J.A.; Scott, S.H. Optimal feedback control and the long-latency stretch response. *Exp. Brain Res.* **2012**, *218*, 341–359. [CrossRef]
- 64. Nijs, J.; Daenen, L.; Cras, P.; Struyf, F.; Roussel, N.; Oostendorp, R.A.B. Nociception affects motor output: A review on sensorymotor interaction with focus on clinical implications. *Clin. J. Pain* **2012**, *28*, 175–181. [CrossRef]
- 65. Kugelberg, E.; Eklund, K.; Grimby, L. An electromyographic study of the nociceptive reflexes of the lower limb. Mechanism of the plantar responses. *Brain* **1960**, *83*, 394–410. [CrossRef]
- 66. Sagaspe, P.; Schwartz, S.; Vuilleumier, P. Fear and stop: A role for the amygdala in motor inhibition by emotional signals. *NeuroImage* **2011**, *55*, 1825–1835. [CrossRef]
- 67. Vogt, B.A.; Finch, D.M.; Olson, C.R. Functional heterogeneity in cingulate cortex: The anterior executive and posterior evaluative regions. *Cereb. Cortex* **1992**, *2*, 435–443. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 68. Pietrangelo, T.; Fulle, S.; Coscia, F.; Gigliotti, P.V.; Fanò-Illic, G. Old muscle in young body: An aphorism describing the Chronic Fatigue Syndrome. *Eur. J. Transl. Myol.* **2018**, *28*, 7688. [CrossRef]
- 69. Angelini, C.; Siciliano, G. Neuromuscular diseases and Covid-19: Advices from scientific societies and early observations in Italy. *Eur. J. Transl. Myol.* **2020**, *30*, 286–290. [CrossRef]
- 70. Dalise, S.; Tropea, P.; Galli, L.; Sbrana, A.; Chisari, C. Muscle function impairment in cancer patients in pre-cachexia stage. *Eur. J. Transl. Myol.* **2020**, *30*, 258–267. [CrossRef]
- 71. Hajjar, K.; Hagenacker, T. Neuromuscular Disorder as Initial Manifestation of Secondary Hyperparathyroidism—A Case Report. *Eur. J. Transl. Myol.* **2017**, *27*, 27. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Duyff, R.F.; Bosch, J.V.D.; Laman, D.M.; Van Loon, B.-J.P.; Linssen, W.H.J.P. Neuromuscular findings in thyroid dysfunction: A prospective clinical and electrodiagnostic study. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 2000, 68, 750–755. [CrossRef]
- Carraro, U.; Albertin, G.; Martini, A.; Giuriati, W.; Guidolin, D.; Masiero, S.; Kern, H.; Hofer, C.; Marcante, A.; Ravara, B. To contrast and reverse skeletal muscle weakness by Full-Body In-Bed Gym in chronic COVID-19 pandemic syndrome. *Eur. J. Transl. Myol.* 2021, *31.* [CrossRef]
- 74. Barbalho, M.; Coswig, V.S.; Bottaro, M.; De Lira, C.A.B.; Campos, M.H.; Vieira, C.A.; Gentil, P. "NO LOAD" resistance training increases functional capacity and muscle size in hospitalized female patients: A pilot study. *Eur. J. Transl. Myol.* 2019, 29, 8492. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 75. Šarabon, N.; Smajla, D.; Kozinc, Ž.; Kern, H. Speed-power based training in the elderly and its potential for daily movement function enhancement. *Eur. J. Transl. Myol.* **2020**, *30*, 125–128. [CrossRef] [PubMed]



Figure S1. Scatter plots of the pre- and post-MVIC (maximal voluntary isometric contraction) and MVICpricon (MVIC with a prior concentric contraction). The diagrams show the absolute differences between days $(t_1 - t_2)$ of (a) the mean (M) and (b) the maximal (Max) torques out of 4 measurements against the respective measurement means of t_1 and t_2 . The result of the Breusch-Pagan-test can be found at the top of each panel. Pearson's r is presented besides the regression line. According to Atkinson and Nevill (1998),[1] r > 0.2 is rated as a heteroscedastic data.



Figure S2. Scatter plots of AFiso_{max} (maximal isometric Adaptive Force) and AF_{max} (maximal Adaptive Force). The diagrams show the absolute differences between days $(t_1 - t_2)$ of (**a**) the mean (M) and (**b**) the maximal (Max) torques against the respective means out of t_1 and t_2 . The result of the White-test (M AFiso_{max}) or Breusch-Pagan-test (other variables) can be found at the top of each panel. Pearson's r is presented besides the regression line. According to Atkinson and Nevill (1998),[1] r > 0.2 is rated as a heteroscedastic data.

	subject (gender)	day 1 (t1)				day 2 (t2)				
force type		M1	M2	M3	M4	M1	M2	M3	M4	
pre-MVIC	0	22.80	28.44	25.64	25.72	24.70	30.11	30.29	28.96	
post-MVIC		27.71	27.10	-	-	26.99	25.54	-	-	
MVICpri-con	1 (0	27.73	28.11	27.79	28.01	27.42	28.26	26.56	27.23	
AFisomax	1 (f)	13.77	16.80	14.46	14.65	17.71	23.38	10.14	21.28	
AFeccmax		27.25	30.00	27.66	27.84	29.68	27.96	27.61	26.08	
AF _{max}		27.25	30.00	27.66	27.84	29.68	27.96	27.61	26.08	
pre-MVIC		59.77	67.96	69.16	64.51	64.85	64.92	59.06	62.25	
post-MVIC		59.34	62.69	-	-	56.86	57.72	-	-	
MVICpri-con	2 ()	61.48	59.96	61.44	59.36	57.31	58.75	57.58	56.04	
AFisomax	2 (m)	16.04	29.66	57.30	55.20	47.30	52.51	42.00	46.50	
AFeccmax		62.00	61.21	58.81	61.97	55.08	57.29	57.14	61.34	
AF _{max}		62.00	61.21	58.81	61.97	55.08	57.29	57.14	61.34	
pre-MVIC		60.88	63.00	61.86	58.63	57.96	58.18	56.43	57.20	
post-MVIC		48.22	47.94	-	-	52.29	53.06	-	-	
MVICpri-con		49.64	51.17	50.99	50.01	52.92	51.51	53.22	51.84	
AFisomax	3 (m)	59.51	58.91	57.17	53.90	55.73	48.42	50.54	40.12	
AFeccmax		59.90	58.44	57.51	55.00	60.49	56.81	54.69	55.19	
AF _{max}		59.90	58.91	57.51	55.00	60.49	56.81	54.69	55.19	
pre-MVIC		23.35	24.56	23.36	23.03	19.40	23.67	22.69	21.40	
post-MVIC		22.00	20.90	-	-	20.25	20.52	-	-	
MVICpri-con		23.12	21.69	22.02	22.24	21.64	21.85	22.10	21.82	
AFisomax	4 (f)	20.02	19.48	20.39	18.04	22.78	21.24	20.51	18.83	
AFeccmax		22.19	22.67	23.30	22.12	22.86	21.24	20.72	19.51	
AFmax		22.19	22.67	23.30	22.12	22.86	21.24	20.72	19.51	
pre-MVIC		65.91	67.46	58.32	62.62	60.86	60.34	59.69	59.03	
post-MVIC		62.67	59.27	-	-	54.76	52.55	-	-	
MVICpri-con	- / >	60.15	57.56	62.27	58.03	55.61	55.02	56.26	57.84	
AFisomax	5 (m)	57.74	30.99	59.18	58.22	46.75	57.95	51.73	7.29	
AFeccmax		62.04	60.24	61.71	60.86	59.63	61.24	60.60	56.13	
AF _{max}		62.04	60.24	61.71	60.86	59.63	61.24	60.60	56.13	
pre-MVIC		42.00	43.39	41.22	40.83	43.84	42.94	42.69	42.22	
post-MVIC		38.84	41.12	-	-	39.02	38.57	-	-	
MVICpri-con		39.37	38.64	38.32	40.02	40.53	40.40	42.16	40.21	
AFisomax	6 (m)	29.00	39.19	19.43	28.76	41.03	36.60	13.00	32.79	
AFeccmax		42.18	42.79	41.74	42.89	42.79	39.12	38.18	38.48	
AFmax		42.18	42.79	41.74	42.89	42.79	39.12	38.18	38.48	
pre-MVIC		82.55	92.93	103.95	98.84	100.31	100.00	86.41	98.10	
post-MVIC		90.63	97.36	-	-	96.86	95.89	-	-	
MVICpri-con	∇ (m)	88.09	95.85	97.17	100.74	89.17	80.94	93.46	90.65	
AFisomax	7 (m)	84.75	59.79	63.15	79.37	67.05	70.71	91.47	90.29	
AFeccmax		91.33	95.43	87.11	99.67	101.63	102.18	92.56	101.79	
AFmax		91.33	95.43	88.21	99.67	101.63	102.18	92.64	101.79	
pre-MVIC		58.99	56.71	59.13	58.96	62.76	61.25	59.49	59.49	
post-MVIC		50.47	49.24	-	-	52.23	51.49	-	-	
MVICpri-con	g(m)	53.12	54.69	53.49	50.99	52.73	53.06	52.64	51.89	
AFisomax	0 (111)	34.75	51.91	47.91	52.18	39.03	30.91	32.93	32.58	
AFeccmax		52.41	53.37	53.67	53.99	52.70	50.43	49.87	49.54	
AFmax		52.41	53.37	53.67	53.99	52.70	50.43	49.87	49.54	
pre-MVIC		79.40	67.40	63.61	72.06	74.89	75.41	72.65	75.05	
post-MVIC	0 (ms)	65.73	63.88	-	-	71.33	63.52	-	-	
MVICpri-con	9 (m)	64.66	62.74	66.75	64.73	67.12	62.21	64.49	65.37	
AFisomax		36.71	-	55.27	46.28	46.84	20.39	46.73	19.78	

Table S1. Torques in Nm of all force types and trials (M1 - 4) at each day (t₁ and t₂).

AFeccmax		73.13	73.62	69.03	68.34	69.50	70.12	66.30	58.63
AFmax		73.13	73.62	69.03	68.34	69.50	70.12	66.30	58.63
pre-MVIC		27.17	26.41	27.50	25.71	23.25	25.82	21.71	24.41
post-MVIC	10 (f)	23.28	27.12	-	-	26.44	25.62	-	-
MVICpri-con		25.35	25.57	25.12	22.33	24.23	25.23	24.45	23.69
AFisomax	10 (f)	17.68	17.10	10.32	4.02	13.07	12.00	11.48	5.95
AFeccmax		21.86	21.34	20.85	22.29	20.70	17.28	17.90	23.25
AFmax		21.86	21.34	20.85	22.29	20.70	17.28	17.90	23.25
pre-MVIC		16.89	16.23	16.38	14.00	20.31	20.89	18.98	21.94
post-MVIC		16.35	16.52	-	-	26.76	25.29	-	-
MVICpri-con	11 (6)	25.99	25.77	29.42	26.22	26.23	26.99	27.92	-
AFisomax	11 (1)	21.70	25.97	29.45	27.22	30.67	30.36	23.67	26.74
AFeccmax		24.93	28.14	-	-	-	32.10	30.66	29.65
AFmax		24.93	28.14	29.45	27.22	30.67	32.10	30.66	29.65
pre-MVIC		58.15	59.07	58.21	52.90	55.18	57.08	56.53	54.09
post-MVIC		48.96	46.70	-	-	50.30	49.71	-	-
MVICpri-con	12 ()	54.94	55.98	52.97	54.22	52.21	51.94	52.15	50.53
AFisomax	12 (m)	2.42	46.76	49.88	45.43	51.40	39.50	48.79	35.00
AFeccmax		56.09	55.39	56.15	53.25	55.84	53.20	54.58	51.97
AFmax		56.09	55.39	56.15	53.25	55.84	53.20	54.58	51.97
pre-MVIC		55.77	54.64	54.05	54.24	46.60	46.62	46.29	47.29
post-MVIC		45.29	46.50	-	-	42.28	43.92	-	-
MVICpri-con	12 (m)	45.61	45.35	45.05	44.84	40.73	41.58	39.40	40.08
AFisomax	13 (m)	40.23	44.55	44.25	0.08	19.33	0.34	29.75	37.21
AFeccmax		48.00	50.36	47.09	46.13	47.06	42.71	45.28	46.29
AFmax		48.00	50.36	47.09	46.13	47.06	42.71	45.28	46.29

AF_{max} = maximal Adaptive Force; AFecc_{max} = maximal eccentric Adaptive Force; AFiso_{max} = maximal isometric Adaptive Force; f = female; m = male; MVIC = maximal voluntary isometric contraction; MVICpri-con = MVIC with a prior concentric contraction.

References

1. Atkinson, G.; Nevill, A.M. Statistical methods for assessing measurement error (reliability) in variables relevant to sports medicine. *Sports Med.* **1998**, *26*, 217–238, doi:10.2165/00007256-199826040-00002.

Acknowledgements

I want to thank all people who supported me during the work on the submitted dissertation. I further acknowledge the German Federal Ministry of Economics and Energy as well as the International College of Applied Kinesiology for partially funding my occupation at the University of Potsdam.

Statutory Declaration

I declare that I have written this cumulative dissertation independently and that I have not used other than indicated sources. I further declare that I have explicitly marked all material which has been quoted and all regulations of good scientific standards were adhered during the writing process. The work has not yet been submitted to another examination office. Indicated parts have have already been published in scientific online journals (open access).

Potsdam, June 2022

Signature